# NON-CLASSICAL ROLE OF VITAMIN D AND DEVELOPMENT OF OPTIMAL VITAMIN D CUTOFFS FOR CARDIOMETABOLIC HEALTH OUTCOMES

Banaz Alkhalidi

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Program in Kinesiology and Health Science

York University

Toronto, ON

July 2018

© Banaz Alkhalidi, 2018

## Abstract

Over the last decade, vitamin D deficiency has emerged as a potential risk factor for the development of cardiometabolic diseases. However, the evidence from epidemiological studies and randomized controlled trials (RCT) has yielded conflicting results. Moreover, vitamin D guidelines by the Institute of Medicine and the Endocrine Society have led to substantial disagreement about what defines optimal levels of vitamin D status, owing in part to the interlaboratory differences in the measurement of vitamin D status (as measured by total 25hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D]) and the inconsistent findings from epidemiological and RCT data in relation to non-skeletal health outcomes. For non-skeletal health outcomes, disagreement still exists about whether the optimal level of 25(OH)D is higher than the currently recommended levels of 25(OH)D for bone health. Therefore, the objectives of this dissertation were; i) to assess the dose-response relationship between standardized total 25(OH)D levels and cardiometabolic health outcomes; ii) to develop optimal vitamin D cutoffs in relation to cardiometabolic health, and: iii) to assess the clinical utility of total 25(OH)D as a biomarker for adverse cardiometabolic health outcomes. Studies 1 and 2 used cross-sectional data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES, 2001-2010), and studies 3 and 4 used prospective data from NHANES III (1988-1994) mortality follow-up. Standardized total 25(OH)D data was used in all four studies.

In study 1, results showed that a higher total 25(OH)D was inversely associated with cardiometabolic disease, irrespective of race/ethnicity. In study 2, the optimal total 25(OH)D associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis was estimated at 60 nmol/L overall, but differed by race/ethnicity (non-Hispanic whites: 68 nmol/L, non-Hispanic blacks: 41 nmol/L, and Mexican-Americans: 54 nmol/L). In study 3, low total 25(OH)D (<50 nmol/L) exacerbated the risk of cardiometabolic mortality associated with metabolic dysfunction in normal-weight and obesity groups. Finally, in study 4, a single measurement of total 25(OH)D <30 nmol/L in middle- to older-aged adults was associated with high lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality, particularly among those with  $\geq$ 2 major traditional CVD risk factors. Taken together, these findings suggest that low total 25(OH)D is a strong risk marker of adverse cardiometabolic health outcomes.

ii

# Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my family for their continuous support and encouragement throughout my graduate studies. I have been blessed with your unconditional love and constant support. Mom and Dad, I dedicate my Ph.D. work to you and I promise to always make you proud and honor the sacrifices you have made for me.

To my Ph.D. advisor, Dr. Chris I. Ardern: thank you for the opportunity to pursue my research interests. I am truly grateful for the opportunity.

To my committee members, Drs. Michael Rotondi and Jennifer Kuk: thank you for sharing your time and knowledge. To my examination committee: Drs. Anthony Hanley, Hala Tamim and David Flora, I have truly enjoyed my Ph.D. defense and thank you for nominating my dissertation to best thesis award.

To Dr. Veronica Jamnik: you had a big role in my success. Thank you for all your mentorship and guidance. You are one of a kind; I really appreciate everything you have done for me.

To Dr. Reinhold Vieth: I am grateful for the opportunities you have provided me. I am lucky to have started out as a summer student in your lab in 2008. You have taught me so much about vitamin D nutrition. You really helped shape my research interest in vitamin D nutrition and I am forever grateful for your mentorship and guidance. Thank you for all your contributions to the field of vitamin D research.

To my friends and mentors: I am truly blessed to have amazing friends and mentors. Special thanks go to Samantha Kimball: thank you for all your support and guidance throughout my Ph.D. work. I have truly enjoyed our collaboration and have learned so much from you. Thank you for being a great mentor and a friend.

To my officemate, Christy Costanian: thank you for your friendship and kindness. Although my time in the office was limited, you were a great company to have in the office. I enjoyed sharing the struggles and accomplishments of graduate school with you.

To Lori Kirwan: words can neither qualify nor quantify how lucky I feel to have met you. I am inspired by your extraordinary character and work ethic. You truly are an amazing person that has so much good to give to this world. Thank you for being a great mentor and a big sister to me, you had a big role in my success as well. I am forever grateful for your mentorship and guidance.

To Deborah Thompson: thank you for your unwavering support and for teaching me the art of networking. I consider myself lucky to have met you; you are an extraordinary woman. I wish you and your family all the best.

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Abbreviations	X
Chapter 1: Background	1
Chapter 2: Literature Review	5
2.1 Global Cardiometabolic Risk	5
2.1.1 Background	5
2.1.2 Pathophysiology	6
2.1.3 Identification of Cardiometabolic Risk	8
2.1.4. Clinical Utility of Biomarkers: Statistical Assessment	11
2.1.5 Obesity and Cardiometabolic Risk	14
2.1.6 Interventions to Reduce Cardiometabolic Risk	16
2.2 Vitamin D	17
2.2.1 Background	17
2.2.2 Sources of Vitamin D	18
2.2.3 Metabolism of Vitamin D	19
2.2.4 Vitamin D Mechanism of Action	
2.2.5 Assessment of Vitamin D Nutritional Status	
2.2.6 Measurement of 25-hydroxyvitamin D	24
2.2.7 Factors Affecting Serum 25(OH)D Levels	24
2.2.8 Recommended 25(OH)D Levels	
2.3 Vitamin D and Cardiometabolic Disease Risk	
2.3.1 Background	
2.3.2 Evidence From Mechanistic Studies	
2.3.3 Evidence From Observational Studies	
2.3.4 Evidence From Mendelian Randomization Studies	
2.3.5 Evidence From Randomized Controlled Trials	
2.4 Summary of Research Gaps in the Literature	
Chapter 3: Research Objectives	
Chapter 4: Study 1- Standardized serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D concentrations are	1 /
inversely associated with cardiometabolic disease in U.S. adults: A cross-sectional	analysis
of NHANES, 2001-2010.	
4.1 Abstract	47
4.2 Background	
4.3 Subjects and Methods	
4.3.1 Participants	
4.3.2 Measurement of Serum 25(OH)D	50
4.3.3 Outcome Variables	51
4.3.4 Confounders	52
4.3.5 Statistical Analysis	53
4.4 Results	

# **Table of Contents**

4.4.1 Participant Characteristics	54
4.4.2 Serum 25(OH)D and HOMA-IR	54
4.4.3 Serum 25(OH)D and MetS	54
4.4.4 Serum 25(OH)D and CVD risk	55
4.4.5 Sensitivity Analyses	
4 5 Discussion	56
4.6 Conclusion	60
Chapter 5: Study 2- Clinical utility of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D in the diagnosis of	
insulin resistance and estimation of optimal 25-hydroxyvitamin D in U.S. adults	68
5.1 Abstract	69
5.2 Introduction	70
5.3 Materials and Methods	71
5.3.1 Study Participants	71
5.3.2 Measurement of Serum 25(OH)D	72
5.3.3 Outcome Measure	72
5.3.4 Risk Models	72
5.3.5 Statistical Analysis	74
5.4 Results	75
5.4.1 Study Sample	75
5.4.2 Model Performance and Predictiveness Curves	76
5.4.3 Decision Curve Analysis	76
5.4.4 Serum 25(OH)D Thresholds	77
5.5 Discussion	78
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and	
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	91
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	<b> 91</b> 92
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	<b> 91</b> 92 93
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction	<b> 91</b> 92 93 94
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	<b> 91</b> 92 93 94 94
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Subjects and Methods 6.3.1 Data Source 6.3.2 Outcome Measures	<b> 91</b> 92 93 94 94 94
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	<b> 91</b> 92 93 94 94 94 95
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	91 92 93 94 94 94 95 95
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Subjects and Methods 6.3.1 Data Source 6.3.2 Outcome Measures 6.3.3 Exposure Measures 6.3.4 Covariate Data 6.3.5 Analytical Sample	91 92 93 94 94 94 95 95 96
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	91 92 93 94 94 94 95 95 96 96
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	91 92 93 94 94 95 95 96 97
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	91 92 93 94 94 95 95 95 96 97 98
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	91 92 93 94 94 94 95 95 96 96 97 98 98
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	91 92 93 94 94 95 95 96 96 97 98 98 98
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III 6.1 Abstract 6.2 Introduction 6.3 Subjects and Methods 6.3.1 Data Source 6.3.2 Outcome Measures 6.3.3 Exposure Measures 6.3.4 Covariate Data 6.3.5 Analytical Sample 6.3.6 Statistical Analysis 6.3.7 Sensitivity Analyses 6.4 Results 6.4.1 Baseline Characteristics 6.4.2 Metabolic Health Phenotype and Mortality Risk 6.4.3 Standardized Serum 25(OH)D Status and Mortality Risk	91 92 93 94 94 95 95 95 96 97 98 98 98 98 99
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III	91 92 93 94 94 95 95 96 96 97 98 98 98 98 99 100
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and      Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III      6.1 Abstract      6.2 Introduction      6.3 Subjects and Methods      6.3.1 Data Source      6.3.2 Outcome Measures      6.3.3 Exposure Measures      6.3.4 Covariate Data      6.3.5 Analytical Sample      6.3.6 Statistical Analysis      6.3.7 Sensitivity Analyses      6.4 Results      6.4.1 Baseline Characteristics      6.4.2 Metabolic Health Phenotype and Mortality Risk      6.4.3 Standardized Serum 25(OH)D Status and Mortality Risk      6.4.4 Sensitivity Analyses      6.5 Discussion	91 92 93 94 94 95 95 96 96 97 98 98 98 98 98 99 100 100
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and      Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III      6.1 Abstract      6.2 Introduction      6.3 Subjects and Methods      6.3.1 Data Source      6.3.2 Outcome Measures.      6.3.3 Exposure Measures      6.3.4 Covariate Data      6.3.5 Analytical Sample      6.3.6 Statistical Analysis      6.3.7 Sensitivity Analyses      6.4.1 Baseline Characteristics      6.4.2 Metabolic Health Phenotype and Mortality Risk      6.4.3 Standardized Serum 25(OH)D Status and Mortality Risk      6.4.4 Sensitivity Analyses      6.5 Discussion      Chapter 7: Study 4- Lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality according to vitamin D	91 92 93 94 94 95 95 95 96 97 98 98 98 98 99 100 100
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and      Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III      6.1 Abstract      6.2 Introduction      6.3 Subjects and Methods      6.3.1 Data Source      6.3.2 Outcome Measures      6.3.3 Exposure Measures      6.3.4 Covariate Data      6.3.5 Analytical Sample      6.3.6 Statistical Analysis      6.3.7 Sensitivity Analyses      6.4.1 Baseline Characteristics      6.4.2 Metabolic Health Phenotype and Mortality Risk      6.4.3 Standardized Serum 25(OH)D Status and Mortality Risk      6.4.4 Sensitivity Analyses      6.5 Discussion      Chapter 7: Study 4- Lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality according to vitamin D      status of middle and older-aged adults: NHANES III mortality follow-up	91 92 93 94 94 95 95 96 96 97 98 98 98 98 98 99 100 100 114
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and      Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III      6.1 Abstract      6.2 Introduction      6.3 Subjects and Methods      6.3.1 Data Source      6.3.2 Outcome Measures      6.3.3 Exposure Measures      6.3.4 Covariate Data      6.3.5 Analytical Sample      6.3.6 Statistical Analysis      6.3.7 Sensitivity Analyses      6.4 Results      6.4.1 Baseline Characteristics      6.4.2 Metabolic Health Phenotype and Mortality Risk      6.4.3 Standardized Serum 25(OH)D Status and Mortality Risk      6.4 Assistivity Analyses      6.5 Discussion      Chapter 7: Study 4- Lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality according to vitamin D      status of middle and older-aged adults: NHANES III mortality follow-up      7.1 Abstract	91 92 93 94 94 95 95 96 96 97 98 98 98 98 98 99 100 100 114 115
Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and      Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III      6.1 Abstract      6.2 Introduction      6.3 Subjects and Methods      6.3.1 Data Source      6.3.2 Outcome Measures      6.3.3 Exposure Measures      6.3.4 Covariate Data      6.3.5 Analytical Sample      6.3.6 Statistical Analysis      6.3.7 Sensitivity Analyses      6.4 Results      6.4.1 Baseline Characteristics      6.4.2 Metabolic Health Phenotype and Mortality Risk      6.4.3 Standardized Serum 25(OH)D Status and Mortality Risk      6.4 Assistivity Analyses      6.5 Discussion      Chapter 7: Study 4- Lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality according to vitamin D      status of middle and older-aged adults: NHANES III mortality follow-up      7.1 Abstract      7.2 Introduction	91 92 93 94 94 95 95 95 96 97 98 98 98 98 98 98 99 100 100 116

7.3.1 Study Sample	117
7.3.2 Risk Factor Measurement	117
7.3.3 Cardiometabolic Mortality	118
7.3.4 Statistical Analysis	118
7.4 Results	119
7.4.1 Baseline Characteristics	119
7.4.2 Lifetime Risk Estimates Stratified by Individual Traditional Risk Factors and I	3MI 120
7.4.3 Lifetime Risk Estimates Stratified by Aggregate Risk Factor Burden and BMI.	120
7.4.4 Lifetime Risk Estimates Stratified by 25(OH)D Status and BMI	120
7.4.5 Lifetime Risk Estimates Stratified by Aggregate Risk Factor, 25(OH)D Status,	and
BMI	121
7.4.6 Sensitivity Analysis	121
7.5 Discussion	121
Chapter 8: Overall Discussion	135
8.1 Summary	135
8.1.1 Examination of the Cross-Sectional Association between Standardized Total 2	5(OH)D
and Cardiometabolic risk	135
8.1.2 Clinical Utility of Total 25(OH)D Status and Estimation of Optimal 25(OH)D	Level
	137
8.1.3 Vitamin D Status, Metabolically Healthy Obesity and Mortality Risk	139
8.1.4 Vitamin D Status and Lifetime Risk of Cardiometabolic Mortality	141
8.2 Strengths and Limitations	144
8.3 Implications & Future Directions	147
8.4 Summary of Findings in Relation to Global Cardiometabolic Risk Assessment	149
8.5 Conclusion	151
Chapter 9: References	152
Appendix A: Serum 25(OH)D thresholds in relation to normal glucose and insulin	
homeostasis, Canadian Health Measures Survey	193

# List of Tables

Table 2. 1 Various criteria for metabolically healthy obesity 15
<b>Table 2. 2</b> Reference cut points for total 25(OH)D levels according to IOM and ESTF
<b>Table 2. 3</b> Dietary Reference Intakes for vitamin D by life-stage 27
<b>Table 4. 1</b> Population Characteristics of U.S. Adults ( $\geq 20$ years) in NHANES 2001-2010 62
<b>Table 4. 2</b> Prevalence ratios of cardiometabolic risk associated with serum 25(OH)D status in
U.S. adults, NHANES 2001-2010
Table 4. 3A Ethnic-specific prevalence ratios for cardiometabolic risk according to serum
25(OH)D status, NHANES 2001-2010
Table 4. 3B Ethnic-specific prevalence ratios for cardiometabolic risk according to serum
25(OH)D status, NHANES 2001-2010
Table 4. 4 Adjusted prevalence ratios of cardiovascular risk (≥15%) associated with serum
25(OH)D by age, NHANES 2001-2010
Table 5. 1 Characteristics of participants by serum 25(OH)D quartiles, NHANES 2001-201083
Table 5. 2 Comparison of models' fit and weighted C-statistics in the training and testing
samples, NHANES 2001-2010
Table 5. 3 Serum 25(OH)D thresholds in relation to normal glucose and insulin homeostasis in
the training and testing datasets overall and by age and racial/ethnic background
Table 6. 1 Baseline characteristics of participants aged 20 years and older by metabolic health
status: NHANES III survey 1988 to 1994
Table 6. 2 All-cause, cardiometabolic (CM) and non-CM mortality hazard ratios (HRs) for
participants aged 20 years and older according to metabolic health status: NHANES III survey
1988 to 1994 with follow-up through 2011
Table 7. 1 Baseline characteristics of participants (adults ≥40 years) in NHANES III (1988-
1994)
Table 7. 2 Lifetime risk of traditional CVD risk factors overall and stratified by BMI category:
NHANES III (1988-1994) with follow-up through 2011 127

# List of Figures

Figure 2. 1 A comprehensive list of risk factors that contribute to global cardiometabolic risk 6
Figure 2. 2 Human metabolism of vitamin D. 21
Figure 4. 1 Flowchart showing the exclusion criteria for sample derivation, NHANES 2001-
2010
<b>Figure 4. 2</b> Prevalence of cardiovascular disease risk ( $\geq 15\%$ ) by age status in participants $\geq 20$
years, NHANES 2001-2010
Figure 5. 1 Weighted predictiveness curves
Figure 5. 2 Decision curve analysis. 87
Figure 6. 1 Cumulative incidence curves for cardiometabolic (CM) death outcomes by metabolic
health phenotypes among participants aged 20 years and older: NHANES III survey with follow-
up through 2011
Figure 6. 2 Adjusted cubic spline models showing hazard ratios (HR) for all-cause and
cardiometabolic mortality according to serum 25(OH)D concentration in participants aged 20
years and older: NHANES III survey
Figure 6. 3 Adjusted cubic spline models showing association between serum 25(OH)D levels
and hazard ratios (HRs) for cardiometabolic mortality stratified by metabolic health status among
participants aged 20 years and older: NHANES III survey 1988 to 1994 110
Figure 7. 1 Cumulative incidence of cardiometabolic mortality adjusted for competing risk
events according to aggregate risk factor (RF) burden stratified by BMI: NHANES III (1988-
1994) with follow-up through 2011
Figure 7. 2 Cumulative incidence of cardiometabolic mortality adjusted for competing risk
events according to serum 25(OH)D status stratified by BMI: NHANES III (1988-1994) with
follow-up through 2011
Figure 7. 3 Cumulative risk of cardiometabolic mortality adjusted for competing risk events
according to risk burden and serum 25(OH)D status stratified by BMI category

# **List of Abbreviations**

7-DHC: 7-dehydrocholesterol 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D: 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D 24,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D: 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D AI: adequate Intake BMI: body mass index BP: blood pressure CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention CI: confidence interval CIF: cumulative incidence function CM: cardiometabolic mortality CRP: C-reactive protein CVD: cardiovascular disease CV: coefficient of variation CYP24A1: 24-hydroxylase CYP27A1: mitochondrial 25-hydroxylase CYP27B1: 1-alpha-hydroxylase CYP2R1: microsomal 25-hydroxylase DCA: decision curve analysis **DEQAS:** Vitamin D External Quality Assessment Scheme DHCR7: 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase DRI: dietary reference intake EAR: estimated average requirement eGFR: estimated glomerular filtration rate ES: Endocrine Society FFA: free fatty acid FPF: false-positive fraction (1-specificity) FPG: fasting plasma glucose FRS: Framingham risk score

HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance HDL-C: high-density lipoprotein cholesterol HEI: healthy eating index HR: hazard ratio ICD-10: tenth revision of the International Classification of Diseases IDI: integrated discrimination improvement IOM: Institute of Medicine IR: insulin resistance IU<sup>.</sup> international unit KM: Kaplan-Meier LC-MS/MS: liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry LDL-C: low density lipoprotein cholesterol LR: likelihood ratio LTPA: leisure-time physical activity MA: Mexican-Americans MEC: mobile examination centre MET: metabolic equivalent MetS: metabolic syndrome MHNW: metabolically healthy normalweight MHO: metabolically healthy obesity MHOW: metabolically healthy overweight NCEP ATP III: National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel Ш NCHS: National Center for Health Statistics NDI: National Death Index

NHANES: National Health and Nutrition **Examination Survey** NH-white: non-Hispanic white NH-black: non-Hispanic black NRI: net reclassification index OR: odds ratio PA: physical activity PH: proportional hazard PIR: poverty to income ratio PTH: parathyroid hormone PR: prevalence ratio RAAS: renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system RCS: restricted cubic spline RCT: randomized controlled trial RDA: recommended dietary allowance RF: risk factor RIA: radioimmunoassay ROC: receiver operating characteristic curve RR: relative risk RXR: retinoid x receptor SNP: single nucleotide polymorphisms SZA: solar zenith angle TC: total cholesterol TG: triglyceride TNF-alpha: tumor necrosis factor alpha TPF: true-positive fraction (sensitivity) UL: tolerable upper intake level UVB: ultraviolet B radiation vDBP or DBP: vitamin D binding protein VDR: vitamin D receptor

VDRE: vitamin D response element VDSP: vitamin D standardization program WC: waist circumference

## **Chapter 1: Background**

The role of vitamin D in calcium metabolism and skeletal health has been well established [1,2]. Over the last decade, vitamin D deficiency has emerged as a potential risk factor for type-2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease (CVD) [3,4]. In epidemiological studies, vitamin D deficiency has been inversely associated with insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome (MetS), type-2 diabetes, and CVD [3,4]. However, the evidence from observational studies has not been consistent. Moreover, randomized controlled trials (RCTs) assessing the effects of vitamin D supplementation on glycaemia, incident type-2 diabetes, and CVD have not supported a beneficial role of vitamin D supplementation in the prevention of type-2 diabetes and CVD [3,4]. However, most trials to date have been underpowered with relatively short duration and were not properly designed for glycemic and CVD outcomes [5,6]. Therefore, the current evidence on the role of vitamin D in non-skeletal health remains inconclusive and insufficient to determine the potential role of vitamin D in the prevention and treatment of cardiometabolic health outcomes and further research is needed to more fully understand the role of vitamin D in human health.

The assessment of vitamin D status is based on measurement of circulating total 25hyroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) concentration, which reflects both food intake and endogenous production of vitamin D [2]. Accurate and precise measurement of 25(OH)D is required to estimate vitamin D deficiency at the population level and to study its association with various disease outcomes [7,8]. Over the last 10 years, studies assessing the relationship between serum 25(OH)D and disease risk have used unstandardized laboratory assays for serum 25(OH)D. There has been a growing concern over the commercially available assays for 25(OH)D, either lacking accuracy (i.e., the ability of a test to return the 'true' value) or precision (i.e., the ability of a test to return the same result with repeated testing) [9,10]. Inaccurate or imprecise measurement of 25(OH)D may lead to null findings of associations with health outcomes [8]. In response to these concerns, the Vitamin D Standardization Program (VDSP) was established in 2010 to promote the standardization of 25(OH)D laboratory procedures worldwide, recognizing the necessity for accurate and reliable measurement of 25(OH)D for research into health risks/benefits, clinical management of vitamin D deficiency, and reliable estimation of vitamin D

deficiency at the population level [7,11]. Given the limitations of previous studies, a systematic re-evaluation of previous research using standardized measurement of total 25(OH)D is necessary. Furthermore, previous studies assessing the relationship between serum 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic health outcomes have predominantly included populations of White European origin and the role of vitamin D in other ethnic subpopulations is not well characterized. There is some evidence that suggests substantial ethnic differences in the relationship between vitamin D status and cardiometabolic health outcomes [12–15]; as such, results from prior studies conducted in predominantly white/European populations may not be generalizable to other ethnic subpopulations. Taken together, the objective for the first study of this thesis was to examine the cross-sectional association between standardized serum 25(OH)D levels and cardiometabolic health outcomes (as measured by homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, and Framingham 10-year CVD risk) and to further explore ethnic variation using data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES, 2001-2010) (Chapter 4).

In addition to the standardization issue, the optimal vitamin D status (as measured by total circulating 25(OH)D concentration) remains controversial and there are discrepancies between national guidelines for recommended levels of total 25(OH)D in relation to bone health. Current guidelines by the Health and Medicine Division (HMD) of the National Academies (formerly known as the Institute of Medicine, IOM) and the Endocrine Society (ES) recommend different thresholds for serum 25(OH)D. Specifically, the IOM defines vitamin D deficiency as a 25(OH)D level < 30 nmol/L, vitamin D insufficiency as a level of 30-50 nmol/L, and vitamin D sufficiency as > 50 nmol/L [2]. On the other hand, the ES defines serum 25(OH)D < 50 nmol/Las deficient, levels between 50-74 nmol/L as insufficient, and levels  $\geq$  75 nmol/L as sufficient [16]. In addition, other national guidelines also advocate for various cutoffs, ranging from 30 nmol/L to > 100 nmol/L [17]. The discrepancy among national guidelines is largely due to the differences in laboratory assays for 25(OH)D and the inconsistent findings from epidemiological and RCT data in relation to skeletal and non-skeletal health outcomes. For non-skeletal health outcomes, disagreement still exists about whether the optimal level of 25(OH)D is higher than the currently recommended levels of 25(OH)D for bone health [18]. Moreover, although circulating total 25(OH)D concentration is accepted as the best marker of vitamin D status (i.e.,

biomarker of exposure), in their 2011 report, the IOM raised concerns over the utility of serum 25(OH)D as a biomarker of effect (i.e., whether the level of total 25(OH)D is causally related to, and is a reliable predictor of, a health outcome of interest) [2]. Several studies have shown a significant inverse association between serum 25(OH)D levels and cardiometabolic disorders, however a significant association does not necessarily support the clinical utility of total 25(OH)D as a screening biomarker for an underlying health state in asymptomatic adults [2,19–21]. Therefore, using standardized measurement of 25(OH)D from NHANES 2001-2010, the objective for the second study of this thesis was to assess the clinical utility of serum 25(OH)D in the diagnosis of insulin resistance and to estimate the optimal 25(OH)D level associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis in asymptomatic, ethnically diverse U.S. adults (Chapter 5).

In addition to sun exposure behaviors, dietary vitamin D intake and ethnic background, it has been recently shown that serum level of 25(OH)D is also largely determined by body composition [22]. Obesity is a risk factor for vitamin D deficiency [23] and individuals with overweight and obesity have consistently lower serum 25(OH)D levels compared to individuals with normal weight [22]. However, the clinical consequences of lower serum 25(OH)D in individuals with overweight/obesity are not fully understood. Moreover, within the obesity category, the MHO (metabolically healthy obesity) phenotype displays low to intermediate risk for cardiometabolic health outcomes [24]; however, the biomarkers underlying the healthy metabolic profile of the MHO phenotype are not fully elucidated. Vitamin D has been hypothesized to play a key role in preserving the healthy metabolic profile of MHO phenotype [25]; however, conflicting evidence exists [26,27]. Moreover, while previous studies have investigated the individual contributions of obesity, metabolic health, and vitamin D status in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes, their joint associations are largely unknown. Therefore, using a harmonized definition of MHO phenotype recently proposed by Ortega et al. [28], the third study of this thesis investigated the prognosis of MHO phenotype in relation to allcause and cardiometabolic mortality and further evaluated the joint association of metabolic health phenotype and vitamin D status as measured by standardized 25(OH)D level using data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III, 1988-1994) with follow-up through December, 2011(Chapter 6).

Lastly, in the context of long-term disease risk prediction, national guidelines suggest that clinicians should consider a patient's risk factor burden within the context of lifetime risk [29,30]. The predictive ability of traditional CVD risk factors (i.e., smoking, dyslipidemia, diabetes, and hypertension) in relation to lifetime risk for CVD has been well established [31,32]. However, the long-term predictive ability of total 25(OH)D is not well characterized. Previous studies have established an independent and inverse association between low serum 25(OH)D levels and CVD events among individuals with and without CVD at baseline [33,34]. However, a significant association does not necessarily support the predictive ability of a biomarker in the context of long-term disease risk prediction at the population level [19–21]. Moreover, previous studies have primarily assessed the relative risk associated with vitamin D deficiency; however, the relative risk reduction reported in previous studies has limited interpretation (i.e., relative risk reduction varies by choice of 25(OH)D cutoff). Therefore, to quantify the magnitude of absolute risk associated with vitamin D deficiency at the population level, an estimation of the absolute risk according to serum 25(OH)D cutoffs recommended by the IOM and ES would clarify the predictive value of these widely used cutoffs in relation to lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality. Therefore, the last study of this thesis evaluated i) whether serum 25(OH)D measured in middle to older-aged adults is associated with lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality, and ii) what the combined effect of serum 25(OH)D and traditional CVD risk factors might be on the remaining lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality. Effect modification by level of adiposity was further explored via stratification of analyses according to body mass index (BMI) categories. Data from NHANES III (1988-1994) with follow-up through December, 2011 was used for this study (Chapter 7).

# **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

#### 2.1 Global Cardiometabolic Risk

#### 2.1.1 Background

The term "global cardiometabolic risk" is an umbrella term that refers to a comprehensive list of factors that contribute to risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) and metabolic abnormalities such as type-2 diabetes [35]. The terminology was created to acknowledge the limitations of metabolic syndrome (clustering of risk factors such as abdominal obesity, dyslipidemia, hypertension, and dysglycemia), which was often used to evaluate individual risk for type-2 diabetes and CVD [36]. In response to controversies surrounding the application of metabolic syndrome in clinical practice (see section 2.1.3 'identification of cardiometabolic risk' below for detailed discussion), the concept of global cardiometabolic risk and its utility in clinical practice was described by Després and Lemieux in 2006 [37], in which they emphasized the need for development of a global algorithm that incorporates both traditional and emerging risk factors known to clinically affect risk of CVD and the underlying metabolic abnormalities such as type-2 diabetes (see figure 2-1 below). The concept of global cardiometabolic risk is analogous to the bench researcher's goal of discovering and identifying all known mechanisms when studying the pathogenesis of a disease. As such, assessment of global cardiometabolic risk provides a comprehensive assessment of CVD and metabolic abnormalities by incorporating both traditional and nontraditional risk factors. As our understanding of the pathophysiological process underlying cardiometabolic diseases evolves, one should also anticipate the identification of emerging risk factors/markers that contribute to cardiometabolic risk and this will allow clinicians to take early preventive actions in the early stages of CVD and type-2 diabetes.



**Figure 2. 1** A comprehensive list of risk factors that contribute to global cardiometabolic risk Modified from Jellinger PS et al. [38].

## 2.1.2 Pathophysiology

The pathophysiological bases of CVD and type-2 diabetes are complex, with some factors affecting both CVD and type-2 diabetes and while others are distinct. At the landmark Banting Lecture award in 1988, Gerald Reaven proposed that insulin resistance predisposes individuals to hyperlipidemia, hypertension, and type-2 diabetes and thus is the underlying cause of most CVD outcomes [39]. While there is ongoing debate regarding the direct contribution of insulin resistance to global cardiometabolic risk [36], insulin resistance is strongly associated with components of atherogenic, prothrombotic, and inflammatory states in individuals with cardiometabolic risk factors. At the initial stages of insulin resistance, there is a compensatory mechanism that increases the level of insulin secretion in order maintain normal blood glucose levels [39]. However, as insulin resistance progresses over time (due to genetics and environmental factors), this compensatory mechanism is reduced or impaired and the resulting

beta-cell dysfunction leads to reduced insulin production by the pancreas [39]. This reduction in insulin production is also associated with increased free fatty acid (FFA) levels in the circulation [39]. Thus, reduced insulin production coupled with increased FFA levels leads to elevation of blood glucose concentration resulting in type-2 diabetes [39]. In the liver, the increase in FFA flux increases the production of glucose, triglycerides, and very low-density lipoprotein (vLDL) and in the muscle, FFAs reduce glucose uptake by the muscle, resulting in hyperglycemia [35,40]. The increase in FFAs flux secondary to increased lipolysis in the adipose tissue also decreases glucose uptake in the adipose tissue, which has been implicated as a key component of cardiometabolic risk [35,40] In addition, hyperinsulinemia and increased FFAs flux may alter sodium reabsorption in the kidney and increase sympathetic nervous system activity leading to hypertension [35,39,40].

Prothrombotic and proinflammatory mechanisms are also involved in the etiology of CVD and type-2 diabetes. Visceral adipose tissue is a major source of local and systemic inflammatory molecules that exacerbate tissue level insulin resistance, cause vascular injury and promote atherosclerosis [41]. Specifically, inflammatory cytokines secreted by the adipose tissue (i.e., interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha)) exacerbates insulin resistance in the liver, muscle, and vascular endothelial tissue by increasing lipolysis of triglyceride stores in the adipose tissue (i.e., resulting in increased FFAs flux), which ultimately leads to type-2 diabetes and CVD [41–43]. Furthermore, adiponectin (anti-inflammatory, insulin-sensitizing protein) levels are also reduced in state of insulin resistance [44,45]. In response to the vascular injury (due to increased secretion of cytokines and FFAs flux), the liver increases the production of fibrinogen, CRP, and plasminogen activator-inhibitor (PAI-1), which results in a prothrombotic state [35,40]. Moreover, TNF-alpha, IL-6, and CRP have also been shown to stimulate endothelial production of adhesion molecules (i.e. E-selectin, intercellular adhesion molecule-1, and vascular adhesion molecule-1) which are mediators of endothelial dysfunction in capillary and arteriolar endothelium [46].

In summary, the pathophysiological basis of CVD and type-2 diabetes risk is complex and involves a complex interplay among various tissues (i.e., liver, muscle, and adipose tissue), leading to clustering of risk factors that constitute the global cardiometabolic risk, namely

abdominal obesity, insulin resistance, glucose intolerance, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, prothrombotic state, and inflammatory state.

#### 2.1.3 Identification of Cardiometabolic Risk

Cardiometabolic risk refers to the sum of risk factors that increase an individual's risk of CVD and type-2 diabetes. Numerous risk algorithms and clinical tools have been developed to assess an individual's risk for CVD or metabolic abnormalities, using either relative or absolute risk algorithms. Identification of cardiometabolic risk is mainly determined by assessment of traditional CVD risk factors such as hypertension, dyslipidemia, or smoking, by nontraditional risk factors such as insulin resistance, and by other risk factors including genetics and other environmental factors. It is well recognized that there is interplay among these risk factors and there is a large overlap between the main outcomes (i.e., people with type-2 diabetes are at a higher risk for CVD events). The goal of early screening is to obtain a comprehensive understanding of an individual's risk for cardiometabolic events through assessment of various risk factors known to clinically affect risk of CVD or metabolic abnormalities such as type-2 diabetes, thereby enabling appropriate individual preventive measures to be taken.

In relation to the assessment of insulin resistance, there are different laboratory techniques and indices available to measure insulin resistance in primary research and epidemiological studies (i.e., hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp [47], frequently sampled intravenous glucose tolerance test [48], homeostatis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) [49], whole body insulin sensitivity (IS) index [50]); however, measurement of insulin resistance remains a challenge in clinical practice. In 2001, the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III (NCEP ATP III) proposed metabolic syndrome (MetS) as a simple clinical tool to identify individuals likely to be characterized by insulin resistance and its related cluster of metabolic abnormalities [51]. At the time, assessment of MetS was deemed useful for establishing relative risk of both CVD and type-2 diabetes, where it has been estimated that the presence of MetS increases the risk of CVD by 1.5 to 2.0-fold and increases the risk of type-2 diabetes by 3 to 5-fold [52–56].

The MetS clinical criteria describe a constellation of risk factors originally known as "syndrome X" and it captures abnormalities in blood glucose, blood pressure (BP), triglycerides (TG), and/or low high lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, which are known to be down-stream effects of insulin resistance coupled with visceral or ectopic fat deposition [57]. While different cutoff values and inclusion of risk factors have been proposed by different research groups, the general consensus on the key features of MetS include visceral obesity, dysglycemia, hypertension, elevated TGs, and low HDL-cholesterol [58,59]. In 2009, the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention, the National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute, the American Heart Association, the World Heart Federation, the International Atherosclerosis Society, and the International Association for the Study of Obesity agreed on a harmonized set of criteria for MetS, which categorizes MetS based on the presence of at least three of the following criteria: elevated waist circumference (population and country specific definitions,  $\geq 102$  cm for men and  $\geq$  88 cm for women in United States, Canada, and Europe), elevated triglycerides ( $\geq$ 150 mg/dL or drug treatment), reduced HDL cholesterol (< 40 mg/dL for males and < 50 mg/dLfor females or drug treatment), elevated BP (systolic  $\geq$  130 mmHg and/or diastolic  $\geq$  85 mmHg, or drug treatment), and elevated fasting glucose ( $\geq 100 \text{ mg/dL}$  or drug treatment) [60]. While MetS is useful for the assessment of *relative risk* of CVD and type-2 diabetes, assessment of MetS does not capture *absolute risk* and therefore, it does not assess global cardiometabolic risk [57]. Moreover, MetS does not weigh the severity of a risk factor (i.e., mild hypertension is classified in the same category as treated severe hypertension) and therefore the presence of MetS implies that relative risks for CVD and type-2 diabetes are increased irrespective of the severity or particular cluster of risk factors [61].

In clinical practice, it is important to estimate the absolute risk of cardiometabolic risk in highrisk individuals to implement appropriate prevention or treatment strategies. Numerous risk algorithms have been developed and validated to predict future risk of type-2 diabetes and CVD. There are few risk algorithms that predict future risk of type-2 diabetes [62]; however, there is no strong evidence of a clinical benefit to support a strategy of population-based screening for type-2 diabetes using risk algorithms [63]. On the other hand, numerous risk algorithms have been developed and validated to predict short-term (i.e., 10-year) CVD risk and these include the Framingham risk Score (FRS) [64,65], Reynolds Risk Score (RRS) [66,67], Multi-Ethnic Study

of Atherosclerosis (MESA) 10-year atherosclerotic CVD risk [68], and the Pooled Cohort Risk Assessment equation for atherosclerotic CVD, which is currently endorsed by the 2013 American College of Cardiology(ACC)/American Heart Association (AHA) guidelines [29]. All of these risk algorithms were developed to assess an individual's 10-year risk of atherosclerotic CVD and, importantly, they weigh the severity of risk factors (i.e. treated versus untreated hypertension). However, there are several shortcomings that should also be recognized with all 10-year risk assessment algorithms such as the FRS and other risk assessment algorithms that are currently endorsed by the U.S. and Canadian national guidelines. First, short-term risk algorithms are highly dependent on the patient's age such that older individuals are more likely to be targeted for therapy and therefore 10-year risk algorithms are not suited to capture CVD risk in younger populations with low short-term risk (< 10% in 10 years) [69,70]. Prior research has shown that 82% of US adults have low short-term risk (< 10% in 10 years); however, two thirds of these adults (an estimated 87 million) have a high residual lifetime risk for CVD [71]. Therefore, a lag time in risk factor development and heterogeneity in risk factor burden makes short-term risk prediction tools less effective, particularly in younger populations with low shortterm risk [70,72]. The most recent guidelines in the US and Canada recommend that clinician should consider patients' risk factor burden within the context of residual lifetime risk to capture the total cumulative burden of CVD with advancing age, particularly in adults 20 to 59 years of age who are not at high short-term risk [29,30]. Second, short-term risk algorithms do not incorporate additional and nontraditional risk factors [i.e., obesity, triglycerides, Apo B, CRP, coronary artery calcification (CAC)] which have been shown to be strongly associated with CVD risk. The most recent guidelines by American Association of Clinical Endocrinologist and American College of Endocrinology recommend use of additional screening tools, such as the RRS which incorporates information on family history of heart attack and inflammation (i.e., CRP) or the MESA 10-year atherosclerotic CVD risk, which incorporates information on family history of heart attack and CAC [38]; however, it should be noted that these risk algorithms, similar to the FRS, only assess 10-year CVD risk and are not suitable for assessing risk in low to intermediate-risk individuals.

#### 2.1.4. Clinical Utility of Biomarkers: Statistical Assessment

In a clinical setting, measurement of biomarkers allows clinicians to better identify high-risk individuals, diagnose certain disease conditions and predict prognosis of a disease. Advances in biomarker research related to CVD and type-2 diabetes over the past 30 years have led to development of more sensitive screening tools and improved treatments for high-risk individuals. The previous section described clinical tools and risk algorithms that have undergone various statistical assessments and the clinical utility of these tools has been well established. The use of emerging biomarkers for different stages of CVD and type-2 diabetes remains an active area of research and there is increasing interest in utilizing emerging biomarkers in the assessment of global cardiometabolic risk. This section will provide a general overview of current concepts related to statistical assessment of biomarkers and risk algorithms and the practical considerations that are prerequisite to their clinical use.

Clinicians often use a set of biomarkers as a clinical tool to optimally manage a patient. In 2001, the definition of a biomarker was standardized by National Institute of Health as "a characteristic that is objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes, or pharmacological responses to a therapeutic intervention" [73]. Biomarkers can be classified on the basis of their intended use as screening biomarkers (identifying a subclinical disease), diagnostic biomarkers (identifying an underlying disease condition), or prognostic biomarkers (predicting future disease course, including recurrence and response to therapy) [73]. A biomarker can be measured using a biosample (i.e., blood or urine or tissue test), obtained from a recording (i.e., blood pressure), or an imaging test (i.e., echocardiogram). Subsequently in 2009, the American Heart Association established criteria for how biomarkers should be evaluated in a standardized fashion before they can be used in a clinical setting [74]. In order for biomarkers to be routinely used in clinical practice, there are certain characteristics of biomarkers that increase their clinical value. A biomarker needs to be measured using a standardized protocol that produces accurate and reliable measurement of the biomarker, has a high sensitivity (i.e., identifying true positives), specificity (i.e., identifying true negatives), and predictive values for the outcome of interest. It must also be easy to interpret by clinicians, have a measurement technique that is acceptable to the patient, and consistently

predict the outcome of interest independent of established predictors in multiple studies so as to translate into better patient outcomes [75].

Establishment of a significant association between a biomarker and a health outcome of interest is the first step in the assessment of a new biomarker; however, statistical significance alone is not sufficient to determine the clinical significance of a biomarker. Therefore, several metrics such as accuracy, discrimination, calibration, and reclassification of risk are used to assess the performance of biomarkers or risk algorithms [76]. Using the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve, the accuracy of a biomarker is evaluated in terms of its sensitivity (i.e., true positives) and its specificity (i.e., true negatives) at select cut-points [77]. The ROC curve displays the tradeoff between sensitivity and specificity of a biomarker or a risk algorithm in clinically identifying those with disease. Each point on the ROC curve represents the conditional probability of obtaining a positive test result from a diseased individual compared to a nondiseased individual [76]. Moreover, using information on sensitivity and specificity at select cutpoints, the likelihood ratio (LR) can be calculated and may be more useful to clinicians in answering the following questions: what is the likelihood of obtaining a positive test result in a patient with disease compared to a patient without disease (LR+)?, and what is the likelihood of obtaining a negative test result in a patient with disease compared to a patient without disease (LR-)? [76]. The performance of biomarkers and risk algorithms can also be assessed in terms of their discriminative ability to distinguish cases from non-cases in cross-sectional studies or distinguish those who will develop disease from those who will not develop disease in prospective designs. The concordance index (or c-statistic) is used to measure discrimination and is equivalent to the area under the ROC curve [74]. It is important to point out that the c-statistic provides a metric for overall performance of biomarkers and risk algorithms and, therefore, it is possible for two different biomarkers and risk algorithms to have the same c-statistic, yet their accuracy may differ substantially in terms of sensitivity and specificity.

Although the c-statistic measures the discriminative ability of a biomarker and risk algorithm, it does not test whether the risk prediction is precise or well calibrated. Therefore, calibration is another metric for performance evaluation and it measures the ability of a biomarker and risk algorithm to accurately predict risk by comparing the predicted and observed frequency of

events. The Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit statistic is often used as an indicator of model calibration [78]. The test divides the sample into deciles of risk and the observed number of events is compared with the expected number of events. Importantly, if a biomarker or risk algorithm underestimates or overestimates risk in certain subgroups, it can be re-calibrated in a population of interest (i.e., in other ethnic subpopulations).

Newer statistical methods have been developed to evaluate the clinical utility of new biomarkers beyond traditional measures such as detecting an increase in the c-statistic. In fact, the c-statistic has been shown to be a relatively insensitive measure when evaluating the incremental value of new biomarkers in a risk prediction model [20,79]. In response to criticisms and limitations of the c-statistic, the net reclassification index (NRI) and the integrated discrimination improvement (IDI) have been proposed by Pencina et al. to assess the degree to which a new biomarker improves risk classification [80,81]. The NRI and IDI tests measure the extent of risk reclassification by assessing whether the new biomarker correctly reclassifies risk upward for individuals who experience the event of interest and correctly reclassifies risk downward for individuals who do not experience the event of interest. While it has been shown that the NRI and IDI are more sensitive metrics than the c-statistic in evaluating the incremental value of new biomarkers, the underlying methodological approaches for both NRI and IDI have also been criticized [82–85]. Specifically, the NRI and IDI metrics have been criticized for applying equal weights to false-negative and false-positive cases [86] and for artificially inflating risk reclassification [84]. In response to these criticisms, decision analytic approaches have been proposed by Vickers et al. [87]. Specifically, Vickers at al. proposed the decision curve analysis (DCA) to assess the clinical utility of measuring a biomarker in a clinical setting. DCA estimates the net benefit by taking the difference between true-positive results and false-positive results. DCA analysis allows clinicians to assess the clinical consequences of having the biomarker information by plotting the net benefit (i.e., observing an increase in the proportion of truepositive cases for a given false-positive rate) across a range of risk threshold probabilities.

In summary, no single statistical measure can adequately assess all the pertinent characteristics of biomarkers and risk algorithms, and while several statistical approaches are available to statistically assess the performance of biomarkers and risk algorithms, the optimal test strategy is

a randomized controlled trial that assesses whether the use of the biomarker or risk algorithm in a clinical setting improves clinical outcomes, and whether the improvement in clinical outcomes is sufficient to justify the additional costs and subsequent treatments [76].

#### 2.1.5 Obesity and Cardiometabolic Risk

Obesity is a progressive chronic disease with genetic, environmental, and lifestyle determinants. Obesity is arguably one of the strongest predictors of type-2 diabetes and CVD and is strongly associated with metabolic abnormalities characterized by insulin resistance [63,88]. In the Nurses' Health Study, 61% of the incident type-2 diabetes cases were attributable to overweight and obesity (defined as BMI  $\ge 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) [89]. Moreover, abdominal obesity (either assessed by waist circumference or waist-to-hip ratio) also predicts type-2 diabetes risk independent of BMI [90]. Furthermore, obesity is also associated with increased CVD events [91] and increased overall lifetime CVD risk [92]. While overweight and obesity are significant risk factors for type-2 diabetes and CVD, there are substantial individual differences in the cardiometabolic risk profile of individuals within the same BMI category [93]. A subset of individuals with obesity, termed 'metabolic healthy obesity (MHO)', has been identified based on healthy metabolic features such insulin sensitivity, high HDL-cholesterol, and low levels of fasting glucose and triglycerides [94–96]. Earlier studies reported that the MHO phenotype is not associated with increased risk of CVD events [95]. However, the clinical utility of the MHO phenotype has been controversial and some recent studies have challenged the existence of the MHO phenotype by showing that obesity, irrespective of the underlying metabolic health, is associated with an increased risk of CVD events [97–103]. While study-specific factors such as sample size, age, genetics, ethnicity, cardiorespiratory fitness, and follow-up time may explain some of the discrepancies among studies, the lack of a harmonized definition for the MHO phenotype largely accounts for these discrepancies [28]. Table 2-1 below presents the differences in the available definitions for the MHO phenotype, including the recently harmonized definition by Ortega et al. [28]. Prior to the harmonized definition proposed by Ortega et al., most studies included at least one metabolic abnormality to define MHO [97–101,103], yet the type of metabolic dysfunction varied widely, which could have affected the long-term risk estimates differently across studies. In contrast to previous definitions of the MHO phenotype (which allowed the presence of at least 1 risk factor), the newly harmonized criterion defines MHO as a BMI  $\ge$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> with zero

metabolic abnormalities. The newly harmonized definition of the MHO phenotype would allow researchers to assess whether obesity or metabolic health is a more important predictor of long-term health outcomes.

	Meigs et al. [95]	Stefan et al. [96]	Aguilar- Salinas et al. [104]	Karelis et al. [105]	Wildman et al. [106]	Ortega et al. [28]
Obesity component	$\frac{BMI \ge 30}{kg/m^2}$	$\frac{BMI \ge 30}{kg/m^2}$	$\frac{BMI \ge 30}{kg/m^2}$	$\frac{BMI \ge 30}{kg/m^2}$	$\frac{BMI \ge 30}{kg/m^2}$	$\frac{BMI \ge 30}{kg/m^2}$
Metabolic components						
WC (cm)	$\geq 102 (M)$ $\geq 88 (F)$					
BP	$\geq$ 130/85 or		< 140/90		$\geq$ 130/85 or	$\geq$ 130/85 or
(mmHg)	treatment		and no		treatment	treatment
			treatment			
FPG	$\geq$ 100 or		< 126 and		$\geq$ 100 or	$\geq$ 100 or
(mg/dL)	treatment		no		treatment	treatment
			treatment			
TG	$\geq$ 150 or			< 150	$\geq$ 150	$\geq$ 150 or
(mg/dL)	treatment					treatment
HDL-c	< 40 (M)		$\geq$ 40	$\geq$ 50 and no	<40 (M)	<40 (M)
(mg/dL)	< 50 (F)			treatment	< 50 (F) or	< 50 (F) or
					treatment	treatment
HOMA-IR				< 1.95	$> 90^{\text{th}}$	
					percentile	
Other		$IS > 75^{th}$		TC < 200	hsCRP >	
		percentile		mg/dL	90 <sup>th</sup>	
				LDL < 100	percentile	
				mg/dL and		
				no		
				treatment		
MHO	< 3 of the	All of the	All of the	4 of the	< 2 of the	0 of the 4
criteria	above	above	above	above	above	above

Table 2. 1 Various criteria for metabolically healthy obesity

Modified from Velho et al. [107]. BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; F, female; M, male; BP, blood pressure; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; TG, triglycerides; HDL-c, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; WBISI, insulin sensitive; TC, total cholesterol; LDL, low-density lipoprotein.

#### 2.1.6 Interventions to Reduce Cardiometabolic Risk

As described in previous sections, there is a complex interplay between genetics, epigenetics, and lifestyle factors in the pathophysiology of cardiometabolic disorders. While genetics may predispose some individuals to type-2 diabetes and CVD, modifiable factors such as obesity, sedentary lifestyle, and poor diet significantly contribute to the incidences of both CVD and type-2 diabetes [89,108]. Therefore, lifestyle interventions such as weight loss, diet, and physical activity remain the cornerstone of CVD and type-2 diabetes prevention and treatment.

The key components of lifestyle intervention include a healthy diet (i.e. primarily plant-based diet high in polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fatty acids, with limited intake of saturated fatt and avoidance of trans fat), regular physical activity (i.e., at least 150 minutes/week of moderateintensity exercise and 2 days/week strength training), weight loss in patients with overweight and obesity (i.e., 5-10%), and smoking cessation [29,30]. Suboptimal diet has been shown to be one of the strongest risk factors for cardiometabolic mortality; Micha et al. [109] recently reported that almost half of all cardiometabolic deaths (heart disease, stroke and type-2 diabetes) in the USA were attributable to unhealthy dietary patterns (i.e., diets high in sodium, low in nuts or seeds, high in processed meats, low in omega-3 fats, low in vegetables and fruits, and high in sugar-sweetened beverages). While lifestyle therapy is recommended for all patients, adherence to dietary and exercise interventions is often challenging at a community level [110]. A recent study using data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) reported that < 2% of US adults meet all cardiovascular health metrics (i.e., nonsmoking status, optimal blood pressure, cholesterol levels, BMI, and glucose levels, being physically active, and having a healthy diet) [111].

Moreover, although lipid lowering agents such as statins have been proven to be effective in reducing the rate of CVD events in high-risk individuals, the residual risk of CVD remains high among patients prescribed high-dose statins, despite significant reductions in LDL cholesterol [112,113]. Furthermore, among patients prescribed statins, there is poor long-term adherence with non-adherence estimated at ~46% (where non-adherence is defined as taking less than 80% of the prescribed medication) [114]. Therefore, identification of cost-effective, alternative or

complimentary therapeutic options at the population level is needed to reduce the residual risk and decrease the burden of cardiometabolic health outcomes.

#### 2.2 Vitamin D

#### 2.2.1 Background

Vitamin D, also known as the sunshine vitamin, was first identified as a vitamin in the 20<sup>th</sup> century; however, it is now recognized as a fat-soluble prohormone. Vitamin D refers to a group of fat-soluble seco-sterols (i.e., its molecular structure is similar to steroid hormones but two of the B-ring carbon atoms (C9 and C10) are not joined) [115]. The two major forms are vitamin  $D_2$  (ergocalciferol) and vitamin  $D_3$  (cholecalciferol). Vitamin D is a 27-carbon secosteroid and the only difference between the two forms is that vitamin  $D_2$  has an extra double bond between carbons 22 and 23, and a methyl group on carbon 24. Vitamin  $D_2$  is produced in fungi and plants, whereas vitamin  $D_3$  is produced in the skin after sunlight exposure and is found in animal products (e.g., fish oils and cod liver).

Vitamin D has been mainly recognized for its role in calcium metabolism and skeletal health. Vitamin D promotes calcium absorption from the intestine and aids in mineralization of newly formed osteoid tissue in the bone. It is well established that prolonged vitamin D deficiency leads to rickets in children, which is characterized by growth retardation and skeletal deformities, such as bowed legs or knocked knees [1]. In adults, severe vitamin D deficiency leads to osteomalacia, a condition characterized by aching bone pain and muscle weakness [1]. In the 1930s and 1940s, vitamin D fortification of milk was widely introduced in North America and Europe along with the promotion of sun exposure, which significantly eliminated rickets in children [116]. However, in the early 1950s, a limited number of cases of hypercalcemia and supravalvular aortic stenosis were reported in children, which were suspected to be due to vitamin D intoxication from milk [117,118]. Although several of the hypercalcemia cases from the 1950s were likely to be a result of an inherited disease (Williams syndrome), at that time, these cases were linked to vitamin D intoxication due to evidence from animal studies showing hypercalcemia and vascular calcification in animals treated with high pharmacological doses of vitamin D [118]. Therefore, vitamin D food fortification was banned in most European countries for some decades. It was not until the early 1980s when Robert Scragg challenged the notion of

vitamin D toxicity by introducing the hypothesis that the increase in cardiovascular disease in the winter might be a result of low vitamin D levels as a consequence of limited sunlight exposure [119].

Currently vitamin D is well recognized for its role in skeletal health; however, the non-skeletal health effects of vitamin D are less understood and there is ongoing debate in relation to vitamin D requirement and the impact of vitamin D status on several disease states including cardiovascular disease, type-2 diabetes, cancer, and autoimmune disorders [2,16]. The existing controversy has led to segregation of opinions on the significance of vitamin D in health and disease [120]. To date, there has been no consensus on optimal vitamin D status, mainly due to lack of standardized measurement of vitamin D and lack of well-designed RCTs in relation to non-skeletal health outcomes [8,121]. Currently, vitamin D recommendations are based on skeletal health outcomes; however, it has been argued that "one size fits all" recommendations for vitamin D are not sufficient and, instead, vitamin D recommendations should be disease-specific [18]. In addition, other risk factors such as ethnicity and obesity influence vitamin D levels and should be taken into consideration [120]. A more detailed discussion of these issues will be addressed in the following sections.

#### 2.2.2 Sources of Vitamin D

Most people obtain vitamin D through skin exposure to sunlight, particularly solar ultraviolet B (UVB) radiation (290-315 nm) [122]. During sunlight exposure, 7-dehydrocholesterol (7-DHC), in the epidermis and dermis layers of the skin, is converted to previtamin D<sub>3</sub>. Non-enzymatic (heat) isomerization of previtamin D<sub>3</sub> to vitamin D<sub>3</sub> is the last step in the synthesis of vitamin D<sub>3</sub>. Synthesis of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> in skin is dependent on the amount of UVB radiation reaching the skin and substrate availability of 7-DHC [122]. A variety of other environmental and endogenous factors influence vitamin D<sub>3</sub> synthesis including latitude, season of the year, skin pigmentation, clothing, and use of sunscreen [122]. These factors are described in more detail in section 2.2.7 entitled "Factors affecting serum 25(OH)D levels".

Vitamin D can also be obtained through the diet, although to a smaller extent (~20%). Vitamin  $D_2$  (ergocalciferol) can be obtained from UV irradiation of the plant sterol, ergosterol, which is found in fungus [1]. A major source of naturally occurring vitamin  $D_2$  is sun-dried shitake

mushrooms (1600 IU of vitamin  $D_2$  per 3.5 oz serving) [1]. On the other hand, vitamin  $D_3$  (cholecalciferol) can be obtained from animal sources, such as cod liver oil (~400 IU of vitamin  $D_3$  per teaspoon) and oily fish (e.g., wild caught salmon, 600 IU to 1000 IU; mackerel, 250 IU of vitamin  $D_3$  per 3.5 oz serving) [1]. Given that there are a few naturally-occurring food sources of vitamin D, most countries including US and Canada fortify dairy products with vitamin D [123]. Fluid milk is voluntarily fortified with 385 IU/L of vitamin  $D_3$  in the United States [123]. In Canada, under the Food and Drug Regulation, vitamin  $D_3$  fortification of fluid milk (400 IU/L) and margarine (530 IU/100 G) is mandated [123]. Other voluntary vitamin D ( $D_2$  or  $D_3$ ) fortification practices include yogurts, bread products, cereals, orange juice, plant milk products, and infant formulas [123].

In addition to diet and sunlight exposure, vitamin D can be obtained from supplements. Vitamin D supplements can be in the form of either vitamin  $D_2$  or vitamin  $D_3$  [120]. Although vitamin D supplements can be vitamin  $D_2$  or  $D_3$ , it has been shown that vitamin  $D_3$  is more effective in raising blood 25(OH)D concentrations [124]. As such, it is generally recommended that vitamin  $D_3$  formulation be used for nutritional and clinical purposes [2,124]. In the United States, vitamin D supplements can be found in multi-vitamin and mineral formulations (usually containing 400 IU per dose) as well as a single over-the-counter supplement (400 IU to 5,000 IU or up to 50,000 IU per dose) [2]. In Canada, vitamin D supplements can also be found in multi-vitamin formulations (400 IU per dose) and as a single over-the-counter supplement with dosage levels ranging from 400-1,000 IU and dosages above 1,000 IU can be obtained by a prescription [2].

#### 2.2.3 Metabolism of Vitamin D

When vitamin D is obtained from the diet, it is absorbed with other dietary fats in the small intestine and is incorporated into chylomicrons, which are then transported into the circulation via the lymph system. Vitamin D can also be obtained through sun exposure, which involves the conversion of its precursor 7-DHC to previtamin D<sub>3</sub>, which then undergoes a temperature-sensitive isomerization (i.e., rearrangement of three double bonds) to form vitamin D<sub>3</sub> [122]. Vitamin D, whether endogenously synthesized or ingested, is an inactive prohormone and must undergo a two-step hydroxylation to become fully activated [125]. Vitamin D is transported in the blood mainly bound to vitamin D-binding protein (vDBP) and is first transported to the liver

where vitamin D is enzymatically hydroxylated by the cytochrome P450 enzyme, 25hydroxylase (CYP2R1 and/or CYP27A1), on carbon 25 to form 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D, calcidiol) [125]. Serum 25(OH)D is the major circulating form of vitamin D and is used to measure vitamin D status [2]. 25(OH)D is then transported to the kidney where it is enzymatically hydroxylated by the enzyme 1α-hydroxylase (CYP27B1) on carbon 1 to form the active vitamin D metabolite, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, calcitriol) [125]. While the conversion of vitamin D to 25(OH)D in the liver is not tightly regulated, synthesis of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D is strictly regulated by renal CYP27B1 activity to maintain a homeostatic range [125]. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D is feedback regulated by serum calcium, phosphorous, parathyroid hormone (PTH), and fibroblast growth factor-23 (FGF-23) [125]. Furthermore, to prevent excess synthesis, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D induces its own catabolism by stimulating the catabolic enzyme 24hydroxylase (CYP24A1) [125]. 24-hydroxylase restricts the availability of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D in two ways; i) by catalyzing the conversion of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D into 24-hyroxylated, biologically inactive, water-soluble calcitrioic acid (1,24,25-hydroxyvitamin D) targeted for excretion by the kidney; ii) by converting 25(OH)D to 24.25-hydroxyvitamin D to decrease the amount of 25(OH)D available for 1a-hydroxylation [125]. A schematic representation of the vitamin D metabolic pathway is illustrated in Figure 2-2 below.



Figure 2. 2 Human metabolism of vitamin D.

Reprinted by permission from [Springer Nature Terms and Conditions for RightsLink Permissions]: [Springer Nature] [Nature Reviews Cardiology] [(Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease prevention, Stefan Pilz et al.), [Macmillan Publishers Limited] (2016), published online 6 May 2016 (doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2016.73. [Nat Rev Cardiol]).

In addition to the renal production of  $1,25(OH)_2D$ , the  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase is also expressed in other vitamin D target tissues and cells including skin, pancreas, brain, prostate, and immune cells [125], which results in the extra-renal production of  $1,25(OH)_2D$  metabolite. While the  $1,25(OH)_2D$  metabolite can be locally synthesized by extra-renal tissues, the regulation of the non-renal  $1,25(OH)_2D$  remains an active area of research.

#### 2.2.4 Vitamin D Mechanism of Action

The biological actions of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D are mediated by the vitamin D receptor (VDR) [125]. The VDR belongs to the steroid receptor family which includes receptors for sex hormones, adrenal steroids, thyroid hormone and retinoic acid [125]. VDR is expressed in the classic vitamin D organs involved in calcium metabolism and homeostasis (i.e., intestine, bone, kidney); however, VDR has also been identified in other tissues and cells (i.e., heart, breast, colon, prostate and pancreas) [125].

The 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D hormone can enter the cell by diffusion, which is facilitated by binding of DBP to a cell surface receptor (i.e. megalin in the kidney) or can be locally synthesized (i.e., extrarenal conversion of 25(OH)D to 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D by CYP27B1) [125]. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D then binds to VDR in the cytoplasm and this induces a conformational change to interact with retinoic acid receptor (RXR) to form a heterodimer [125]. The activated 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D-VDR-RXR heterodimer then translocates to the nucleus and binds to specific DNA sequences [i.e., vitamin D response elements (VDREs)] in and around target genes to regulate their expression [125].

The classical function of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D is to maintain serum calcium levels within a normal range and to optimize bone health. There are three different mechanisms by which 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D maintains calcium homeostasis. The first mechanism is the well-established role of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D by increasing intestinal calcium absorption. This mechanism is based on the observation that the mineral and skeletal deformities of patients with hereditary vitamin D-resistant rickets (HVDRR, characterized by hypocalcemia, hyperparathyroidism, early-onset rickets, and organ resistance to 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D) were reversed when these patients were given intravenous or high oral calcium [126]. In addition, when VDR null mice, representing an animal model of HVDRR, are fed a rescue diet high in calcium, rickets and osteomalacia are prevented [127,128]. These observations demonstrate that a defect in VDR signaling will result in impaired intestinal calcium absorption, which in turn impairs proper bone mineralization. The second mechanism involves active calcium reabsorption by the kidneys (in the distal tubules), which is regulated by 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D and PTH [125]. When serum calcium levels drop below the normal range, PTH levels are elevated and this in turn increases the synthesis of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D in the kidney, which then increases calcium reabsorption at the distal tubules [125]. The third mechanism involves bone remodeling. Calcium is a major constituent of the bone and bone structural integrity relies on sufficient calcium levels from the circulating blood. Blood supply of calcium is dependent on intestinal calcium absorption and renal calcium reabsorption. In adults, the bone is under continuous remodeling, where bone resorption is in balance with bone formation. Under conditions of inadequate dietary calcium supply and increased renal calcium loss, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D works in conjunction with PTH to stimulate bone resorption, which in turn increases serum calcium levels [125]. In addition to mobilizing calcium from the bone, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D also inhibits bone matrix mineralization during a negative calcium balance and thereby preserves normal serum calcium levels [129].

The biological effects of  $1,25(OH)_2D$  are not limited to the maintenance of calcium homeostasis. The VDR is found in cells of organs not typically associated with calcium or bone metabolism [125]. In addition, the 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase (CYP27B1) enzyme is present in numerous non-renal cells and tissues including skin, brain, pancreas, prostate and macrophages [125], resulting in local synthesis of  $1,25(OH)_2D$  from circulating 25(OH)D. Over the course of the last decade, the non-classical action of vitamin D has been an active area of research.

#### 2.2.5 Assessment of Vitamin D Nutritional Status

The assessment of vitamin D nutritional status is based on measurement of circulating total 25(OH)D (sum of 25(OH)D<sub>2</sub> and 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>) concentration in serum or plasma, which reflects both food intake and endogenous production of vitamin D [2]. Although other biomarkers of vitamin D metabolism and status (i.e., 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, serum cholecalciferol, free/bioavailable 25(OH)D, vDBP, 3-epi-25(OH)D, and 24,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D) have been considered [130,131], total 25(OH)D is the accepted measure of vitamin D status [2]. In comparison to other vitamin D metabolites, serum 25(OH)D has a long half-life (~2 weeks), is directly linked to vitamin D substrate availability, and is widely studied in relation to various disease outcomes at the population level [2]. Therefore, total 25(OH)D is a reliable biomarker of vitamin D status at the population level [2,132].

#### 2.2.6 Measurement of 25-hydroxyvitamin D

Accurate and precise measurement of total 25(OH)D levels is required to estimate the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency at the population level and to establish robust cut-offs linked to various health outcomes [8]. Although total 25(OH)D is considered the best available biomarker of vitamin D status, measurement of total 25(OH)D has been problematic despite substantial improvement in precision and accuracy of most commercial assays [133,134]. It has become clear that the older assays used in many of the vitamin D clinical trials lacked both accuracy (i.e., the ability of a test to return the 'true' value) and precision (i.e., the ability of a test to return the same result with repeated testing) [132]. There are various commercially available assays that quantify total circulating 25(OH)D, ranging from immunoassays and chemiluminescence assays to liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) (currently the accepted goldstandard method) [135]. However, these assays vary in their quantification of total 25(OH)D, with an estimated 20% variability between assays (even when the same samples are retested) [8-10,136]. Given the availability of several assays for the quantification of total 25(OH)D, the International External Quality Assessment Scheme for Vitamin D metabolites (DEQAS) was established in 1989 to monitor the variability and reliability of 25(OH)D assays [9]. DEQAS and other studies have documented the large inter-assay and inter-laboratory variability in the measurement of total 25(OH)D [7,9,137]. Due to considerable imprecision and inaccuracy among different assays, the Office of Dietary Supplements of the U.S. National Institute of Health (NIH) launched the vitamin D standardization program (VDSP) in 2010 in an effort to standardize the laboratory measurement of serum 25(OH)D worldwide and to provide standardized reference measurement procedures and reference materials to assay manufacturers and clinical laboratories [7,138]. The VDSP performance limits for an assay require a mean bias of  $\leq$  5% and a coefficient of variation (CV) of  $\leq$  10% [138]. Most importantly, the availability of standardized serum 25(OH)D levels will allow pooling of 25(OH)D data across different studies, which will improve our understanding of the role of vitamin D in health and disease [7].

#### 2.2.7 Factors Affecting Serum 25(OH)D Levels

Numerous factors can affect cutaneous vitamin D synthesis and total circulating 25(OH)D levels. The solar zenith angle (SZA) is an important factor mediating the association between sun

exposure and cutaneous vitamin D synthesis [139]. The SZA is a function of time of day, year (season), and latitude; therefore, endogenous synthesis of vitamin D is minimal when the SZA is the largest (i.e., early morning and late afternoon, winter season from October to April, high latitude as measured by distance from the equator: living above 35 north latitude in the northern hemisphere) [140].

Advancing age has also been associated with reduction in the synthesis of vitamin D, due in part to decrease in 7-dehydrocholesterol levels and alterations in skin morphology [141]. Skin pigmentation is another factor influencing cutaneous vitamin D synthesis. Individuals with darker skin have a higher melanin content, which decreases UVB radiation reaching the skin [142]. In addition, sun avoiding behaviors as such as wearing clothing that covers most of one's body and use of sunscreen also reduces the amount of UVB radiation reaching the skin will significantly reduce cutaneous vitamin D synthesis [143,144] Other variables, such as air pollution, cloud cover, and sedentary behavior/physical inactivity can also impede sun exposure and thus reduce endogenous source of vitamin D. Genetic factors can also contribute to variability in total circulating 25(OH)D levels; however, genetics account for < 5% of the variance in 25(OH)D levels [145].

Body composition or level of adiposity is also another significant determinant of total circulating 25(OH)D levels. Populations with overweight and obesity have been consistently reported to have lower total 25(OH)D levels across age, ethnicity, and geography [22]. Moreover, a recent Mendelian randomization study confirmed the causal link between higher BMI and lower total 25(OH)D levels [23]. Ekwaru et al. observed substantial differences in serum 25(OH)D levels across categories of BMI and by absolute body weight (i.e., an average of 8.0 nmol/L and 20 nmol/L differences in participants with overweight and obesity relative to normal weight individuals) [146]. Initially, it was hypothesized that the lower 25(OH)D levels observed in patients with higher levels of adiposity was due to the increased sequestration of vitamin D in adipose tissue [147,148]. However, the most plausible hypothesis for the lower serum 25(OH)D levels observed among individuals with obesity is the greater volumetric dilution into fat, muscle, liver, and other tissues, and all of these compartments are increased in obesity [22,149]. Although individuals with overweight and obesity have significantly lower total 25(OH)D levels
than normal-weight individuals, the lower serum 25(OH)D levels may not necessarily reflect true vitamin D deficiency since most of the vitamin D is stored in adipose, muscle, and liver tissues and thus the amount distributed to serum is less [22]. Therefore, it is still not clear whether lower 25(OH)D levels observed among participants with overweight and obesity are associated with adverse health outcomes.

## 2.2.8 Recommended 25(OH)D Levels

Currently, there is no universal agreement in the definition of vitamin D deficiency, insufficiency, and sufficiency, as measured by serum concentration of total 25(OH)D, and there is discrepancy between two key guidelines from the Institute of Medicine (IOM) [2] and the Endocrine Society Task Force (ESTF) [16] (see Table 2-2 below). Serum concentrations for total 25(OH)D ranging from < 25 to < 75 nmol/L have been used as cut-off measures for vitamin D deficiency. The cut-off measures for vitamin D deficiency and sufficiency remains controversial mainly due to the unstandardized assays reporting great variability in outcomes and the lack of sufficient causality evidence from RCTs in relation to extra-skeletal health outcomes.

	Institute of Medicine	Endocrine Society
Deficiency	< 30 nmol/L	< 50 nmol/L
Insufficiency	30-< 50 nmol/L	52.5 - 72.5 nmol/L
Sufficiency	$\geq$ 50 nmol/L	$\geq$ 75 nmol/L

In 2011, the IOM updated the 1997 Dietary Reference Intakes (DRIs) for calcium and vitamin D and concluded that the evidence on skeletal, but not on non-skeletal health outcomes, was sufficient to provide a sound scientific recommendation for vitamin D intake requirements [2]. Therefore, the new DRIs for vitamin D were set in relation to skeletal health outcomes only (i.e., in relation to calcium absorption, bone mineral density, osteomalacia/osteoporosis, and rickets) [2]. In setting the new DRIs for vitamin D, the IOM used serum concentration of total 25(OH)D as a biomarker of vitamin D status and set reference levels for vitamin D under the assumption of minimal or no UVB exposure [2]. Given that there is no sufficient data by which to assess the dose-response relationships between vitamin D intakes and health outcomes, the IOM used total 25(OH)D as a biomarker of exposure (under the assumption of minimal or no sunlight exposure). In doing so, they set the estimated average requirement (EAR: median requirement meeting the

needs of 50% of the general population) at 40 nmol/L and the recommended dietary allowance (RDA: meeting the needs of 97.5% of the general population) at 50 nmol/L [2]. After setting the EAR and RDA, the committee then estimated the vitamin D intake required to achieve these target total 25(OH)D levels. To estimate the required vitamin D intakes, the committee performed a meta-regression analysis using aggregate data from RCTs that were performed during winter seasons at northern latitudes in Europe (> 49.5 °N) and in Antarctica (78 °S), and assessed the dose response relationship between the desired serum concentration of total 25(OH)D (i.e., RDA of 50 nmol/L) and vitamin D intake [2]. For infants, due to the insufficient evidence in estimating the EAR, adequate intakes (AI) were recommended instead of RDAs [2]. In addition to estimating the EAR, RDA, and AI for vitamin D, the committee also estimated the tolerable upper intake level (UL), which is the highest average daily intake that is likely to pose no risk of adverse health outcomes to almost all individuals in the general population [2]. Table 2-3 below provides a summary of the DRIs for vitamin D by life-stages.

Life-stage Group	AI	EAR	RDA	UL
0 to 16 mo	400 IU	-	-	1,000 IU
6 to 12 mo	400 IU	-	-	1,500 IU
1-3 y	-	400 IU	600 IU	2,500 IU
4-8 y	-	400 IU	600 IU	3,000 IU
9-13 y	-	400 IU	600 IU	4,000 IU
14-18 y	-	400 IU	600 IU	4,000 IU
19-30 y	-	400 IU	600 IU	4,000 IU
31-50 y	-	400 IU	600 IU	4,000 IU
51-70 y	-	400 IU	600 IU	4,000 IU
>70 y	-	400 IU	800 IU	4,000 IU
Pregnant or lactating				
14-18 y	-	400 IU	600 IU	4,000 IU
19-30 y	-	400 IU	600 IU	4,000 IU
31-50 y	-	400 IU	600 IU	4,000 IU

**Table 2. 3** Dietary Reference Intakes for vitamin D by life-stage

*Modified from Institute of Medicine 2011 report* [2]

In addition to the vitamin D guidelines published by the IOM and ESTF, other guidelines recommend different target levels for total circulating 25(OH)D, depending on the population of interest and health-outcome. The recommended target levels for total 25(OH)D range from >25-30 nmol/L (Health Council of the Netherlands [101], Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition (SACN) in UK [102]),  $\geq$  50 nmol/L (European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) [103]),  $\geq$  75 nmol/L (International Osteoporosis Foundation (IOF) [104], American Geriatrics Society (AGS) [105]), and  $\geq$  100 nmol/L (vitamin D council and a few experts [17,155]) with a corresponding recommended daily average intake ranging from 200 IU to 2000 IU for most adults [17]. In deriving the recommended daily average intake for vitamin D, a major limitation of the DRIs set by the nutritional guidelines is the use of aggregate data meta-regression analysis, which only captures between-study variability, but not between-individual variability, which may lead to inaccurate estimation of the DRIs for vitamin D intake. To address this limitation, Cashman et al. [156] recently performed a meta-regression analysis using both aggregate data and individual participant data (IPD, considered the gold-standard) from seven vitamin D RCTs (total 882 participants) conducted during wintertime. Cashmen et al. found that the vitamin D intake needed to achieve a 25(OH)D level of at least 50 nmol/L in  $\geq$  97.5% of the population was 560 IU/d using aggregate data, whereas it was 1,040 IU/d when estimated using the IPD methodology [156]. Therefore, the choice of meta-regression analysis can significantly affect the estimates for DRIs and the general consensus is that IPD meta-regression should be used when estimating the dose-response curves for nutritional guidelines [156].

Lastly, although the IOM set 4,000 IU/d as an upper daily dose of vitamin D that is likely to pose no risk of adverse health effects in adults, there is no consensus on the upper safe limit of serum 25(OH)D levels. Nonetheless, serum 25(OH)D > 250 nmol/L is generally considered the upper limit that is likely to increase the risk of toxicity [2,132]. This cutoff is in line with serum 25(OH)D levels of East Africans living in tropical weather conditions whose serum 25(OH)D do not exceed 250 nmol/L [157].

#### 2.3 Vitamin D and Cardiometabolic Disease Risk

#### 2.3.1 Background

In addition to the well-recognized role of vitamin D on skeletal health, emerging evidence suggests a potential role of vitamin D in cardiometabolic health outcomes, including insulin resistance, MetS, type-2 diabetes, and CVD. The earliest evidence on the link between vitamin D and CVD risk came from an ecological study by Robert Scragg in the early 1980s reporting a significant increase in CVD events in wintertime, the results of which led to the hypothesis that the increase in CVD events in winter might be a result of low serum 25(OH)D levels as a consequence of diminished sunlight exposure [119]. Early animal studies have also generated evidence on the link between vitamin D deficiency and impaired insulin secretion, a risk factor for type-2 diabetes [158–160]. Therefore, evidence from these earlier studies has generated new hypotheses and stimulated substantial research interest on the potential role of vitamin D in cardiometabolic health outcomes. Over the past decade, there have been numerous published studies on the non-skeletal health effects of vitamin D. The following sections will discuss the evidence from observational studies, Mendelian randomization studies, and randomized clinical trials (RCTs) of vitamin D supplementation that highlight research gaps.

#### 2.3.2 Evidence From Mechanistic Studies

Insight into the role of vitamin D in the cardiovascular system came from animal studies investigating the effects of systemic and tissue-specific knockout of the VDR and 1α-hydroxylase enzyme (CYP27B1). Systemic VDR and CYP27B1 null mice exhibit hypertension and cardiac hypertrophy [161,162]. VDR activation has been shown to suppress the activity of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system [RAAS], a regulator of blood pressure and fluid balance [163]. Cardiomyocyte-selective VDR null mice also exhibit cardiac hypertrophy independent of the RAAS activity, thus indicating a direct antihypertrophic effect of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D in vivo [164]. Mice with a systemic knockout of VDR also develop increased thrombogenicity [165]. Moreover, mice with knockout of VDR specifically in endothelial cells also develop endothelial dysfunction resulting from impaired blood vessel relaxation due to reduced endothelial expression of nitric oxide (NO) synthesizing enzyme, effects that are independent of the changes in RAAS activity [166,167]. In addition, the therapeutic role of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D has

been tested in hypertensive, heart-failure prone rat models, where treatment with  $1,25(OH)_2D$  in rats fed a high-salt diet reduced cardiac hypertrophy, an important factor in the progression of congestive heart failure [168].

Animal studies have also supported the role of vitamin D in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell function, insulin resistance, and systemic inflammation, which are major risk factors for type-2 diabetes. The antidiabetic properties of vitamin D have been supported in *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies showing vitamin D deficiency impairs insulin secretion in rat pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells [158,159,169] and vitamin D supplementation improves impaired insulin secretion [158,160]. VDR is expressed in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, and vitamin D may directly affect  $\beta$ -cell function through binding of  $1,25(OH)_2D$  to the VDR [170]. Moreover, the 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase enzyme (CYP27B1) is also expressed in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, thereby allowing local synthesis of the active 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D metabolite [171]. Furthermore, in mice lacking a functional VDR, insulin secretion is impaired due to a reduction in insulin biosynthesis [172]. In humans, low serum 25(OH)D has been associated with impaired insulin secretion [173–175]; however, this observation has not been consistent across all studies [176]. The antidiabetic properties of vitamin D has also been linked to improving insulin sensitivity in insulin-responsive tissues [177]. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D stimulates the expression of insulin receptors via binding to a vitamin D response element (VDRE) in the insulin receptor gene promoter [178–180]. Vitamin D may indirectly influence insulin sensitivity via regulation of calcium homeostasis, PTH, and fat infiltration in the liver and skeletal muscle [177,181–183]. Systemic inflammation is also involved in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus and CVD. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D down regulates nuclear factor kappa-light-chain of activated B cells (NFkappaB), which is a major transcription factor for TNF -alpha and other inflammatory mediators [184]. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D may also protect against inflammation-induced diabetes risk and atherosclerosis through inhibition of foam cell formation and cholesterol uptake in macrophages [185,186]. Other immune-modulating effects of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D include inhibition of dendritic cell differentiation, inhibition of lymphocyte proliferation, and enhanced regulatory T-lymphocyte development [187].

#### 2.3.3 Evidence From Observational Studies

Low circulating serum 25(OH)D has been associated with indices of insulin resistance [12,188– 191]; however, this association has not been consistent [176,192]. On the other hand, evidence on the association between vitamin D deficiency and incident type-2 diabetes has been more consistent; in a meta-analysis of 21 longitudinal cohorts (76,220 participants; 4996 incident diabetes cases), Song et al. reported a 38% relative risk reduction in type-2 diabetes for participants in the highest versus the lowest category of serum 25(OH)D [193]. Importantly, Song et al. showed that the dose-response relationship between serum 25(OH)D and type-2 diabetes risk was linear, where risk of diabetes declined monotonically with increasing serum 25(OH)D levels with no evidence of a threshold effect [193]. In relation to hypertension risk, a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies including a total of 283,537 individuals and 55,816 incident cases of hypertension showed a 12% relative risk reduction in hypertension with every 25 nmol/L higher baseline 25(OH)D level [pooled RR=0.88 (0.81-0.97)] [194]. In relation to atherogenic lipid profile, the association between vitamin D deficiency and dyslipidemia has been mainly reported in cross-sectional study designs, where serum 25(OH)D has been shown to be positively associated with HDL-cholesterol and negatively associated with triglycerides [195]. Moreover, vitamin D deficiency has been also associated with inflammation and chronic kidney disease [196,197].

For CVD events, most of the observational studies support the link between vitamin D deficiency and increased risk of CVD (including myocardial infarction, stroke and CVD mortality) [4]. Although the inverse association between serum 25(OH)D and CVD risk has been consistent, some studies reported a J-shaped association, where both low (< 70 nmol/l) and high total 25(OH)D levels (> 125 nmol/l) were associated with increased risk of CVD [198]. However, in a recently updated meta-analysis of longitudinal cohorts (180,667 participants; 9,170 CVD deaths, 7,074 ischemic heart disease cases, 3,127 stroke cases, and 3,037 heart failure cases), Zhang et al. reported a 10% (RR=0.90, 95% CI: 0.86, 0.94) and 12% (RR=0.88, 95% CI: 0.80, 0.96) relative risk reduction in total CVD events and CVD mortality, respectively, per 25 nmol/L higher baseline 25(OH)D level [33]. Moreover, the highest risk for CVD was observed with 25(OH)D <60nmol/L and there was evidence of a non-linear association between

serum 25(OH)D and total CVD events and CVD mortality, although no evidence of a J-shaped association was observed [33]. In relation to the J-shaped association, it has been hypothesized that the increased CVD risk observed among those with high serum 25(OH)D levels > 125 nmol/L might be due to initiation of vitamin D supplementation or increased sun exposure as a consequence of a diagnosis of vitamin D deficiency or a clinical disease [199]; however, other unknown factors could also play a role.

While the link between vitamin D deficiency and CVD risk has been mostly consistent across observational studies, observational data is subject to residual confounding despite careful adjustments for confounders. Many disease conditions will reduce physical mobility and subsequently sun exposure, which may lead to reverse causality [200]. Moreover, the older assays used in previous studies assessing the association between serum 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic health outcomes are problematic because they lacked both accuracy and reliability in the measurement of total 25(OH)D. Specifically, unreliable and inaccurate measurement of 25(OH)D results in misclassification of individuals with respect to their serum 25(OH)D levels, which can lead to null associations in some subgroups (i.e., type-II statistical error) [8]. Moreover, while observational studies are useful in determining the dose-response relationship, pooling unstandardized 25(OH)D data in observational studies may lead to erroneous conclusions regarding the shape of the dose-response relationship and the inaccurate measurement of 25(OH)D prevents defining the absolute level of 25(OH)D that is associated with increased risk. Therefore, population based studies with available standardized measurement of 25(OH)D are needed to accurately assess the nature of dose-response relationship (e.g., linear versus non-linear relationship) as well as defining the absolute level of 25(OH)D that is associated with increased cardiometabolic disease risk. In addition to these limitations, most observational studies have been conducted in predominantly white/European populations and the role of vitamin D in other ethnic subpopulations is not well characterized. Although it is well known that there are large differences in serum concentrations of 25(OH)D between ethnic subpopulations (particularly in black and dark-skinned ethnic populations living in northern latitudes) [2,142], only a few studies have assessed the differences in 25(OH)D levels in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes. Using unstandardized measurement of serum 25(OH) from NHANES data (1988-1994 and 2001-2006), ethnic-specific differences in diabetes

risk have been reported, where a significant negative association between 25(OH)D and type-2 diabetes risk was observed in Mexican-Americans and non-Hispanic whites, but not in non-Hispanic blacks [12,201]. Similarly, the association between serum 25(OH)D and heart failure and stroke has been found significant in whites but not in blacks [14,15]. Lastly, Robinson-Cohen et al. also reported an increased risk of coronary heart disease in vitamin D deficient whites and Chinese, but not in black or Hispanic subpopulations [13]. Therefore, results from studies conducted in predominantly white/European populations may not be generalizable to other ethnic subpopulations and it is important to further assess ethnic-specific variations using standardized measurement of 25(OH)D.

#### 2.3.4 Evidence From Mendelian Randomization Studies

Mendelian randomization studies use information on genetic variations in single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that are involved in vitamin D metabolism to assess whether genetic variants affecting serum 25(OH)D concentrations are associated with a disease outcome [202]. By design, Mendelian randomization studies are not limited by confounding factors or reverse causation and therefore can provide a high level of evidence comparable to RCTs. In addition, Mendelian randomization studies capture the long-term exposure of vitamin D status (i.e. lifelong) and thus are considered to have an advantage over RCTs that are usually conducted for a short period of time (i.e., < 5 years).

To date, genome-wide association studies have identified five genetic loci that are associated with 25(OH)D concentrations [145,203]. These identified genes encode proteins that are involved in vitamin D metabolism, such as 7-dehyrocholesterol reductase (DHCR7), 25-hydroxylase (CYP2R1), 1 $\alpha$  -hydroxylase (CYP27B1), 24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1), and vDBP (GC, group component) [145,202,203]. The genes encoding these proteins have been studied in Mendelian randomization studies to assess whether genetic variants affecting the synthesis and metabolism of vitamin D are associated with cardiometabolic health outcomes.

In relation to cardiovascular risk factors, a Mendelian randomization study reported a causal relationship between high 25(OH)D levels and a favorable lipid profile [204]. In another study, the causal relationship between genetically determined 25(OH)D was significant only in relation

to non-fasting remnant cholesterol (i.e., triglyceride-rich lipoproteins); however, no significant association in relation to HDL or LDL cholesterol was found [205]. In relation to markers of inflammation, a Mendelian randomization study did not support a causal association between genetically determined 25(OH)D and CRP levels [206]. For hypertension, a Mendelian randomization study using genes encoding vDBP levels as a proxy for 25(OH)D concentration found no causal association in relation to hypertension [207]; however, in another larger study, using genes encoding the 25-hydroxylase (CYP2R1) and DHCR7 as a proxy for 25(OH)D concentration, the authors found that a 10% increase in genetically determined 25(OH)D was associated with a significant decrease in diastolic BP (-0.29 mm Hg, 95% CI -0.52 to -0.07), systolic BP (-0.37 mm Hg, 95% CI -0.730 to 0.003), and 8.1% relative reduction in odds of hypertension (OR 0.92, 95% CI 0.87-0.97) [208].

In relation to type-2 diabetes risk factors, genes encoding the vDBP were not causally associated with fasting glucose or insulin levels [207]. For incident type-2 diabetes, a study reported a causal association between genetically determined 25(OH)D and type-2 diabetes risk [209]; however, this finding has not been supported by other Mendelian studies [210,211]. For type-1 diabetes, genes encoding CYP27B1, CYP2R1, and DHCR7 have been shown to be causally related to type-1 diabetes risk, supporting a genetic etiological role of vitamin D deficiency in type-1 diabetes [212]. Lastly, a small Mendelian study supported a causal link between serum 25(OH)D and adiponectin levels (considered to protect against cardiovascular diseases) [213].

In relation to CVD events, Mendelian randomization studies using genotypes of SNPs in vDBP levels, CYP2R1 or DHCR7 do not support a causal relationship between genetic variants affecting 25(OH)D concentration and coronary artery disease, stroke, or cardiovascular mortality [207,214–216]. In a large Mendelian study by Afzal et al., the odds ratio for a 20 nmol/L lower baseline 25(OH)D concentration was associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular mortality (OR 1.13, 95% CI 1.03-1.24), however, genetically determined 25(OH)D was not associated with cardiovascular mortality (OR 0.77, 95% CI 0.55-1.08) [217].

Although Mendelian randomization studies are considered to have a high-level of evidence and to have the same advantages as RCTs in avoiding confounding and reverse causation, there are

certain assumptions in Mendelian studies that may not apply to vitamin D. Specifically, the tested genetic variants account for < 5% of the variation in 25(OH)D levels and may be further confounded by pleiotropic effects of genetic variants. Most importantly, Mendelian randomization studies are limited by the assumption of a linear association between genetic variants of 25(OH)D levels and a disease outcome [3,5]; this assumption may not hold for vitamin D because the association between serum 25(OH)D and CVD has been shown to be non-linear [33,218]. Therefore, Mendelian randomization studies may not be suitable for establishing causality in certain disease outcomes if the relationship between vitamin D and a disease outcome is nonlinear.

#### 2.3.5 Evidence From Randomized Controlled Trials

There are several RCTs and meta-analyses of RCTs that show a beneficial effect of vitamin D supplementation on blood pressure in adults, specifically in those with vitamin D deficiency and elevated blood pressure [219–222]. However, in a large meta-analysis published in 2015 by Beveridge et al. that included 46 RCTs (4,541 participants), there was no evidence of a beneficial role for vitamin D supplementation in lowering blood pressure [223]. Moreover, results from a recent RCT showed that monthly, high-dose vitamin D supplementation (200,000 IU initially and 100,000 IU/month thereafter) for ~1.1 years (median; range 0.9-1.5 years) did not significantly reduce blood pressure in the overall sample; however, in a subgroup analysis of participants with 25(OH)D <50 nmol/L, there was a significant reduction in aortic systolic BP (-7.5 mm Hg, 95% CI -14.4 to -0.6) and significant reductions in indices of arterial stiffness including augmentation index (-5.7 mm Hg, 95% CI -10.8 to -0.6), pulse wave velocity (-0.3 m/s, 95% CI, -0.6 to -0.1), peak reservoir pressure (-8.6 mm Hg, 95% CI -15.4 to -1.9), and backward pressure amplitude (-3.6 mm Hg, 95% CI -6.3 to -0.8) [224]. In another recent RCT, Raed et al. found a significant improvement in arterial stiffness in African American participants  $(BMI \ge 25 \text{ kg/m}^2)$  who were deficient in vitamin D (25(OH)D < 50 nmol/l) at baseline, with greatest improvements observed among those who supplemented with 4,000 IU/d of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> for 16 weeks [225]. In summary, although the evidence from RCTs seems to be inconsistent, research to date does suggest a beneficial role of vitamin D supplementation in hypertension, particularly in individuals with 25(OH)D < 50 nmol/L.

In relation to type-2 diabetes risk, the majority of the trials have reported null findings, with some reporting small effects on indices of insulin resistance and glucose parameters in patients with pre-diabetes and type-2 diabetes. In a meta-analysis of 35 RCTs (a total of 43,407 participants), vitamin D supplementation had no significant effect on fasting glucose or HbA1c, insulin resistance, or incident type-2 diabetes among those with normal glucose tolerance [226]. In the same meta-analysis by Seida et al, nearly significant improvements in fasting glucose and HbA1c were detected for individuals with prediabetes receiving vitamin D supplementation [226]. In another recent meta-analysis of 10 RCTs targeting those with prediabetes, vitamin D supplementation significantly reduced fasting plasma glucose and HbA1c levels [227]. On the other hand, the largest RCT in Tromso, Norway for the prevention of type-2 diabetes did not support a beneficial role of vitamin D supplementation (20,000 IU/week for 3 years) for decreasing the risk of type-2 diabetes in pre-diabetic patients, despite a seemingly lower rate of incident diabetes throughout the study period [HR 0.90, 95% CI 0.69-1.18] [228]. Therefore, the results from the Tromso trial remain inconclusive because the trial was underpowered to detect small but clinically significant reductions in diabetes risk [228]. Among patients with type-2 diabetes, a meta-analysis of 15 RCTs published in 2012 by George et al. reported a significant reduction in fasting glucose (-5.76 mg/dL or -0.32 mmol/L) and improvement in insulin sensitivity in patients given vitamin D supplementation versus placebo [229]. Since this metaanalysis, three new meta-analyses have been published in 2017 [230–232]. In the first, among patients with type-2 diabetes, Wu et al. reported significant reductions in HbA1c (standardized mean difference (SMD) -0.25, 95% CI -0.45 to -0.05) with vitamin D supplementation, however, no significant reduction in fasting glucose was found (SMD -0.14, 95%CI -0.31 to 0.03) [230]. However, among patients with baseline total 25(OH)D < 50 nmol/L, Wu et al. reported significant reductions in HbA1c (SMD -0.39, 95% CI -0.67 to -0.10) and fasting glucose (SMD -0.27, 95% CI -0.46 to -0.07) [230]. In the second, Mirhosseini et al. reported significant reductions in fasting glucose [-4.9 mg/dL, 95% CI -8.1 to -1.6 mg/dL], HbA1c [-0.30%, 95% CI -0.45% to -0.15%], and insulin resistance assessed by HOMA-IR [-0.66, 95% CI -1.06 to 0.26] [231] among patients with type-2 diabetes who supplemented with vitamin D, with a minimum dose of 4,000 IU/day [231]. Lastly, the meta-analysis by Krul-Poel et al. did not find significant reductions in HbA1c levels after vitamin D supplementation, except within a subgroup of studies (n=4) with a mean baseline HbA1c  $\geq$  8% wherein vitamin D supplementation significantly

decreased fasting glucose [232]. Taken together, vitamin D supplementation is unlikely to provide additional benefits in people with normal glucose tolerance [226]. However, to date, only one such RCT [233] reported significant improvements in insulin resistance in vitamin D deficient (25(OH)D < 50 nmol/L) South Asian women receiving 4000 IU/d of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> for 6 months. Evidence also remains inconclusive for the effects of vitamin D supplementation in preventing the progression of pre-diabetes to diabetes [228,234–242], although vitamin D supplementation may help improve glycemic control and insulin sensitivity in patients with type-2 diabetes [229–232].

Trials have also reported inconsistent results on the relationship between vitamin D and inflammatory markers, such as CRP and tumor necrosis factor [243–245]. In the context of favorable lipid profile, the majority of RCTs do not support a role of vitamin D supplementation [246,247].

Results of RCTs for cardiovascular events have also been inconsistent and remain inconclusive [248–252]. Results from the RECORD trial (Randomized Evaluation of Calcium or Vitamin D) including 5,292 participants showed that vitamin D supplementation (800 IU/d) in older adults (age  $\geq$  70 years) with a previous history of fracture significantly reduced risk of heart failure (HR 0.75, 95% CI 0.58 to 0.97); however, no significant effects were detected for myocardial infarction (HR 0.97, 95% CI 0.75 to 1.26) or stroke (HR 1.06, 95% CI 0.8 to 1.32) [251]. In the same study, the authors also conducted a meta-analysis of 21 RCTs (total of 13,033 participants) and found that vitamin D supplementation had no effect on heart failure (HR 0.82, 95% CI 0.58-1.15), myocardial infarction (HR 0.96, 95% CI 0.83-1.10), or stroke (HR 1.07, 95% CI 0.91-1.29) [251]. In another meta-analysis of RCTs of vitamin D supplementation with or without calcium, vitamin D had no effect on the incidence of myocardial infarction/ischemic heart disease or stroke/cerebrovascular disease [252]. The results remained similar when RCTs with or without calcium supplementation were analyzed separately [252]. A Cochrane review in 2014 including 56 RCTs with 95.286 participants showed that vitamin  $D_3$  supplementation significantly reduced all-cause mortality (RR 0.94, 95% CI 0.91 to 0.98) and cancer-mortality (RR 0.88, 95% CI 0.78 to 0.98); however, no beneficial effects were observed for cardiovascular mortality (RR 0.98, 95% CI 0.90 to 1.07) [253]. Lastly, results from the Vitamin D Assessment

(VIDA) study conducted in New Zealand also did not support a beneficial role of vitamin  $D_3$  supplementation (initial dose of 200,000 IU followed a month later by monthly doses of 100,000 IU, median 3.3 years) in relation to incident CVD and CVD mortality, and results were similar in a subgroup analysis of individuals with 25(OH)D < 50 nmol/L [254].

Although most RCTs to date have failed to show a beneficial role of vitamin D supplementation in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes, the inconclusive evidence from RCTs should not be interpreted as 'evidence of absence of a beneficial effect' [255]. It has been widely recognized in the literature that the design of most RCTs of vitamin D supplementation to date have had significant shortcomings [5,256]; most RCTs have not included CVD related outcomes as their primary endpoint, used low doses of vitamin D or insufficient doses to appreciably increase 25(OH)D levels, have been short in duration (< 5 years), and used different formulations of vitamin D (D<sub>3</sub> versus D<sub>2</sub>) and dosage schedules (i.e. steady versus intermittent dosing schedules). In relation to dosing schedules, there is currently no consensus regarding the optimal vitamin D dosing schedule and numerous RCTs to date have administered bolus intermittent supplementation strategy (i.e., monthly, once every 3-12 months) in order to increase participant compliance. However, Bruce Hollis has previously suggested that steady intake of vitamin D (i.e., daily) may be more beneficial than intermittent bolus intake because of the difference produced in serum vitamin D (cholecalciferol) and 25(OH)D concentrations [257]. For instance, a large bolus dose results in a large spike in both serum vitamin D and 25(OH)D concentrations and an immediate drop-off in serum vitamin D concentration followed by a more gradual but pronounced drop in 25(OH)D [258]. In contrast, daily dosing results in less pronounced increases in serum vitamin D and 25(OH)D levels and maintains both serum vitamin D and 25(OH)D at steady levels over a longer period of time [258]. Without a steady supply of vitamin D, serum 25(OH)D levels fluctuate greatly with bolus dosing and individuals might still be vitamin D deficient in spite of increase in serum 25(OH)D level [258,259]. In line with this hypothesis, it has been shown that daily supplementation is more beneficial than intermittent dosing schedule for the prevention of respiratory infections [260] which might also be the case for other health outcomes such as CVD. Therefore, vitamin D dosing schedule is an important variable to consider when assessing the totality of evidence of causality for the role of vitamin D

supplementation in cardiometabolic health outcomes and more research in this area is needed to ascertain the optimal dosing schedule.

Another significant shortcoming of RCTs is the recruitment of vitamin D sufficient participants (i.e., if the non-linear association holds true for cardiometabolic health outcomes then including individuals with 25(OH)D level above the critical inflection point dilutes any beneficial effect of vitamin D supplementation and decreases the power of the study to detect statistically significant effects) [6]. To date, none of the RCTs of vitamin D supplementation in relation to incident CVD outcomes have targeted individuals with vitamin D deficiency. In line with this hypothesis, Brenner et al. recently showed that if RCTs recruited vitamin D deficient individuals only, then the power of the study would be sufficient to detect significant effects [261].

Furthermore, previous studies (observational and RCTs) have used unstandardized serum 25(OH)D data and variations in assay performance have contributed to the misclassification of individuals with respect to their serum 25(OH)D levels [8]. It is well recognized that misclassification often yields null associations (i.e., type-II statistical error) [8]. Due to the assay measurement issues, most RCTs to date have relied on vitamin D intake or supplementation dose rather than measuring achieved serum 25(OH)D levels. Numerous factors can affect serum 25(OH)D levels and therefore it is important to monitor serum 25(OH) levels throughout the study to ascertain a target level that is associated with a disease outcome. Moreover, the low response rates observed in RCTs weaken their external validity and there is large uncertainty as to whether results from RCTs are generalizable to the general population [5]. In addition, RCTs are susceptible to contamination and unblinding (i.e., participants in the placebo group have easy access to over the counter vitamin D supplements and blood testing which could dilute the effect of the vitamin D supplementation in the intervention group) [5]. Therefore, it is crucial to monitor serum 25(OH)D throughout the trial to prevent bias due to contamination and unblinding in the placebo group.

## 2.4 Summary of Research Gaps in the Literature

Although most underpowered RCTs have failed to show a beneficial role of vitamin D supplementation in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes, emerging evidence from well-

designed longitudinal studies, RCTs and some Mendelian randomization studies suggest a potential role for vitamin D in reducing cardiometabolic risk and its underlying pathophysiological disorders such as insulin resistance and hypertension. Currently, it is widely accepted that circulating total 25(OH)D levels is the best available marker of vitamin D status, reflecting both sun exposure and dietary vitamin D intake. However, the measurement of total 25(OH)D has been problematic, especially with regard to accuracy and precision of commercially available older assays [7,9]. Imprecise and inaccurate measurement of serum concentrations of 25(OH)D may lead to misclassification of individuals [8], which may result in inconsistent findings across studies. Therefore, many of the studies conducted to date have often been limited by imprecise and inaccurate measurement of circulating total 25(OH)D levels. The VDSP was launched in 2010 to promote the standardization of 25(OH)D laboratory procedures worldwide, recognizing the necessity for accurate and precise measurement of 25(OH)D in clinical and research laboratories. Moreover, the optimal vitamin D status (as measured by serum 25(OH)D) remains controversial and there is discrepancy between national guidelines for recommended levels of total 25(OH)D. The discrepancy between national guidelines is partly due to the differences in laboratory assays for 25(OH)D and the inconsistent findings from epidemiological and RCT data in relation to non-skeletal health outcomes. For non-skeletal health outcomes, disagreement still exists about whether the optimal level of 25(OH)D is higher than the currently recommended levels of 25(OH)D for bone health [18]. It has been previously proposed that a 25(OH)D level of > 75-100 nmol/L is the optimal cutoff for cardioprotective properties of vitamin D [4]. On the other hand, some studies have suggested a J-shaped association of vitamin D with CVD risk, whereby lower (< 70 nmol/L) and higher (> 125 nmol/L) levels of vitamin D are associated with increased CVD mortality [198]. Therefore, the desired level of 25(OH)D in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes is largely unknown and more research in this area is needed to assess the shape of the dose-response relationship between serum 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic health outcomes, using standardized measurement of total 25(OH)D concentration.

Many studies have also been conducted in predominantly white/European populations and the role of vitamin D in other ethnic subpopulations is not well characterized. Although it is well known that there are large differences in serum concentrations of 25(OH)D between ethnic

subpopulations (particularly in black and dark-skinned ethnic populations living in northern latitudes) [2,142], only few studies have assessed differences in 25(OH)D levels in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes. Of interest, Robinson-Cohen et al. reported an increased risk of coronary heart disease in vitamin D deficient whites and Chinese, but not in black or Hispanic subpopulations [13]. Similarly, the association between serum 25(OH)D and heart failure and stroke was found to be significant in whites but not in blacks [14,15]. Therefore, results from studies conducted in predominantly white/European populations may not be generalizable to other ethnic subpopulations and it is important to further study the role of vitamin D in other ethnic subpopulations, who are at a higher risk of vitamin D deficiency compared to whites/European populations.

In addition to sun exposure behaviors, dietary vitamin D intake, and skin pigmentation, it has been recently shown that serum level of 25(OH)D is also largely determined by body composition [22] and that obesity is a risk factor for vitamin D deficiency [23]. The relationship between vitamin D status and cardiometabolic health outcomes may be confounded by adiposity levels. Individuals with overweight and obesity have consistently lower serum 25(OH)D levels compared to individuals with normal-weight [22]; however, whether the lower serum 25(OH)D levels observed in in these populations reflects a clinical problem is largely unknown [22]. In addition, within the obesity category, the MHO (metabolically healthy obesity) phenotype displays low to intermediate risk for cardiometabolic health outcomes; however, the biomarkers underlying the healthy metabolic profile of the MHO phenotype are not fully elucidated. Vitamin D has been hypothesized to play a key role in preserving the healthy metabolic profile of MHO phenotype [25]; however, conflicting evidence exists in the literature [26,27]. Moreover, while previous studies have investigated the individual contributions of overweight and obesity, metabolic health, and vitamin D status in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes, their joint associations are largely unknown. Therefore, assessment of the joint contributions of vitamin D and metabolic health phenotype will be useful for evaluating whether vitamin D status plays a significant role in modifying the relationship between different metabolic health phenotypes and cardiometabolic health outcomes. Identification of novel risk markers may therefore help to identify cost-effective interventions that could be beneficial for helping individuals transition from a high-risk metabolically unhealthy state to a metabolically healthy state [24].

Lastly, although circulating total 25(OH)D concentration is accepted as the best marker of vitamin D status (i.e., biomarker of exposure), in their 2011 report, the IOM raised concerns over the utility of serum total 25(OH)D as a biomarker of effect (i.e., whether levels of 25(OH)D is causally related to and is a reliable predictor of the health outcome of interest) [2]. Several studies have shown a significant inverse association between serum 25(OH)D levels and cardiometabolic disorders; however such associations are not necessarily causal or predictive of the health outcome of interest [2]. Therefore, a significant association does not necessarily support the clinical utility or the predictive value of a biomarker in the context of long-term disease risk prediction at the population level [19–21]. Moreover, the clinical manifestation of vitamin D deficiency occurs over a long period of time (i.e., osteoporosis in elderly) and it is not known whether prolonged exposure to low vitamin D levels increases the residual lifetime risk of adverse cardiometabolic health outcomes. In the context of long-term disease risk prediction, national guidelines suggest that clinicians should consider patients' risk factor burden within the context of lifetime risk [29,30]. The association between traditional CVD risk factors (i.e., smoking, dyslipidemia, diabetes, and hypertension) and lifetime risks for CVD has been well established [31,32]. However, the effect of serum 25(OH)D status on the lifetime risk of CVD events has not been evaluated. Therefore, this thesis will also attempt to assess the clinical utility and predictive ability of serum 25(OH)D independently and jointly with other traditional risk factors in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes (i.e., insulin resistance and cardiometabolic mortality).

In summary, although RCTs are the gold-standard in evidence based medical research, it is well recognized that RCTs are more difficult to conduct properly and test the right dose-response in a targeted population for a sufficient time period [262]. Due to time, cost, and challenges related to proper design of RCTs, evidence on the role of vitamin D in relation to non-skeletal health outcomes is likely to continue to emerge from a range of study designs including well-designed cohort studies with available standardized 25(OH)D data [5]. Therefore, this thesis will attempt to address some of the knowledge gaps mentioned above, specifically by assessing the association of standardized serum 25(OH)D data with cardiometabolic health outcomes (i.e., insulin resistance, MetS and Framingham 10-year CVD risk) to: i) further explore variation by

ethnicity (Chapter 4); ii) assess the clinical utility of serum 25(OH)D along with traditional risk factors in the diagnosis of asymptomatic individuals with insulin resistance and estimate the optimal threshold level associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis (Chapter 5); iii) evaluate the joint association of metabolic health phenotype (across BMI categories) and vitamin D status in relation to cardiometabolic mortality (Chapter 6), and iv) evaluate the association between vitamin D deficiency (independently and jointly with traditional CVD risk factors) and residual lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality both overall and across the spectrum of BMI (Chapter 7).

# **Chapter 3: Research Objectives**

## **Objective 1**

The first objective of this thesis was to examine the association between standardized total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic health outcomes in an ethnically diverse U.S population cohort (NHANES, 2001-2010).

*Aim 1a*- To assess the cross-sectional association of standardized total 25(OH)D with indices of cardimetabolic health outcomes (i.e., HOMA-IR, MetS and Framingham CVD risk). *Aim 1b*- To assess the ethnic-specific association of standardized total 25(OH)D with indices of cardiometabolic disorders (HOMA-IR, MetS, and CVD risk) in Mexican-Americans, non-Hispanic whites, and non-Hispanic U.S. blacks.

## **Objective 2**

The second objective of this thesis was to assess the clinical utility of standardized total 25(OH)D in the diagnosis of insulin resistance and estimate the optimal total 25(OH)D level using cross-sectional data from NHANES, 2001-2010.

*Aim 2a*: To assess the clinical utility of measuring total 25(OH)D along with traditional risk factors in the detection of insulin resistance in asymptomatic adults without diagnosed diabetes. *Aim 2b*: To estimate the optimal level of serum 25(OH)D associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis.

## **Objective 3**

The third objective of this thesis was to evaluate the separate and combined associations of obesity, vitamin D, and metabolic health with all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality using data from the Third NHANES (1988-1994) with mortality follow-up data through December 31, 2011.

*Aim 3a*: To investigate the relative contribution of obesity in the absence of metabolic dysfunction on the incidence of all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality.

*Aim 3b*: To assess the joint association of metabolic health phenotype and vitamin D with allcause and cardiometabolic mortality.

## **Objective 4**

The fourth objective of this thesis was to assess the association between vitamin D status and lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality using data from NHANES III (1988-1994) with mortality follow-up data through December 31, 2011.

*Aim 4a*: To assess whether a single measurement of total 25(OH)D in middle- to older-aged adults is associated with lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality and to further explore variation by BMI.

*Aim 4b*: To evaluate the combined effect of total 25(OH)D and traditional cardiovascular disease risk factors on the remaining lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality and to further explore variation by BMI.

# Chapter 4: Study 1- Standardized serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D concentrations are inversely associated with cardiometabolic disease in U.S. adults: A cross-sectional analysis of NHANES, 2001-2010.

Chapter 4 has been previously published.

Al-khalidi B, Kimball SM, Rotondi MA, Ardern CI. Standardized serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D concentrations are inversely associated with cardiometabolic disease in U.S. adults: A cross-sectional analysis of NHANES, 2001-2010. *Nutrition Journal (2017)* 16:16. DOI 10.1186/s12937-017-0237-6.

© The Author(s). 2017 Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

#### Authors' contribution:

The authors' responsibilities were as follows: data acquisition (BA), conception (BA, CIA), statistical analysis (BA), drafting of manuscript (BA), critical review, editing, and interpretation of results (BA, SMK, MAR, and CIA).

#### 4.1 Abstract

**Background:** Previously reported associations between vitamin D status, as measured by serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] concentrations, and cardiometabolic risk factors were largely limited by variability in 25(OH)D assay performance. In accordance with the Vitamin D Standardization Program, serum 25(OH)D measurement was recently standardized in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) to reduce laboratory and method related differences in serum 25(OH)D results. We evaluated the overall and ethnic-specific associations between the newly standardized serum 25(OH)D concentrations and cardiometabolic risk in U.S. adults.

**Methods:** This study examined standardized 25(OH)D data from five cycles of the NHANES (2001-2010). The total sample included 7,674 participants (1,794 Mexican-Americans, 4,289 non-Hispanic whites, and 1,591 non-Hispanic blacks) aged  $\geq$  20 years who were examined in the morning after overnight fasting. Serum 25(OH)D was directly measured by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) in 2007-2010, and was predicted from LC-MS/MS equivalents for 2001-2006. Serum 25(OH)D levels were categorized into quartiles (< 43.4, 43.4-58.6, 58.7-74.2,  $\geq$  74.3 nmol/L). Cardiometabolic risk was defined by the homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), metabolic syndrome (MetS), and Framingham cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk. Prevalence ratios and 95% confidence intervals were calculated using modified Poisson regression.

**Results:** After full adjustment for confounders, serum  $25(OH)D \ge 74.3$  nmol/L was associated with lower cardiometabolic risk compared to 25(OH)D < 43.4 nmol/L in the overall sample [HOMA-IR: 0.70 (0.59, 0.84); MetS: 0.82 (0.74, 0.91); CVD risk: 0.78 (0.66, 0.91)]. These associations remained significant in Mexican-Americans [HOMA-IR: 0.54 (0.35, 0.82); MetS: 0.73 (0.55, 0.96)], non-Hispanic whites [HOMA-IR: 0.81 (0.68, 0.96); MetS: 0.84 (0.73, 0.95); CVD risk: 0.78 (0.64, 0.93)]; and in non-Hispanic blacks [HOMA-IR: 0.67 (0.45, 0.99); MetS: 0.75 (0.56, 0.97); CVD risk: 0.58 (0.41, 0.81)].

**Conclusions:** Low vitamin D status is a significant risk factor for cardiometabolic disease in U.S. adults based on standardized serum 25(OH)D results, irrespective of ethnic background. Future studies using standardized 25(OH)D data are needed to confirm these results, particularly amongst U.S. blacks with 25(OH)D concentrations above 75 nmol/L.

#### 4.2 Background

A role in the renin-angiotensin aldosterone system (RAAS) and extensive immunomodulatory properties have identified vitamin D as a potential modifiable risk factor in cardiometabolic disorders [218,249,263]. Measurement of vitamin D status is based on circulating total 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] concentrations, which reflect both food intake and endogenous production of vitamin D. Low serum 25(OH)D levels have been linked to a range of non-skeletal health conditions in adults, including metabolic disorders and cardiovascular diseases [264–268]. In addition, vitamin D is thought to play a protective role against the development of type-2 diabetes by improving the insulin secretion of pancreatic beta cells and by maintaining glucose homeostasis [173,189,269–271]. However, studies investigating the relation between vitamin D status and cardiometabolic disorders are inconsistent [272–275]. Among the possible explanations for this discrepancy include the substantial heterogeneity among definitions for vitamin D deficiency, different age and ethnic distributions, and large variations in the performance of serum 25(OH)D assays.

Previous analyses of the NHANES have relied on unstandardized serum 25(OH)D measured by the Diasorin radioimmunoassay (RIA) kit, a method that has been criticized for its lack of precision and documented bias [11,276]. In accordance with the vitamin D Standardization Program (VDSP), the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recently released the standardized serum 25(OH)D data files in October, 2015 [277]. The standardized 25(OH)D data provide the most reliable estimates of serum 25(OH)D concentrations using the ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method [278]. The LC-MS/MS method has improved sensitivity and specificity for serum 25(OH)D metabolites compared to previous immunoassay methods, and the standardization of serum 25(OH)D data allows for comparison across different survey cycles of the NHANES, providing sufficient power to study risk associated with varying concentrations of serum 25(OH)D. Thus, previously reported associations between serum 25(OH)D with cardiometabolic disorders using unstandardized serum 25(OH)D data from previous cycles of NHANES (1988-1994, and 2001-2006) were likely affected by method-related variations in serum 25(OH)D assays.

In addition to the assay-related differences in serum 25(OH)D results, ethnic variations in the relationship between vitamin D status and cardiometabolic disorders have been documented, with mixed results. For example, ethnic-specific differences in diabetes risk by serum 25(OH)D status have been confirmed in previous NHANES cycles (1988-1994, and 2001-2006), where an inverse relationship between unstandardized 25(OH)D concentrations and type-2 diabetes risk was observed in Mexican-Americans and non-Hispanic whites, but not in non-Hispanic blacks [12,201]. Similarly, 25(OH)D concentrations were significantly associated with fatal stroke and heart failure in NHANES III, with increased risk seen in white participants with low 25(OH)D, but not in black participants [14]. Finally, in a prospective study, an increased risk of coronary heart disease events was reported in white or Chinese participants with low serum 25(OH)D, but not in blacks or Hispanics [13].

Previous analyses using unstandardized data were likely confounded by large variations in serum 25(OH)D results, and ethnic-specific analyses were further constrained by small sample sizes in underrepresented populations, such as U.S. blacks, adding more uncertainty to these estimates. Accurate assessment of the overall and ethnic-specific variations in vitamin D is therefore crucial, and dependent upon the use of standardized data with sufficient statistical power to examine ethnic differences in the relationship between vitamin D status and cardiometabolic risk. Thus, the purpose of this study was to provide a comprehensive assessment of cardiometabolic risk including insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular disease risk in relation to serum 25(OH)D levels in U.S. adults, and to estimate the ethnic-specific associations using the newly standardized serum 25(OH)D data from NHANES 2001-2010.

#### 4.3 Subjects and Methods

#### 4.3.1 Participants

Conducted by the NCHS, NHANES is a series of stratified, multistage probability surveys designed to collect cross-sectional data on the health and nutritional status of the civilian, non-institutionalized U.S. population. NHANES is an ongoing survey and data are reported in 2-year intervals, which are available for public use [279]. NHANES oversamples certain under-represented groups in the population, including Mexican Americans, blacks, older adults and

those of lower socioeconomic status. Each survey cycle consists of an in-home interview, physical examinations and laboratory tests. Descriptions of the standardized protocols used for data handling during the interview, laboratory, and physical examinations have been previously published [280].

We initially identified 23,968 adults  $\geq$  20 years with available standardized serum 25(OH)D data from 2001-2010. We excluded 10,939 participants who fasted < 8 hours, 466 pregnant women, 1,355 participants in "other Hispanic" or "other race" category, 73 with serum albumin < 2.9 g/dL, 1,081 with estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) < 60 mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>, and 2,380 participants with missing covariate information. Those in the "other Hispanic" category were excluded due to a change in the 2007-2010 NHANES sampling design, where Hispanics were oversampled instead of only the Mexican-American population [281]. As such, we only included those in the "Mexican-American" category. The final analytical sample included 7,674 adults  $\geq$ 20 years who fasted for  $\geq$  8 hours and self-identified themselves as Mexican-American (MA), non-Hispanic white (NH-white), or non-Hispanic black (NH-black). A flowchart for study sample derivation is shown in **Figure 4.1**. NHANES was approved by the NCHS institutional board and all adults provided written informed consent [282].

#### 4.3.2 Measurement of Serum 25(OH)D

For 2007-2010, serum 25(OH)D metabolites were analyzed by the CDC laboratory using the LC-MS/MS method and total serum 25(OH)D (nmol/L) was calculated as the sum of 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> and 25(OH)D<sub>2</sub>, excluding the C3-epi-25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> metabolite. For 2001-2006, serum 25(OH)D levels were initially measured using the Diasorin RIA kit (Stillwater, MN); however, due to concerns about bias and imprecision for the Diasorin RIA assay, the CDC developed regression equations to convert RIA values to LC-MS/MS equivalents for NHANES 1988-1994 and 2001-2006 [278]. In order to combine serum 25(OH)D measurements, we used the predicted LC-MS/MS equivalent total serum 25(OH)D data from 2001-2006 and the total serum 25(OH)D data from 2007-2010.

#### 4.3.3 Outcome Variables

#### Insulin Resistance

Insulin resistance was estimated by the homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance index (HOMA-IR), calculated as the product of the fasting insulin concentration ( $\mu$ U/ml) and the fasting plasma glucose concentration (mmol/L), divided by 22.5 [49]. We defined insulin resistance as HOMA-IR  $\geq$  75<sup>th</sup> percentile (sex- and ethnic-specific). Fasting glucose concentrations were measured by a Hexokinase enzymatic method, and serum insulin concentrations were measured by a radioimmunoassay in 2001-2002, a two-site immunoenzymometric method in 2003-2004 and an ELISA two-site enzyme immunoassay method in 2005-2010.

#### Metabolic Syndrome

We used the revised U.S. National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III (NCEP/ATPIII) report to define MetS [58] as 3 or more of the following 5 criteria: 1) waist circumference (WC)  $\geq$  102 cm in men or  $\geq$  88 cm in women; 2) triglycerides  $\geq$  1.7 mmol/L or medication; 3) high density lipid (HDL) cholesterol < 1.0 mmol/L in men or < 1.3 mmol/L in women or medication; 4) blood pressure (BP)  $\geq$  130/85 mmHg or treatment for hypertension; 5) fasting blood glucose  $\geq$  5.6 mmol/L or treatment for diabetes. WC and BP data were collected during physical examinations and descriptions of the standardized protocol are provided in the NHANES Anthropometry Procedures Manual [283]. Up to four BP readings were obtained during the physical examination and the average BP was estimated using the BP protocol provided by NHANES [284]. Triglycerides were measured enzymatically in serum samples from the morning session. HDL-cholesterol was measured using either the Heparin manganese precipitation method or a direct HDL-cholesterol immunoassay method. Prescription medication use was self-reported during the in-home interview. Using the standardized generic prescription drug codes, medication use was classified into four drug categories; HDL-specific medications, lipid medications, anti-hypertensive medications, and anti-hyperglycemic medications.

#### Framingham CVD Risk

The Framingham CVD risk score was used to estimate the 10-year composite risk for coronary heart disease, stroke, peripheral artery disease, and heart failure [65]. In the first step of the algorithm, point scores for age, sex, total and HDL cholesterol, SBP, treatment of hypertension, smoking, and diabetes status were assigned [65]. CVD risk scores were subsequently computed for each participant based on age- and sex-specific criteria (range for men: -3 to  $\geq$  18; women: -3 to  $\geq$  21), which were then translated into a participant's absolute 10-year risk for a CVD event. The specific details on the point scores for the CVD risk algorithm are provided in Tables 5-8 in reference [65]. In our study, an absolute risk of  $\geq$  15% was defined as "high" and an absolute risk of < 15% as "low" for 10-year predicted risk. These cutoffs were calibrated to approximate the absolute CVD risk associated with insulin resistance (12.6%) and MetS (14.9%) in our study sample.

Total cholesterol was measured enzymatically at Johns Hopkins lipid laboratory (Baltimore, MD). Treatment of hypertension was established from self-reported anti-hypertensive medications. Smoking status (0=nonsmokers, 1=current smokers) was self-reported during the in-home interview. Diabetes status was defined as a fasting glucose  $\geq$  126 mg/dL (7.0 mmol/L) or current use of diabetes medication.

#### 4.3.4 Confounders

Age, sex, ethnicity, smoking status, educational attainment, physical activity (PA), dietary supplement intake and use of medications were self-reported by questionnaire during the inhome interview. Educational attainment was categorized as less than high school, high school graduate, and some college or college graduate or higher. The PA questionnaire included a series of questions related to participant's daily activities, leisure-time activities, and sedentary activities at home. Participants self-reported the number of days in the past month or in a typical week they engaged in daily and leisure time activities and the average duration for these activities. A metabolic equivalent (MET) of 4.0 for moderate, and 8.0 for vigorous intensity PA were used to estimate the MET minutes/week for each participant. Supplemental intake of vitamin D for 2007-2010 was obtained from 24-hour dietary recall, and total daily vitamin D intake was estimated across all supplement sources for 2001-2006. Vitamin D supplementation

was categorized as "any" versus "nonusers". Season corresponds to season of blood draw, which was reported by NHANES as winter months (November-April) and summer months (May-October). Standing height and weight were measured during the physical examination and were used to calculate body mass index (BMI: kg/m<sup>2</sup>).

#### 4.3.5 Statistical Analysis

For descriptive statistics, weighted means for continuous variables and weighted percentages for categorical variables along with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were used. Differences in descriptive statistics across ethnic groups were assessed by survey-weighted Wald-F-Test and Chi-square tests to examine the independence of means and frequencies, respectively.

Modified Poisson regression models with robust error variances were used to estimate the prevalence ratios (PRs) and 95% CIs for cohort studies [285,286]. Serum 25(OH)D concentrations were categorized into quartiles (< 43.4, 43.4-58.6, 58.7-74.2,  $\geq$  74.3 nmol/L). To calculate the PRs for each outcome, the lowest 25(OH)D quartile (<43.4 nmol/L) was considered as the referent group (PR=1.00). The models were adjusted for confounders such as age, sex, ethnicity, education, season of blood draw (winter, summer), survey cycle (corresponding to survey year), BMI, vitamin D supplement use, smoking, total PA and relevant medication use (lipid-lowering and anti-hyperglycemic medications). The adjustment of these confounders in the models was based on the association of the confounder variables with both the outcome measures and serum 25(OH)D levels. Pairwise interactions with ethnicity and age were explored by including the product terms in the models (i.e. 25(OH)D\*ethnicity and 25(OH)D\*age). Models for insulin resistance, MetS, and CVD risk were subsequently stratified by ethnicity, and the CVD risk model was further stratified by age groups (i.e. 20-59 and  $\geq$  60 years). To explore the possibility of differential bias by comorbid conditions, a series of sensitivity analyses was conducted after the exclusion of participants with physician diagnosed diabetes and CVD (congestive heart failure, coronary hearts disease, angina, heart attack, and stroke), and relevant medication use (i.e. lipid, blood pressure, and anti-hyperglycemic medications). To ensure the representativeness of the data, clinical fasting weights were applied to account for survey cluster design, oversampling, and nonresponse. Statistical analysis was performed using SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC) survey procedures, which appropriately accounted for cluster sampling and

the complex sample design of NHANES. All statistical tests were two-tailed at the alpha=0.05 level of significance.

## 4.4 Results

## 4.4.1 Participant Characteristics

Baseline characteristics of the participants are shown in **Table 4.1**. Overall, the mean age of the sample was 45.3 (44.7, 45.9), and the majority of the sample was NH-white (55.9 % NH-white, 23.4 % MA, and 20.7 % NH-black). Of the 7,674 participants, 22.5% (21.0, 24.1) were taking vitamin D supplements, with supplement use significantly higher in NH-whites [24.8% (22.8, 26.7)] compared to MAs [13.0% (11.0, 15.0)] and NH-blacks [14.7% (12.1, 17.3)]. The prevalence of MetS in the total sample was 36.1% (34.6, 37.6), and NH-whites had the highest prevalence of MetS [36.9% (35.0, 38.8)] compared to MAs [34.8% (31.5, 38.1)] and NH-blacks [31.6% (29.0, 34.0)]. The absolute CVD risk in the total sample was 7.92% (7.63, 8.20), and NH-Whites had significantly higher absolute CVD risk [8.26% (7.93, 8.59)] compared to MAs [5.85% (5.40, 6.31)] and NH-blacks [7.19% (6.77, 7.61)].

# 4.4.2 Serum 25(OH)D and HOMA-IR

The adjusted PRs for cardiometabolic risk by 25(OH)D quartiles in the total sample are shown in **Table 4.2.** After adjusting for age, sex, BMI, PA, ethnicity, season, survey cycle, education, smoking, and use of vitamin D supplement, lipid-lowering and anti-hyperglycemic medications, the highest 25(OH)D quartile ( $\geq$  74.3 nmol/L) had a 30% relative risk reduction in HOMA-IR [0.70 (0.59, 0.84)] compared to those in the lowest quartile (< 43.4 nmol/L). The associations remained significant across all ethnic groups (**Table 4.3A**). The highest relative risk reduction was observed in MAs [0.54 (0.35, 0.82)], followed by NH-blacks [0.67 (0.45, 0.99), and NH-whites [0.81 (0.68, 0.96)] with serum 25(OH)D  $\geq$  74.3 nmol/L compared to the lowest 25(OH)D quartile (< 43.4 nmol/L).

# 4.4.3 Serum 25(OH)D and MetS

Overall, serum 25(OH)D levels  $\geq$  74.3 nmol/L were associated with a 18% risk reduction in MetS [0.82 (0.74, 0.91)] compared to the lowest 25(OH)D quartile (**Table 4.2**). The association of serum 25(OH)D with MetS remained significant across all ethnic-groups (**Table 4.3A**). For MAs, the second 25(OH)D quartile (Q2: 43.4-58.6 nmol/L) had a 20% relative risk reduction in MetS [0.80 (0.66, 0.97) and the highest quartile a 27% risk reduction in MetS [0.73 (0.55, 0.96)] compared to the lowest quartile. Significant associations were observed only in the highest 25(OH)D quartile in NH-whites [0.84 (0.73, 0.95)] and NH-blacks [0.74 (0.56, 0.97)] compared to the lowest quartile.

#### 4.4.4 Serum 25(OH)D and CVD risk

In the overall sample, the relative reduction in CVD risk was 14% in the second 25(OH)D quartile [0.86 (0.76, 0.98)], and 22% in the highest versus lowest 25(OH)D quartile [0.78 (0.66, 0.91)] (**Table 4.2**). In ethnic-specific analyses, significant associations were observed amongst the highest versus lowest quartiles for NH-whites [0.78 (0.64, 0.93)] and NH-blacks [0.58 (0.41, 0.81)], but not in MAs [0.90 (0.69, 1.16)] (**Table 4.3A**).

There was a significant interaction between serum 25(OH)D and age in the CVD risk model. This is consistent with the Framingham CVD risk because age is the most heavily weighted variable in the algorithm, as shown in **Figure 4.2.** Therefore, we further stratified the association of serum 25(OH)D with CVD risk by age groups (20-59 and  $\geq 60$  years). **Table 4.4** shows the adjusted PRs of CVD risk associated with 25(OH)D quartiles by age category. Overall, stratification by age resulted in similar results compared to the main model, except that the PRs for CVD risk in participants for 20-59 years old were lower compared to participants  $\geq 60$  years old. Age stratification did not affect the observed non-significant association of 25(OH) with CVD risk in MAs. For NH-blacks, significant associations were attained in participants  $\geq 60$  years for the highest quartile [0.63 (0.45, 0.870], but no significant association was found in participants 20-59 years old.

#### 4.4.5 Sensitivity Analyses

After excluding participants with comorbid conditions, the estimates of PRs for the adjusted associations of 25(OH)D with HOMA-IR, MetS and CVD risk remained statistically significant (**Table 4.2**). Similarly in the ethnic-specific analyses, the adjusted associations of 25(OH)D with HOMA-IR, MetS and CVD risk were numerically similar in MAs and NH-Whites after excluding participants with comorbid conditions, although the associations were attenuated for NH-Blacks due to significant reductions in the number of events, particularly in the highest

serum 25(OH)D quartile (**Table 4.3B**). Overall, the sensitivity analyses revealed the stability of the PRs estimates in the original models.

#### 4.5 Discussion

In this study, we have shown that standardized serum 25(OH)D concentrations were inversely associated with insulin resistance, MetS and CVD risk in a nationally representative sample of U.S adults. These associations remained significant across all ethnic subgroups, except for CVD risk in MAs. Overall, the results of our study suggest that serum 25(OH)D concentrations  $\geq$  75 nmol/L may be the optimal threshold in relation to cardiometabolic risk. To our knowledge, this study provides the most recently updated and comprehensive estimate of the association between standardized serum 25(OH)D levels and cardiometabolic risk, and unlike previous studies, our findings demonstrate that low 25(OH)D is a significant risk factor for cardiometabolic risk in U.S. blacks.

The inverse associations between vitamin D status and insulin resistance, MetS and CVD risk are aligned with previous epidemiologic studies. Of note, previous analyses of NHANES have found an inverse association between unstandardized serum 25(OH)D levels with insulin resistance and pre-diabetes [269,287], MetS [264], and CVD mortality [288]. Similarly, prospective studies have shown an inverse association between serum 25(OH)D and insulin resistance [191] and incident CVD in the Framingham Offspring Study [265], and incidence of MetS in a cohort of non-diabetic adults [268].

Previous studies have shown ethnic differences in the association of serum 25(OH)D with cardiometabolic risk factors. Ethnic differences between serum 25(OH)D and risk of diabetes were found in NHANES III [12], and confirmed in NHANES 2001-2006 with significant inverse associations in MAs and NH-whites, but not in NH-Blacks [201]. In a prospective study, Robinson-Cohen et al. [13] reported a significant increase in the risk of coronary heart disease events with low 25(OH)D levels in whites and Chinese, but not in black or Hispanic participants from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Lutsey et al. [289] also observed that low 25(OH)D levels were a stronger risk factor for the development of heart failure in whites than black participants from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study. Conversely, our results

showed a significant inverse association of standardized 25(OH)D with cardiometabolic risk in MAs, NH-Whites, and NH-blacks.

Our results are in contrast to the vitamin D paradox observed in blacks, where prior studies have suggested that even though blacks have circulating 25(OH)D in the deficient range (< 50 nmol/L), a compensatory mechanism exists in relation to bone health [290,291]. At this time, it is not fully understood whether other compensatory mechanisms exist in relation to cardiovascular health outcomes, but it has been speculated that vitamin D binding protein (DBP) levels in blacks are significantly lower compared to whites to compensate for lower total serum 25(OH)D in blacks. It has also been suggested that total 25(OH)D may not be the best biomarker of vitamin D status in blacks [292]. However, the monoclonal immunoassay used by Powe et al. [292] has been criticized for its lack of sensitivity to DBP polymorphisms, which provides erroneous results for vitamin D metabolites [293]. Using a novel LC-MS/MS method, Henderson et al. [294] recently showed that levels of DBP do not vary between whites and blacks. Therefore, it is possible that the use of immunoassays in a population with a low range of vitamin D metabolites results in inaccurate total 25(OH)D concentrations in blacks and that the results from existing immunoassays might be insufficient to allow identification of a significant association within these populations.

Previous attempts to assess the ethnic-specific association between cardiometabolic disorders and 25(OH)D have been limited due to reliance on samples with a low number of blacks within the upper range of 25(OH)D concentrations (i.e.  $\geq$  75 nmol/L). In comparison with prior work, our results suggest significant risk reductions in NH-blacks, which we speculate is due to reduced variation from the standardization of 25(OH)D measurements across all NHANES survey cycles [278]. Moreover, the lowest levels of 25(OH)D were observed in NH-blacks in our study, supporting the hypothesis that black Americans have reduced cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D due to increased skin pigmentation and decreased sun exposure [142]. In support of this hypothesis, Alzaman et al. [295] did not observe any systemic difference in the absorption or bioavailability of oral vitamin D metabolites between US blacks and whites, neither do their results support the paradoxical clinical correlates of vitamin D in US blacks [295]. Taken together, our results add to the current evidence by demonstrating that total circulating 25(OH)D is a significant biomarker of cardiometabolic risk in U.S. blacks.

Although mechanisms relating vitamin D deficiency and cardiometabolic risk factors are not fully elucidated, several important mechanisms warrant discussion. Insulin resistance is the core trait of the metabolic disturbances observed in MetS, type-2 diabetes and CVD risk [296]. The presence of vitamin D receptors (VDRs) in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells suggest that the active metabolite  $1-\alpha-25$ -dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> (1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>) could directly influence insulin secretion [297]. Since insulin secretion is a calcium dependent process, it is possible that 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> modulates insulin secretion by increasing intracellular calcium levels [297]. Moreover, vitamin D deficiency promotes secondary hyperparathyroidism, stimulates the RAAS, which in turn increases the secretion of aldosterone [298]. Both low serum 25(OH)D and high PTH levels are related to arterial stiffness and vascular dysfunction, which are significant elements of hypertension and CVD risk [299]. It is possible that lower 25(OH)D and higher serum PTH levels could synergistically or independently play a role in the pathogenesis of developing hypertension and future CVD [300]. Due to the lack of data in our study, we were not able to elucidate the role of PTH in our analyses, however, the exclusion of participants with eGFR < 60mL/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup> reduces the potential confounding of secondary hyperparathyroidism caused by chronic renal failure and the impaired vitamin D metabolism by the diseased kidneys. Future studies using standardized serum 25(OH)D data are needed to re-evaluate the optimal 25(OH)D thresholds that maximally suppress PTH levels [7]. The complexity of vitamin D and PTH metabolism makes it challenging to fully disentangle the individual contributions of these factors and warrants further investigation.

In addition, the relationship between vitamin D deficiency and metabolic traits of these diseases is confounded by adiposity where individuals with obesity have lower serum 25(OH)D levels compared to normal-weight individuals and this is consistent across different age and ethnic groups [301–304]. Hence, serum 25(OH)D concentrations are related to fat mass and changes in serum PTH, and adipokines, such as leptin and adiponectin, may be crucial in elucidating the relationship between vitamin D, PTH and metabolic disturbances [305,306]. It is possible that normal vitamin D metabolism may be disrupted in obesity due to elevated levels of serum leptin,

which has been shown to suppress the conversion of 25(OH)D to 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub> [307]. Although we were not able to further adjust for leptin levels, we adjusted for BMI, which is a proxy for fat mass and leptin levels [308]. Moreover, given that obesity and metabolic diseases are associated with low-grade inflammation, the anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory properties of vitamin D have been suggested and supported by previous studies showing an inverse, but inconsistent, relationship between vitamin D and inflammatory markers such as C-reactive protein (CRP) [309–311]. A recent Mendelian randomization study found no causal relationship between vitamin D and CRP [206], which suggests that it is unlikely that vitamin D deficiency directly contributes to increased inflammation or vice versa. In our study, we found no evidence of the potential confounding effect of CRP levels on the relationship between serum 25(OH)D and all outcome measures (data not shown). Taken together, experimental and observational studies suggest that the relationship between vitamin D and cardiometabolic disorders are multimodal and mediated through direct and indirect pathways. Further, it is important that the results of this study are interpreted according to variation in vitamin D metabolism genes, which could explain the heterogeneity of responses to vitamin D deficiency across ethnic groups [312].

Although the evidence from previous observational studies and our results suggest that serum 25(OH)D levels  $\geq 75$  nmol/L are associated with lower risk of cardiometabolic disorders compared to  $25(OH)D \leq 50$  nmol/L, these findings have not been consistent in clinical trials [313–316]. Among the possible explanations for these differences include the substantial heterogeneity in the definition of vitamin D deficiency, different age structure and target population (i.e., vitamin D deficient versus sufficient individuals), primary versus secondary prevention of CVD, differences in the available assays used to measure vitamin D metabolites, as well as the inclusion of different confounders in their analyses. Although the relationship between optimal vitamin D status and cardiovascular health remains to be elucidated, the standardization of serum 25(OH)D data and the large sample size of our study allowed a comprehensive estimate of the association between 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic risk in US adults using a nationally representative survey sample. Given that many risk factors for CVD are clustered in insulin resistance and MetS, it is reasonable to speculate that low 25(OH)D is a significant risk factor in their development, which may ultimately contribute to increased CVD risk. Future studies must be sufficiently powered to estimate the overall benefit, as well as study

the risks and benefits associated with varying circulating 25(OH)D concentrations in ethnic subpopulations.

There are several limitations to this study. Due to the cross-sectional design, we are unable to rule out the possibility of reverse causation. Although we have adjusted for potential confounders, we cannot rule out residual confounding or the effect of unmeasured confounders. Further, seasonality of serum 25(OH)D levels in NHANES must be considered a confounder because of the sampling design wherein data is collected from northern states in the summer and southern states in the winter. This sampling design results in higher average 25(OH)D and an increased range of 25(OH)D concentrations in northern states. Despite these limitations, our study provides national estimates of the association between serum 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic risk in the U.S. population and in ethnic subgroups using standardized serum 25(OH)D data from 2001-2010.

#### 4.6 Conclusion

In this large national sample, standardized serum 25(OH)D concentrations were significantly associated with cardiometabolic risk including insulin resistance, MetS and CVD risk in U.S. adults, and low 25(OH)D is a significant risk factor for cardiometabolic risk in MAs, NH-whites, and NH-blacks. Standardization of serum 25(OH)D allows accurate assessment of vitamin D status, and future studies are needed to re-evaluate these risks in black Americans with serum 25(OH)D concentrations above 75 nmol/L.



**Figure 4. 1** Flowchart showing the exclusion criteria for sample derivation, NHANES 2001-2010.
	All (N=7674)		Ma Am (N=	Mexican Americans (N=1794)		-Hispanic es (N=4289)	No Blac	n-Hispanic ks (N=1591)	*P-value
Age (years)	45.3	44.7, 45.9	38.7	37.8, 39.6	46.6	45.9, 47.3	41.7	40.9, 42.6	< 0.0001
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	28.5	28.3, 28.6	28.8	28.5, 29.2	28.2	27.9, 28.4	30.1	29.7, 30.5	< 0.0001
WC (cm)	97.7	97.3, 98.2	97.1	96.2, 98.0	97.8	97.2, 98.3	98.3	97.3, 99.3	0.225
25(OH)D (nmol/L)	65.5	64.2, 66.9	53.9	52.4, 55.4	70.2	68.9, 71.5	42.2	40.3, 44.0	< 0.0001
Winter <sup>†</sup>	59.4	57.6, 61.3	52.3	50.6, 54.0	65.8	63.9, 67.8	39.8	38.2, 41.3	< 0.0001
Summer <sup>‡</sup>	69.4	67.9, 70.9	58.4	55.8, 60.9	72.3	70.8, 73.8	44.9	41.8, 48.1	< 0.0001
Supplement nonusers	62.5	61.0, 64.0	52.9	51.3, 54.4	67.4	65.9, 69.0	39.9	38.1, 41.7	< 0.0001
Supplement users	75.9	74.2, 77.5	60.5	58.2, 62.7	78.5	76.9, 80.2	55.4	50.8, 59.9	< 0.0001
Vitamin D Supplement Use (%)	22.5	21.0, 24.1	13	11.0, 15.0	24.8	22.8, 26.7	14.7	12.1, 17.3	< 0.0001
HOMAIR	3.06	2.97, 3.16	3.76	3.52, 4.00	2.93	2.81, 3.05	3.4	3.20, 3.59	< 0.0001
MetS (%)	36.1	34.6, 37.6	34.8	31.5, 38.1	36.9	35.0, 38.8	31.6	29.0, 34.0	< 0.01
Absolute CVD risk (%)	7.92	7.63, 8.20	5.85	5.40, 6.31	8.26	7.93, 8.59	7.19	6.77, 7.61	< 0.0001
Self-reported Diabetes (%)	7.4	6.69, 8.10	8.76	7.33, 10.2	6.85	5.97, 7.74	10.1	8.42, 11.8	< 0.01
Self reported CVD (%)	6.34	5.61, 7.08	3.66	2.60, 4.71	6.66	5.79, 7.53	6.34	5.10, 7.59	< 0.0001
Medication Use (%)									
<b>Blood Pressure</b>	22.2	20.8, 23.7	9.88	8.26, 11.5	23.4	21.7, 25.1	24.2	22.1, 26.4	< 0.0001
Lipid	13.4	12.2, 14.5	6.06	4.65, 7.47	15	13.6, 16.3	8.31	6.90, 9.71	< 0.0001
Diabetes	5.2	4.58, 5.82	6.12	5.00, 7.24	4.8	4.06, 5.55	7.24	5.85, 8.61	< 0.01
Current smokers (%)	23.8	22.3, 25.4	19.1	16.7, 21.4	24.2	22.4, 26.1	24.8	22.2, 27.4	< 0.01
Education (% College)	58	55.8, 60.2	28.1	25.0, 31.1	62.6	59.7, 65.4	50.5	47.5, 53.4	< 0.0001

Table 4. 1 Population Characteristics of U.S. Adults (≥ 20 years) in NHANES 2001-2010.

Values are weighted means or frequencies (%), and 95% CIs. \**P* values are based on Wald F-Test or Chi-square test, which test the independence of means and frequencies across ethnic groups.

<sup>+</sup> Participants sampled from November – April. <sup>‡</sup> Participants sampled from May – October.

	HOMAIR			Metabolic Syndrome				CVD Risk (≥ 15%)				
	Yes	No	PR	95% CI	Yes	No	PR	95% CI	Yes	No	PR	95% CI
Overall Sample												
25(OH)D quartile (nmol/L)	es											
< 43.4	656	1231		Ref		1034		Ref	487	1400		Ref
43.4 - 58.6	529	1365	1.02	0.89, 1.17	825	1069	1.04	0.95, 1.13	495	1399	0.86 <sup>‡</sup>	0.76, 0.98
58.7-74.2	444	1528	0.89	0.76, 1.04	835	1137	1.00	0.90, 1.10	553	1419	0.90	0.79, 1.02
≥ 74.3	289	1632	0.70 <sup>‡</sup>	0.59, 0.84	630	1291	0.82 <sup>‡</sup>	0.74, 0.91	430	1491	0.78 <sup>‡</sup>	0.66, 0.91
*Healthy Sample												
25(OH)D quartile (nmol/L)	es											
< 43.4	347	890		Ref	361	876		Ref	150	1087		Ref
43.4 - 58.6	272	993	0.88	0.73, 1.06	350	915	0.99	0.84, 1.15	139	1126	0.85	0.64, 1.14
58.7-74.2	192	1076	0.83	0.66, 1.03	330	938	0.97	0.80, 1.17	141	1127	0.77	0.57, 1.04
≥74.3	108	1145	0.60 <sup>‡</sup>	0.45, 0.81	193	1060	0.65 <sup>‡</sup>	0.52, 0.80	119	1134	0.64 <sup>‡</sup>	0.47, 0.87

**Table 4. 2** Prevalence ratios of cardiometabolic risk associated with serum 25(OH)D status in U.S. adults, NHANES 2001-2010.

Models are adjusted for age, sex, education, ethnicity, season of blood draw, survey cycle, smoking, BMI, total physical activity, vitamin D supplement use, and lipid and anti-hyperglycemic medications.

\*Healthy Sample excludes those with self-reported diabetes, CVD, and taking medications (lipid, diabetes, blood pressure). Healthy sample models are adjusted for age, sex, education, ethnicity, season of blood draw, survey cycle, smoking, BMI, total physical activity, and vitamin D supplement use. \*P < 0.05.

**Table 4. 3A** Ethnic-specific prevalence ratios for cardiometabolic risk according to serum 25(OH)D status,NHANES 2001-2010.

	HOMAIR			Metabolic Syndrome			rome		CVD	Risk (≥ 1	5%)	
	Yes	No	PR	95% CI	Yes	No	PR	95% CI	Yes	No	PR	95% CI
<i>Mexican America</i> 25(OH)D quartil (nmol/L)	ins es											
< 43.4	175	346		Ref	263	258		Ref	122	399		Ref
43.4 - 58.6	156	445	0.9	0.70, 1.15	253	348	$0.80^{\ddagger}$	0.66, 0.97	132	469	0.85	0.66, 1.09
58.7-74.2	94	366	0.82	0.63, 1.07	188	272	0.95	0.78, 1.16	109	351	0.87	0.67, 1.14
≥74.3	25	187	0.54 <sup>‡</sup>	0.35, 0.82	67	145	0.73 <sup>‡</sup>	0.55, 0.96	45	167	0.90	0.69, 1.16
<i>Non-Hispanic Wi</i> 25(OH)D quartil (nmol/L)	h <i>ites</i> es											
< 43.4	178	274		Ref	255	197		Ref	156	296		Ref
43.4 - 58.6	290	623	1.33	0.94, 1.36	452	461	1.07	0.95, 1.21	271	642	0.86	0.73, 1.01
58.7-74.2	314	998	0.93	0.77, 1.24	565	747	1.00	0.88, 1.14	378	934	0.88	0.75, 1.04
≥ 74.3	290	1322	0.81 <sup>‡</sup>	0.68, 0.96	528	1084	$0.84^{\ddagger}$	0.73, 0.95	364	124 8	$0.78^{\ddagger}$	0.64, 0.93
<i>Non-Hispanic Bla</i> 25(OH)D quartil (nmol/L)	acks es											
< 43.4	246	668		Ref	327	587		Ref	209	705		Ref
43.4 - 58.6	80	300	0.89	0.71, 1.11	115	265	1.00	0.84, 1.19	92	288	0.83	0.65, 1.05
58.7-74.2	53	147	1.03	0.78, 1.38	78	122	1.11	0.89, 1.37	66	134	0.98	0.78, 1.23
≥74.3	18	79	0.67 <sup>‡</sup>	0.45, 0.99	34	63	0.74 <sup>‡</sup>	0.56, 0.97	21	76	0.58 <sup>‡</sup>	0.41, 0.81

Models are adjusted for age, sex, education, season of blood draw, survey cycle, smoking, BMI, total physical activity, vitamin D supplement use, and lipid and anti-hyperglycemic medications. P < 0.05.

Table 4.3B Ethnic-specific prevalence ratios for cardiometabolic risk according to serum 25(OH)D status,

NHANES 2001-2010\*

		HOMAIR				Metabo	olic Synd	rome		CVD	Risk (≥ 1	5%)
	Yes	No	PR	95% CI	Yes	No	PR	95% CI	Yes	No	PR	95% CI
Mexican Americans 25(OH)D quartiles (nmol/L)												
< 43.4	98	273		Ref		236		Ref	41	330		Ref
43.4 - 58.6	89	343	0.99	0.72, 1.37	124	308	0.82	0.63, 1.07	32	400	0.49 <sup>‡</sup>	0.29, 0.82
58.7-74.2	56	289	0.98	0.69, 1.38	106	239	1.08	0.82, 1.41	37	308	0.81	0.46, 1.44
≥ 74.3	15	143	0.53‡	0.31, 0.91	31	127	0.63 <sup>‡</sup>	0.44, 0.91	17	141	1.27	0.83, 1.94
<i>Non-Hispanic White</i> 25(OH)D quartiles (nmol/L)	5											
< 43.4	86	166		Ref	98	154		Ref	46	206		Ref
43.4 - 58.6	146	436	0.92	0.73, 1.19	184	398	0.98	0.79, 1.22	83	499	0.78	0.54, 1.13
58.7-74.2	124	692	0.76 <sup>‡</sup>	0.58, 0.99	198	618	0.89	0.71, 1.12	92	724	0.68 <sup>‡</sup>	0.47, 0.97
≥ 74.3	105	931	0.61*	0.44, 0.83	156	880	0.61 <sup>‡</sup>	0.47, 0.80	96	940	0.56 <sup>‡</sup>	0.39, 0.80
<i>Non-Hispanic Black</i> 25(OH)D quartiles (nmol/L)	5											
< 43.4	126	488		Ref	128	486		Ref	63	551		Ref
43.4 - 58.6	39	212	0.89	0.64, 1.24	42	209	1.05	0.77, 1.45	24	227	1.05	0.70, 1.58
58.7-74.2	19	88	1.1	0.69, 1.76	26	81	1.49	1.06, 2.10	12	95	1.26	0.66, 2.38
≥ 74.3	5	54	0.73	0.32, 1.70	6	53	0.55	0.25, 1.21	6	53	0.72	0.33, 1.58

<sup>\*</sup>Excluding participants with self-reported diabetes, CVD, and those taking relevant medications. Models are adjusted for age, sex, education, season of blood draw, survey cycle, smoking, BMI, total physical activity, vitamin D supplement use. <sup>‡</sup>P < 0.05.

		CVD risk (≥ 15%)									
Serum 25(OH)D quartiles (nmol/L)		Q1 (< 43.4)	Q2 (43.4-58.6)	Q3 (58.7-74.2)	Q4 (≥ 74.3)						
Overall	20- 59 (y)	Ref	0.78 0.60, 1.02	0.93 0.70, 1.23	$0.65^{\ddagger}$ 0.47, 0.92						
	≥ 60 (y)	Ref	0.99 0.89, 1.09	$0.89^{\ddagger}$ 0.80, 0.99	$0.82^{\ddagger}$ 0.73, 0.92						
*Mexican											
Americans	20- 59 (y)	Ref	0.70 0.49, 1.01	0.80 0.50, 1.27	0.75 0.44, 1.29						
	≥ 60 (y)	Ref	0.93 0.79, 1.10	0.92 0.78, 1.08	0.81 0.63, 1.03						
*Non-Hispanic											
Whites	20- 59 (y)	Ref	0.70 0.48, 1.02	0.89 0.62, 1.29	$0.61^{\ddagger}$ 0.40, 0.93						
	≥ 60 (y)	Ref	1.01 0.88, 1.16	0.90 0.79, 1.04	$0.82^{\ddagger}$ 0.74, 0.97						
<sup>*</sup> Non-Hispanic											
Blacks	20- 59 (y)	Ref	1.03 0.75, 1.43	0.97 0.69, 1.37	0.51 0.19, 1.40						
	$\geq$ 60 (y)	Ref	0.88 0.75, 1.04	0.86 0.71, 1.04	$0.63^{\ddagger}$ 0.45, 0.88						

**Table 4. 4** Adjusted prevalence ratios of cardiovascular risk ( $\geq 15\%$ ) associated with serum 25(OH)D by age, NHANES 2001-2010.

Models are adjusted for age, sex, education, ethnicity, season of blood draw, survey cycle, smoking, BMI, total physical activity, vitamin D supplement use, and lipid and anti-hyperglycemic medications.  $^{\ddagger}P < 0.05$ . <sup>\*</sup>The ethnicity covariate is excluded in the ethnic-specific models.



**Figure 4. 2** Prevalence of cardiovascular disease risk ( $\geq 15\%$ ) by age status in participants  $\geq 20$  years, NHANES 2001-2010.

\**P* < 0.05.

# Chapter 5: Study 2- Clinical utility of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D in the diagnosis of insulin resistance and estimation of optimal 25-hydroxyvitamin D in U.S. adults

Chapter 5 has been previously published:

Al-khalidi B, Rotondi MA, Kimball SM, Ardern CI. Clinical utility of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D in the diagnosis of insulin resistance and estimation of optimal 25-hydroxyvitamin D in U.S. adults. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2017 December;134:80-90.

Reproduced with permission from: © 2017 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

# Authors' contribution:

The authors' responsibilities were as follows: data acquisition (BA), conception (BA, CIA), statistical analysis (BA, MAR), drafting of manuscript (BA), critical review, editing, and interpretation of results (BA, SMK, MAR, and CIA).

# 5.1 Abstract

**Aims:** To assess the clinical utility of measuring serum 25-hydroxyvitamin-D [25(OH)D] along with traditional risk factors in the diagnosis of insulin resistance (IR) and to estimate the optimal 25(OH)D level associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis.

**Methods:** A cross-sectional analysis of 6,868 adults aged  $\geq$  20 years without diagnosed diabetes in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, with available standardized 25(OH)D data (2001-2010). IR was defined by the homeostatic-model-assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR;  $\geq$  75th percentile, sex-specific: 3.9 in men or 3.6 in women). Using logistic regression, two risk models were developed to estimate the risk of IR: Model 1 included established risk factors, and Model 2 additionally included serum 25(OH)D. Predictiveness curves and decision-curve analysis were used to assess differences in IR detection among models. Receiver-operating-characteristic curves were used to estimate the lower threshold for 25(OH)D. Results were validated in a testing sample.

**Results:** Model 2 marginally improved detection of IR: at a risk threshold of 0.2, adding 25(OH)D would identify an additional 2 to 4 cases per 1,000 people. Overall, the lower 25(OH)D threshold was estimated at 60 nmol/L, however, the threshold differed by ethnicity (Mexican-Americans: 54 nmo/L, non-Hispanic whites: 68 nmol/L, and non-Hispanic blacks: 41 nmol/L).

**Conclusion:** Addition of serum 25(OH)D to traditional risk factors provided small incremental improvement in detection of IR in asymptomatic adults. The optimal 25(OH)D threshold was estimated to be at least 60 nmol/L, however, the thresholds may differ by ethnic-background. Further research is needed to validate these results in other populations.

#### **5.2 Introduction**

In the United States, an estimated 86 million adults have pre-diabetes, and among an estimated 28.9 million adults with diabetes, 25% remain undiagnosed [317]. Type-2 diabetes is the clinical consequence of advanced stage insulin resistance (IR) and may take up to 10 years to develop. Despite several well-known risk factors, such as obesity and physical inactivity, the underlying causes of IR are not fully understood. Moreover, because IR is a clinical syndrome rather than a specific disease, early detection of IR in routine practice is often challenging [318]. Therefore, identification of novel risk factors is important for understanding the etiology as well as the ability to recognize IR prior to the development of type-2 diabetes so that lifestyle interventions can be implemented.

Vitamin D deficiency has been shown to be a significant risk factor for IR [233–235,319–321]. Vitamin D deficiency is plausibly related to IR through multiple interdependent mechanisms. The presence of vitamin D receptor (VDR) in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells suggests a direct role of vitamin D in insulin secretion and through indirect mechanisms it may influence insulin sensitivity [297]. Furthermore, emerging research has revealed a novel role of the skeleton as an endocrine regulator of glucose and insulin metabolism [322]. Vitamin D deficiency is known to cause impairment in bone remodeling and fracture risk is double in type-2 diabetes due to compromised bone quality [323,324]. Therefore, disturbances in vitamin D metabolism and bone remodeling may be related to these abnormalities is currently an active area of research [325,326].

Assessment of vitamin D status is based on circulating total 25-hydroxyvitamin-D [25(OH)D] concentration, which reflects both food intake and endogenous production of vitamin D. Current guidelines by the Health and Medicine Division (HMD) of the National Academies (formerly known as Institute of Medicine) and the Endocrine Society (ES) recommend thresholds for serum 25(OH)D in relation to bone health. Specifically, HMD recommends a threshold of 50 nmol/L, but ES advises at least  $\geq$  75 nmol/L for optimal levels [2,16]. As it stands, the optimal level for vitamin D status is still largely debated and it may differ depending on outcome. In

addition, inter-laboratory differences in the measurement of 25(OH)D and the lack of standardized data have impeded the development of reliable thresholds [7,11]. Serum 25(OH)D is currently accepted as a biomarker of exposure, however, it is not clear whether 25(OH)D also functions as a biomarker of effect (i.e., ability to quantify an existing clinical condition) [2]. Most studies have evaluated the association between serum 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic disorders, however, a significant association of a biomarker with a disease does not necessarily improve disease risk prediction or increase the discrimination ability between high and low risk individuals [20]. In addition, the threshold for a sufficient 25(OH)D level may differ according to health outcome and the current guidelines do not consider potential variation in health risk amongst multi-ethnic subpopulations. Thus, it is not clear whether the current thresholds for serum 25(OH)D are applicable to cardiometabolic health and whether these thresholds differ by racial/ethnic background.

Therefore, using standardized measurement of serum 25(OH)D from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES 2001-2010), this study evaluated the clinical utility of serum 25(OH)D in the diagnosis of IR, and estimated the optimal 25(OH)D level associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis in asymptomatic U.S. adults.

# 5.3 Materials and Methods

# 5.3.1 Study Participants

NHANES is an ongoing cross-sectional survey on the health and nutritional status of the civilian, non-institutionalized U.S. population [279]. Descriptions of the complex survey design, standardized protocols used for data handling during the interview, laboratory and physical examinations have been previously published [280]. NHANES was approved by the National Center for Health Statistics institutional board and all participants provided written informed consent [282].

This study included 5 cycles of NHANES from 2001 to 2010. We initially identified 23,968 adults  $\geq$  20 years old with available standardized serum 25(OH)D data. Exclusions were based on the following: those who fasted < 8 hours, pregnant women, diagnosis of diabetes or unknown diabetes status, "other Hispanic" or "other race" categories, serum albumin < 2.9 g/dL,

estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) <  $60 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$ , and those with missing data for study covariates. A flowchart for sample derivation is shown in **Figure 1 (Chapter 5: supplementary data)**.

# 5.3.2 Measurement of Serum 25(OH)D

From 2007 to 2010, serum 25(OH)D metabolites were analyzed by the CDC laboratory using the liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) method. For 2001-2006, the CDC developed regression equations to convert the original RIA values to LC-MS/MS equivalents [278]. The retrospective standardization of serum 25(OH)D values from 2001-2006 has been shown to be robust and reliable [7]. In order to combine serum 25(OH)D measurements, we used the predicted LC-MS/MS equivalent 25(OH)D data from 2001-2006 and the total serum 25(OH)D directly measured by LC-MS/MS from 2007-2010.

# 5.3.3 Outcome Measure

IR was estimated using HOMA-IR, calculated as the product of fasting insulin ( $\mu$ U/ml) and fasting plasma glucose (mmol/L), divided by 22.5 [49]. We defined IR as HOMA-IR  $\geq$  75<sup>th</sup> percentile (sex-specific HOMA-IR values: 3.9 and 3.6 for men and women, respectively). Fasting glucose concentrations were measured by a hexokinase enzymatic method, and insulin concentrations were measured by a radioimmunoassay in 2001-2002, a two-site immunoenzymometric method in 2003-2004 and an ELISA two-site enzyme immunoassay method in 2005-2010.

# 5.3.4 Risk Models

We randomly split the dataset into training and testing samples (ratio of 3:2, respectively), using the surveyselect procedure (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). Logistic regression was used to estimate the risk for IR in the training sample and results were subsequently validated in the testing sample.

To select the appropriate covariates in the models, the following risk factors were included in the initial model; serum 25(OH)D, age, sex, ethnicity [Mexican-American (MA); non-Hispanic white (NH-white); non-Hispanic black (NH-black)], waist circumference (WC), fasting plasma glucose (FPG), serum triglyceride (TG), high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol,

hypertension ( $\geq$  140/90 mmHg or on medication for hypertension), physical activity (PA), family history of diabetes, smoking, C-reactive protein levels (CRP), and anti-hyperglycemic and lipidmodifying medications. These variables were selected on the basis of the suggested risk factors in asymptomatic individuals by the American Diabetes Association that were also available in NHANES 2001-2010 [327]. Age, sex, ethnicity, smoking status, PA, family history of diabetes, and medications were self-reported by a questionnaire during the in-home interview. A metabolic equivalent (MET) of 4.0 for moderate, and 8.0 for vigorous intensity PA were used to estimate the MET minutes/week for engagement in daily and leisure-time PA. Medications were classified into four categories; lipid-modifying agents (i.e., HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors, fibric acid derivatives, bile acid sequesterants, and cholesterol absorption inhibitors), HDLincreasing medications (i.e. fibric acid derivatives), anti-hypertensive, and anti-hyperglycemic medications. It should be noted that for lipid medications, NHANES does not report the specific drug indication (i.e. whether participants were prescribed HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors to lower their triglycerides or low density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol or a combination of both is uncertain), instead only a therapeutic indication for classes of drugs is provided. WC, blood pressure, TG, HDL-cholesterol, and CRP data were collected during physical examinations using standardized protocols [280].

We used the backward elimination approach with a significance level of alpha = 0.10 to select the final risk factors in the models [328]. In the final model, the following risk factors were retained; serum 25(OH)D, age, sex, ethnicity, FPG, TG, HDL-cholesterol, WC, family history of diabetes, PA, and anti-hyperglycemic and lipid-modifying medications. To assess different models of IR detection, we computed two risk models: Model 1 included the selected risk factors excluding serum 25(OH)D and Model 2 included selected risk factors in Model 1 plus serum 25(OH)D (nested model). There was no evidence of multicollinearity among the selected risk factors. Significant interactions between FPG and anti-hyperglycemic medication, serum 25(OH)D and ethnicity, and serum 25(OH)D and age were observed. Risk models were subsequently stratified by categories of ethnicity and age; however, due to the small number of participants taking anti-hyperglycemic medications, we were unable to further stratify by medication use. Therefore, we retained the interaction term between FPG and antihyperglycemic medication in the final models. Models further stratified by ethnicity and age

subgroups were recalibrated by using ethnic- and age-specific coefficient estimates in the risk prediction models. We also included survey cycle in the final risk models to account for the potential effect of different analytic methods for serum 25(OH)D, FPG and insulin across survey cycles from 2001 to 2010.

#### **5.3.5 Statistical Analysis**

For descriptive statistics, serum 25(OH)D was categorized into quartiles as "< 44.1", "44.1-59.1", "59.2-75.3", and " $\geq$  75.4" nmol/L. Survey-weighted means or frequencies along with 95% CIs were calculated for continuous and categorical variables, respectively. Weighted Wald-F and Chi-square tests were used to examine the independence of means and frequencies across serum 25(OH)D categories.

Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit statistics were used to calculate the models' fit and calibration, and receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curves were used to report the C-statistics [77,329]. Weighted predictiveness curves were constructed to display the distribution of the predicted IR risks using the two models [330]. Classification performance of the models was plotted as a function of true-positive fraction (TPF; sensitivity), and false-positive fraction (FPF; 1-specificity) corresponding to the estimated risk thresholds from logistic regression models [330].

To assess the clinical utility associated with addition of serum 25(OH)D to established risk factors, we used decision curve analysis (DCA) to estimate the net benefit of the models by taking the difference between the TPF and FPF weighted across risk thresholds [331]. With the DCA analysis, clinicians can assess the clinical utility of a new diagnostic test compared to a standard test or compare different risk prediction models with new biomarkers by quantifying the number of true-positive cases identified without an increase in false-positive cases (i.e. where a patient would be treated unnecessarily). For a given risk threshold, risk prediction models offer different predictive accuracies (i.e. sensitivity versus specificity), and it is not sufficient to know which model offers better sensitivity or specificity for a given outcome. DCA analysis allows clinicians to incorporate the clinical consequences of having the biomarker information by plotting the net benefit (i.e. observing an increase in the proportion of true-positive cases for a

given false-positive rate) across a range of risk threshold probabilities. The difference in net benefit between two clinical risk prediction models represents the extra number for true-positive cases identified without an increase in the false-positive fraction. In an effort to emphasize the application of the risk models in a clinical-setting, covariates were categorized as high glucose (FPG  $\geq$  100 mg/dL or medication), abdominal obesity (WC  $\geq$  102 cm in men or  $\geq$  88 cm in women), high triglycerides (TG  $\geq$  250 mg/dL or lipid-modifying agents), low HDL-cholesterol (< 40 mg/dL in men or < 50 mg/dL in women or HDL-increasing medications), and PA (Inactive; 0 MET minutes/week; Somewhat Active; < 500 MET minutes/week; Active;  $\geq$  500 MET minutes/week). Age and serum 25(OH)D were retained as continuous covariates. We calculated and plotted the net benefit curves for Model 1 (reference), and serum 25(OH)D augmented Model 2. We also calculated the net benefit if we assume "all at risk" (i.e., all have IR), and "none at risk" (i.e., zero benefit).

Model 2 was used to estimate the lower threshold for 25(OH)D concentration that predicted low risk of IR. Since there is no established "risk threshold" for clinical use in identifying higher- or lower-risk patients for IR, a risk threshold of 0.25 was selected as it corresponded to zero net benefit observed for "all at risk" in the DCA analysis, with a sensitivity of 82% and a specificity of 80% for the diagnosis of IR (Model 2). ROC analysis was used to estimate the optimal serum 25(OH)D cutoff for discriminating between individuals in the high and low risk categories for IR. The sensitivities and specificities corresponding to HMD and ES cutoffs of 50 and 75 nmol/L were also assessed through ROC analysis.

Hypertension did not meet the model inclusion criteria in our study (p-value > 0.10), however, the ADA identifies hypertension as one of the risk factors for prediabetes and diabetes in asymptomatic adults [327]. Therefore, we conducted a sensitivity analysis where we included hypertension (140/90 mm Hg and above or on BP medication) in the risk models.

#### 5.4 Results

#### 5.4.1 Study Sample

The total sample included 6,868 adults aged  $\geq$  20 years without diagnosed diabetes. Characteristics of participants by serum 25(OH)D quartiles are summarized in **Table 5.1**. Overall, the mean age of the sample was 44.7 (44.0, 45.3) and the prevalence of IR was 22.3% (20.9, 23.6). The prevalence of IR decreased significantly from 34.8% (31.6, 37.9) to 14.7% (12.4, 17.1) across serum 25(OH)D quartiles (P < 0.0001). FPG, TG, HDL-cholesterol, WC, family history of diabetes, PA, and lipid-modifying medications were all significantly associated with serum 25(OH)D concentrations.

# 5.4.2 Model Performance and Predictiveness Curves

Results for the models' fit and weighted C-statistics in the training and testing samples are provided in **Table 5.2**. Model 1 and 2 demonstrated similar goodness-of-fit and weighted C-statistics, suggesting the adequate fit, and good discrimination of the models in the training and testing datasets.

**Figure 5.1** plots the weighted predictiveness curves and the overall discrimination performance of the models by plotting TPF (sensitivity) and FPF (1-specificity) across risk thresholds for both models in the training (Figure 5.1A) and testing samples (Figure 5.1B). From the predictiveness curves, the estimated risks for IR were identical for Model 1 and 2 in the training and testing samples, such that the risk for IR begins to increase at a risk threshold of 0.20. In the training sample, an estimated 41% (Model 1) or 40% (Model 2) of the population have predicted risks  $\geq$  0.20. Similar results were obtained in the testing sample, where 40% (Model 1) or 39% (Model 2) have predicted risks  $\geq$  0.20. Both models reasonably discriminated between higher and lower risk patients for IR (as demonstrated by a good separation between TPF and FPF in Figure 1) and the FPF decreases substantially at a risk threshold of 0.20. Specifically, at this threshold in the training sample, Model 1 had a TPF of 85.6% and FPF of 26.1%, whereas Model 2 had a TPF of 85.5% and FPF of 25.4% for the diagnosis of IR. Similar results were obtained in the testing sample (Figure 5.1B).

# 5.4.3 Decision Curve Analysis

**Figure 5.2** plots the net benefit curves across risk thresholds for both models in the training (Figure 5.2A) and testing (Figure 5.2B) samples. The net benefits associated with Model 1 and 2 were higher compared to the scenario if we assume "all at risk" or "none at risk". The net benefit curves derived from Model 2 (versus Model 1) were marginally higher across most risk

thresholds. For example, in the training-sample comparing Model 2 with Model 1 at a 0.20 risk threshold, the difference in net benefit equaled 0.17 (training sample) and 0.42 (testing sample) per 100 people, indicating approximately 2 to 4 extra cases of IR would be detected per 1,000 people using Model 2. At a different threshold, for example, the 0.54 risk threshold, the difference in net benefit between Model 2 and Model 1 equaled 0.24 (training sample) and 0.49 (testing sample) per 100 people, and again this indicates that approximately 2 to 5 extra cases of IR would be detected per 1,000 people, and again this indicates that approximately 2 to 5 extra cases of IR would be detected per 1,000 people screened using Model 2.

When hypertension was included in the DCA analysis, the results of the sensitivity analysis were identical to the main DCA analysis (i.e., hypertension excluded) (**Chapter 5: supplementary data, Figure 1**).

#### 5.4.4 Serum 25(OH)D Thresholds

Results for the estimation of 25(OH)D thresholds in the overall sample and by age and race/ethnicity categories are shown in **Table 5.3**. The ROC analysis revealed an overall optimal serum 25(OH)D level above 60.6 nmol/L and 60.0 nmol/L in the training and testing samples, respectively. The thresholds varied slightly (by 1-5 nmol/L) according to age categories. Using the HMD cutoff of 50 nmol/L, sensitivities ranged from 71% to 75%, however, an estimated 43% to 68% of individuals with IR would be misclassified as low risk. Conversely, using the ES threshold of 75 nmol/L, the sensitivities were lower (30%-33%), but only 10% to 26% individuals with IR would be misclassified as having low risk.

The estimated 25(OH)D thresholds varied considerably by race/ethnicity. The lower thresholds for 25(OH)D were estimated at 54.2, 68.3, and 40.9 nmol/L for MAs, NH-whites, and NH-blacks, respectively in the training sample. Applying the HMD cutoff of 50 nmol/L resulted in a higher true-positive fraction compared to the ES cutoff of 75 nmol/L, however, the ES threshold resulted in a lower number of false-positive cases. Specifically, an estimated 25% (NH-blacks) to 75% (NH-whites) of individuals with IR would be misclassified as low risk using HMD's cutoff of 50 nmol/L, but only 5% (MAs and NH-blacks) to 27% (NH-whites) of individuals with IR would be misclassified using ES' cutoff of 75 nmol/L.

Inclusion of hypertension in a sensitivity analysis did not change the estimates for the optimal serum 25(OH)D (Chapter 5: supplementary data, Table 1).

# **5.5 Discussion**

This study evaluated the clinical utility of measuring serum 25(OH)D along with traditional risk factors in the diagnosis of IR and estimated a threshold for optimal serum 25(OH)D levels in asymptomatic U.S. adults. We found that adding serum 25(OH)D to established risk factors resulted in a small incremental improvement in detection of IR in asymptomatic adults. Comparing model 2 to model 1 at a risk threshold of 0.2, the estimated net benefit for measuring serum 25(OH)D would translate into detecting approximately 2 to 4 extra cases of IR per 1,000 adults without an increase in false-positive cases using model 2. In the overall sample, an optimal 25(OH)D level was estimated to be at least 60 nmol/L. The threshold for serum 25(OH)D varied slightly by age groups (1-5 nmol/L), but differed substantially for different racial/ethnic backgrounds. Specifically, the minimum threshold was estimated to be at least 54 nmol/L for MAs, 68 nmol/L for NH-whites, and 41 nmol/L for NH-blacks. Taken together, our study provides further insight into the clinical utility of measuring serum 25(OH)D above and beyond traditional risk factors associated with IR in asymptomatic adults and our results suggest that the optimal 25(OH)D level associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis may be at least 60 nmol/L, although the threshold may differ by racial/ethnic background.

To date, relatively few studies have evaluated the clinical utility of serum 25(OH)D in the context of cardiometabolic disease risk prediction. In a study of patients with hypertension (1078 diabetics and 508 non-diabetics), addition of 25(OH)D to the Framingham Risk Score improved coronary heart disease (CHD) risk prediction, such that 33% of patients were reclassified according to CHD risk groups [332]. The Ludwigshafen Risk and Cardiovascular Health (LURIC) study also found that serum 25(OH)D was a significant predictor of CVD mortality and addition of 25(OH)D along with a biomarker panel consisting of interleukin-6, neutrophils, von Willebrand factor offered significant improvements in predicting CVD mortality compared to conventional risk factors [333]. However, in another study of 2975 patients undergoing coronary catheterization, 25(OH)D provided little prognostic value for predicting all-cause mortality above and beyond established risk factors [334]. Although these studies have evaluated the

prognostic value of serum 25(OH)D according to the American Heart Association guidelines for the assessment of novel biomarkers [76], use of statistical methods such as Net-Reclassification-Improvement (NRI) and Integrated-Discriminant-Improvement (IDI) have limitations, and have been challenged [335]. Nonetheless, the DCA analysis offers a simple alternative approach for assessing the clinical consequences of incorporating novel biomarkers or risk models in terms of net benefits captured over a wide range of threshold probabilities [331,336]. Although DCA analysis does not directly collect information on cost and effectiveness, it offers a simple approach for examining clinical usefulness of measuring a biomarker by showing whether a net benefit curve for a risk model is greater or lesser than the other alternative testing strategies. For any given probability threshold, the preferred model is the one with the highest net benefit without a significant increase in false-positive cases compared to other risk models [331,336]. In our study, addition of serum 25(OH)D to established risk factors provided small incremental net benefit in the detection of IR in asymptomatic U.S. adults. The ADA currently recommends regular screening in asymptomatic adults who have one or more of the traditional risk factors for prediabetes/diabetes, such as being physically inactive, having family history of diabetes, hypertension (i.e. 140/90 mmHg and above or on BP medications), dysglycemia (HDL cholesterol below 35 mg/dL or TG above 250 mg/dL), and having other conditions associated with IR [327]. Although it is well established that low serum 25(OH)D is significantly associated with IR, current screening practices do not monitor serum 25(OH) in high-risk individuals. While additional studies are needed to fully validate our results, monitoring serum 25(OH)D in high-risk individuals may provide clinicians with further information to effectively prioritize and implement lifestyle interventions that may prevent or delay the onset of type-2 diabetes and its long-term complications.

Previous studies on the estimation of thresholds for serum 25(OH)D have also been limited. The study by Bischoff-Ferrari [337] was the first to estimate optimal thresholds in relation to multiple health outcomes, reporting a wide range between 40 (lower-extremity function) to 90 nmol/L (BMD, dental health, risk of falls, fractures, and colorectal cancer). Heaney et al. [338] reported a similar range between 40 to 90 nmol/L for optimal insulin responsiveness and blood pressure in a cohort of nondiabetic Canadian adults. Similarly, Sorkin et al. [339] found that a threshold of 25(OH)D above 65 nmol/L supported normal glucose metabolism in black and white

postmenopausal women with obesity. In another study, using data from the Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam, Sohl et al. [340] reported a range between 46 to 68 nmol/L for optimal parathyroid hormone and blood pressure, respectively. Although most of these previous studies supported the idea that the optimal level for 25(OH)D should be above the currently recommended cutoff of 50 nmol/L, the use of unstandardized measurement of 25(OH)D in these studies greatly reduces the reliability of these thresholds. Specifically, previous studies relying on unstandardized measurements of 25(OH)D may have biased estimates and misclassified individuals with respect to their vitamin D status. A recent analysis of NHANES-III found that the prevalence of individuals below 30, 50, and 75 nmol/L increased from 4% to 6%, 22% to 31%, and 55% to 71% after serum 25(OH)D values were standardized data and different study populations with different study outcomes. To our knowledge, this is the first study to estimate an optimal vitamin D status associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis using standardized measurements of serum 25(OH)D in a representative U.S. population.

Although causality has not been established, the strongest evidence for the extra-skeletal role of vitamin D is in relation to insulin sensitivity in randomized clinical trials [233–235,319]. There are several important mechanisms that warrant further discussion relating to how measurement of serum 25(OH)D and other known risk factors can potentially prove to be beneficial for early recognition of IR in asymptomatic adults. Vitamin D status is a major determinant of skeletal muscle function [341–343], and low serum 25(OH)D has been linked to fat infiltration in the muscle [183]. In the IR state, fat infiltration impairs the normal glucose uptake by the muscle and low serum 25(OH)D could be indicative of muscle fat infiltration and impaired glucose metabolism. Moreover, abdominal obesity and low serum 25(OH)D levels often cluster with IR [271] and serum 25(OH)D levels could help to further characterize the underlying metabolic dysfunction. It has been suggested that 25(OH)D may be a key factor for the underlying healthy metabolic profile of a subset of individuals characterized by metabolically healthy overweight/obesity (MHO) phenotype [25], however, this hypothesis remains to be confirmed [27,344]. In addition, new emerging research has revealed an important role of the skeleton in regulating glucose and insulin homeostasis [322]. Vitamin D deficiency increases susceptibility to impaired bone remodeling and early bone aging in adults [323]. Impaired bone remodeling has been linked to bone marrow adiposity in individuals with type-1 and type-2 diabetes [322,324]. Therefore, impaired bone remodeling could further interfere with glucose metabolism, and vitamin D may be a key factor, but is as of yet unconfirmed [326]. Although vitamin D supplementation has been recommended in individuals with type-2 diabetes to reduce the risk of diabetes-induced bone fragility [324], recommendation for vitamin D supplementation prior to development of type-2 diabetes is less certain but remains an active area of research.

Although we estimated the lower threshold for serum 25(OH)D status associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis, the optimal threshold for 25(OH)D remains an open question. It is possible that optimal 25(OH)D levels differ by racial/ethnic background; therefore, the underlying mechanisms as to why vitamin D needs vary among different ethnic groups needs further study. On the other hand, differences in the thresholds could reflect the lower mean 25(OH)D levels observed in MAs and NH-blacks compared to NH-whites. Complicating this further is that the estimation of optimal thresholds is particularly challenging in populations with high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency. Contrary to our results, optimal thresholds may not differ by racial/ethnic background [339]. This hypothesis is supported in our study by the substantially lower false-positive cases identified when applying the ES single cutoff of 75 nmol/L. These results suggested that application of the ES threshold of 75 nmol/L may reduce misclassification of individuals with high risk of IR as low risk, and this was evident across all age and race/ethnicity categories. Therefore, the optimal serum 25(OH)D required to support glucose and insulin homeostasis may be at least 75 nmol/L, irrespective of age and ethnic background. Future prospective studies are needed to estimate the optimal threshold in populations with higher serum 25(OH)D concentrations and confirm whether vitamin D needs vary substantially by ethnicity. Well-designed clinical-trials are also needed to assess the benefit associated with increasing serum 25(OH)D levels above 75 nmol/L in ethnically and geographically diverse populations. To date, most trials of vitamin D supplementation have reported negative results, but have been confounded by the inclusion of healthy individuals and those with type-2 diabetes, meaning that there is only a small window of opportunity to improve insulin sensitivity in individuals who are already healthy, whereas the pathologic changes in the pancreas of individuals with type-2 diabetes may be difficult to reverse in the later stages of the disease [345].

The findings of this study are subject to limitations. The cross-sectional design of NHANES precludes causality. Although our study had extensive exclusion criteria to include only those with early-stage IR and prediabetes, we are unable to completely rule-out the possibility of reverse-causation and the effect of unmeasured confounders (such as chronic alcohol consumption). Although we minimized the acute effect of alcohol by excluding participants who fasted < 8 hours, we were unable to account for the chronic effect of alcohol consumption in our study. NHANES asked participants about their alcohol consumption behaviors in the past 12 months, however, self-reported data is affected by recall bias and there was a large number of missing data (n=2,209, after all other study exclusions). Moreover, binge drinking (i.e., consumption of  $\geq$  5 (men) or  $\geq$  4 (women) drinks in a 2-hour period) is not captured in NHANES until years 2013-2014. Therefore, the self-reported nature of the data does not guarantee robust adjustment for the dose-response relationship between chronic alcohol consumption and IR. In addition, HOMA-IR is a proxy measure for IR and its use is limited in individuals with significant hyperglycemia, however, HOMA-IR has been shown to correlate well with the hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp in normoglycemic individuals and in persons with prediabetes [346]. In our study, we excluded individuals with diagnosed diabetes, and the 95<sup>th</sup> and 99th percentiles for FPG levels were 6.8 mmol/L and 9.0 mmol/L, respectively. Thus, cases of hyperglycemia were minimal in our study cohort. Lastly, the challenging nature of the estimation of a precise optimal cutoff using endemic 25(OH)D data is another limitation in our study. However, use of NHANES data ensures the generalizability of our findings to the ethnically diverse U.S. population.

In conclusion, measurement of serum 25(OH)D along with traditional risk factors in asymptomatic adults offered small incremental improvement in the detection of IR and an overall optimal threshold for serum 25(OH)D may be at least 60 nmol/L, however, the optimal level may vary considerably by racial/ethnic background. Future studies are needed to validate the clinical utility of serum 25(OH)D in the early detection of IR, and to ascertain the optimal serum 25(OH)D thresholds required for normal glucose and insulin homeostasis in ethnically and geographically diverse populations.

	Overall (N=6868)	25(OH)D < 44.1 nmol/L (N=1717)	25(OH)D 44.1-59.1 nmol/L (N=1692)	25(OH)D 59.2-75.3 nmol/L (N=1734)	25(OH)D ≥ 75.4 nmol/L (N=1725)	P-value
Age (years)	44.7 (44.0, 45.3)	42.2 (41.3, 43.1)	43.8 (42.9, 43.2)	45.1 (44.2, 46.0)	46.1 (45.2, 47.0)	<.0001
Serum 25(OH)D (nmol/L)	66.1 (64.7, 67.4)	33.0 (32.6, 33.5)	52.1 (51.9, 52.4)	67.0 (66.7, 67.2)	93.5 (92.4, 94.5)	<.0001
Gender, %						<.0001
Males	49.8 (48.8, 50.8)	43.2 (40.5, 45.9)	54.3 (51.4, 57.1)	53.9 (51.2, 56.6)	46.6 (44.0, 49.2)	
Females	50.2 (49.2, 51.2)	56.8 (54.1, 59.4)	45.7 (42.9, 48.5)	46.1 (43.4, 48.8)	53.4 (50.8, 55.9)	
Ethnicity, (%)						<.0001
Mexican Americans	9.2 (7.51, 10.9)	16.1 (12.4, 19.7)	12.7 (10.5, 15.0)	8.57 (6.85, 10.3)	3.40 (2.43, 4.36)	
Non-Hispanic Whites	79.8 (77.3, 82.2)	45.6 (40.7, 50.4)	76.3 (73.2, 79.3)	87.0 (85.0, 88.9)	94.8 (93.5, 96.0)	
Non-Hispanic Blacks	11 (9.48, 12.6)	38.3 (34.2, 42.4)	11.0 (9.02, 12.9)	4.44 (3.51, 5.36)	1.84 (1.19, 2.48)	
Prevalence of IR, %	22.3 (20.9, 23.6)	34.8 (31.6, 37.9)	26.8 (24.2, 29.4)	19.0 (16.8, 21.1)	14.7 (12.4, 17.1)	<.0001
Fasting plasma glucose (mmol/L)	5.47 (5.44, 5.50)	5.57 (5.50, 5.64)	5.51 (5.45, 5.57)	5.47 (5.42, 5.51)	5.38 (5.35, 5.41)	<.0001
Serum triglyceride (mmol/L)	1.53 (1.48, 1.58)	1.64 (1.47, 1.80)	1.64 (1.56, 1.73)	1.54 (1.47, 1.61)	1.37 (1.31, 1.42)	<.0001
HDL-Cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.40 (1.38, 1.41)	1.34 (1.32, 1.36)	1.32 (1.30, 1.34)	1.38 (1.35, 1.41)	1.50 (1.47, 1.53)	<.0001
Waist Circumference (cm)	96.9 (96.5, 97.4)	101.2 (100.0, 102.4)	98.9 (97.9, 99.9)	96.7 (95.8, 97.6)	93.3 (92.4, 94.1)	<.0001
Family history of diabetes, %	42.0 (40.2, 43.9)	49.4 (46.5, 52.2)	44.3 (40.7, 47.9)	40.0 (36.9, 43.1)	38.1 (35.4, 40.8)	<.0001
Physical activity						<.0001
Inactive	14.4 (13.1, 15.8)	24.1 (21.6, 26.6)	15.1 (12.9, 17.3)	11.9 (10.1, 13.8)	10.8 (9.05, 12.5)	
Somewhat active	17.8 (16.8, 18.9)	21.9 (19.2, 24.6)	19.8 (17.7, 21.9)	17.6 (15.1, 20.2)	14.4 (12.5, 16.2)	
Active	67.7 (65.9, 69.5)	53.9 (50.8, 57.1)	65.0 (62.4, 67.6)	70.4 (67.5, 73.3)	74.8 (72.2, 77.4)	
Medication Use						
Lipid-modifying, %	10.3 (9.29, 11.3)	7.54 (5.46, 9.63)	9.20 (7.57, 10.8)	10.7 (8.88, 12.5)	12.2 (10.5, 13.8)	0.004
Anti-hyperglycemic, %	0.35 (0.20, 0.50)	0.66 (0.08, 1.24)	0.16 (0.03, 0.30)	0.38 (0.11, 0.65)	0.28 (0.04, 0.52)	0.21

Table 5. 1 Characteristics of participants by serum 25(OH)D quartiles, NHANES 2001-2010

Values are survey-weighted means or frequencies (%), and 95% C.I. in parenthesis. *P*-values are based on Wald F-Test and Chi-square tests, which test the independence of means and frequencies, respectively, across serum 25(OH)D quartiles.

**Table 5. 2** Comparison of models' fit and weighted C-statistics in the training and testing samples, NHANES 2001-2010.

	Training San	nple (N=4120)	Testing Sample (N=2748)			
Overall	Model 1	Model 2	Model 1	Model 2		
Goodness of fit*	12.6 (0.13)	11.9 (0.15)	5.80 (0.67)	7.16 (0.52)		
Weighted C-statistics	0.880 (0.870- 0.891)	0.883 (0.873- 0.893)	0.869 (0.855- 0.883)	0.874 (0.860- 0.887)		

\*Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness of fit test; the numbers are  $\chi^2$ , with *P* values in parentheses. *Model 1* included age, sex, ethnicity (Mexican-American; non-Hispanic white; non-Hispanic black), fasting plasma glucose, triglyceride, HDL-Cholesterol, waist circumference, family history of diabetes, physical activity, and medication use (anti-hyperglycemic and lipid-modifying medications). *Model 2* included selected risk factors in Model 1 plus serum 25(OH).

		ted 25(OH)D t	hresholds	HMD tl (50 ni	hreshold mol/L)	ES threshold (75 nmol/L)		
	AUC (95% CI)	25(OH)D (nmol/L)	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity
Training samp	ole (N=4120)							
Overall	0.62 (0.60-0.63)	60.6	55	62	72	43	31	84
20-39 y	0.66 (0.63-0.69)	58.1	57	64	71	50	31	89
40-59 y	0.62 (0.60-0.65)	60.3	58	60	74	41	33	84
≥60 y	0.57 (0.54-0.61)	61.0	57	56	73	32	32	78
MAs	0.62 (0.59-0.66)	54.2	56	64	64	51	17	95.5
NH-Whites	0.63 (0.60-0.65)	68.3	55	62	86	25	43	73
NH-Blacks	0.54 (0.50-0.58)	40.9	50	58	31	71	5.0	94
Testing sample	e (N=2748)							
Overall	0.64 (0.62-0.66)	60	56	65	72	48	31	85
20-39 y	0.70 (0.67-0.74)	55.7	63	69	71	57	30	90
40-59 y	0.64 (0.60-0.67)	60.1	55	64	71	50	31	85
≥60 y	0.56 (0.52-0.61)	61.7	55	55	75	34	33	74
MAs	0.66 (0.62-0.70)	53.2	59	65	64	57	18	95
NH-Whites	0.64 (0.61-0.67)	67.0	59	62	87	31	44	73
NH-Blacks	0.59 (0.54-0.64)	40.6	52	59	35	75	8.0	95

**Table 5. 3** Serum 25(OH)D thresholds in relation to normal glucose and insulin homeostasis in the training and testing datasets overall and by age and racial/ethnic background, NHANES 2001-2010.

Abbreviations: AUC, Area Under Curve; HMD, the Health and Medicine Division of the National Academies (formerly known as the Institute of Medicine); ES, the Endocrine Society; MAs, Mexican-Americans; NH-Whites, non-Hispanic whites; NH-Blacks, non-Hispanic blacks.

Sensitivity, proportion of true positive cases [true positive/(true positive + false negative)]. Specificity, proportion of true negative cases [true negative/(true negative + false positive).



Figure 5. 1 Weighted predictiveness curves.

Weighted predictiveness curves (left panel) and true-positive fraction (TPF, sensitivity) and false-positive fraction (FPF,1-specificity) (right panel) in the training (A) and testing (B) datasets for Models 1 and 2, NHANES 2001–2010. The horizontal grey dashed lines in predictiveness curves indicate the prevalence of insulin resistance in the training (22.6%) and testing (21.8%) datasets. Model 1 included age, sex, ethnicity (Mexican-American; non-Hispanic white; non-Hispanic black), fasting plasma glucose, triglyceride, HDL-Cholesterol, waist circumference, family history of diabetes, physical activity, and medication use (anti-hyperglycemic and lipid-modifying medications). Model 2 included selected risk factors in Model 1 plus serum 25(OH).



Figure 5. 2 Decision curve analysis.

Decision curve analysis (DCA) for models predicting insulin resistance in the training (A) and testing (B) datasets for Model 1 (solid line) and Model 2 (small dashed line), NHANES 2001–2010. The dotted line indicates the net benefit for assuming "all at risk", and the horizontal dashed line assumes "none at risk". The y-axis represents the number of true positive cases identified per 100 people using the models. Model 1 included age, sex, ethnicity (Mexican-American; non-Hispanic white; non-Hispanic black), a high fasting plasma glucose level of  $\geq 100$  mg/dL or medication, abdominal obesity (WC  $\geq 102$  cm in men or  $\geq 88$  cm in women), a high triglyceride level of  $\geq 250$  mg/dL or lipid-modifying medication, a low HDL-cholesterol level of < 40 mg/dL in men or < 50 mg/dL in women or HDL-increasing medication, family history of diabetes, and physical activity (Inactive; 0 MET min/week; Somewhat Active; < 500 MET min/week; Active;  $\geq 500$  MET min/week). Model 2 included selected risk factors in Model 1 plus serum 25(OH).

#### **Chapter 5: Supplementary data**



Flowchart showing the exclusion criteria for sample derivation, NHANES 2001-2010.

#### \*The risk models were further adjusted for hypertension (140/90 mm Hg and above or on medication)

**Table 1**. Serum 25(OH)D thresholds in relation to normal glucose and insulin homeostasis in the training and testing datasets overall and by age and racial/ethnic background, NHANES 2001-2010.

		Estima	ted 25(OH)D t	hresholds	IOM th (50 nr	reshold nol/L)	ES threshold (75 nmol/L)	
	AUC (95% CI)	25(OH)D (nmol/L)	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity	Sensitivity	Specificity
Training sam	ple							
(N=4120)								
Overall	0.62 (0.60, 0.64)	60.7	55	62	72	42	31	84
20-39 yrs	0.66 (0.63, 0.69)	56.7	57	64	70	53	29	90
40-59 yrs	0.62 (0.60, 0.65)	60.7	58	60	74	42	33	84
≥ 60 yrs	0.58 (0.54, 0.61)	61.2	57	57	73	32	33	78
MAs	0.63 (0.60, 0.67)	54.4	57	65	66	52	17	96
NH-Whites	0.63 (0.61, 0.66)	68.4	55	63	86	26	44	74
NH-Blacks	0.54 (0.50, 0.58)	40.9	55	58	31	71	5.0	94
Testing sampl	e							
(N=2748)								
Overall	0.64 (0.62, 0.66)	60.5	56	66	72	49	31	85
20-39 yrs	0.71 (0.68, 0.75)	54.4	63	70	70	59	30	92
40-59 yrs	0.64 (0.60, 0.67)	60.1	55	64	71	50	31	85
≥ 60 yrs	0.57 (0.53, 0.61)	61.2	58	55	75	34	33	75
MAs	0.66 (0.62, 0.70)	53.2	59	65	64	57	18	96
NH-Whites	0.65 (0.62, 0.68)	66.4	60	62	86	31	44	74
NH-Blacks	0.59 (0.54, 0.64)	40.5	52	60	35	75	8.0	95

Abbreviations: AUC, Area Under Curve; HMD, the Health and Medicine Division of the National Academies (formerly known as the Institute of Medicine); ES, the Endocrine society; MAs, Mexican-Americans; NH-Whites, non-Hispanic whites; NH-Blacks, non-Hispanic blacks.

Sensitivity, proportion of true positive cases [true positive/(true positive + false negative)]. Specificity, proportion of true negative cases [true negative/(true negative + false positive)].



**Figure 1**. Decision curve analysis (DCA) for models predicting insulin resistance in the training (A) and testing (B) datasets for Model 1 (solid line) and Model 2 (small dashed line), NHANES 2001-2010. The dotted line indicates the net benefit for assuming "all at risk", and the horizontal dashed line assumes "none at risk". The y-axis represents the number of true positive cases identified per 100 people using the models.

*Model 1* included age, sex, ethnicity (Mexican-American; non-Hispanic white; non-Hispanic black), a high fasting plasma glucose level of  $\geq 100 \text{ mg/dL}$  or medication, abdominal obesity (WC  $\geq 102 \text{ cm}$ in men or  $\geq 88 \text{ cm}$  in women), a high triglyceride level of  $\geq 250 \text{ mg/dL}$  or lipid-modifying medication, a low HDL-cholesterol level of < 40 mg/dL in men or < 50 mg/dL in women or HDLincreasing medication, family history of diabetes, physical activity (Inactive; 0 MET minutes/week; Somewhat Active; < 500 MET minutes/week; Active;  $\geq 500 \text{ MET}$  minutes/week) and hypertension (140/90 mm Hg and above or BP medication).

Model 2 included selected risk factors in Model 1 plus serum 25(OH).

# Chapter 6: Study 3- Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III

Chapter 6 has been previously published:

Al-khalidi B, Kimball SM, Kuk JL, Ardern CI. Metabolically Healthy Obesity, Vitamin D, and All-Cause and Cardiometabolic Mortality Risk in NHANES III. Clinical Nutrition. 2018 Mar 2. pii: S0261-5614(18)30090-6. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018.02.025. [Epub ahead of print].

Reproduced with permission from:

© 2018 Elsevier Ltd. and European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism. All rights reserved.

# Authors' contribution:

All authors have read and approved the final version being submitted with contributions as follows: conception (BA, SMK, CIA), data acquisition (BA), statistical analysis (BA) and interpretation of data (BA, SMK, JLK, CIA), drafting of manuscript (BA), critical review and editing (BA, SMK, JLK, CIA).

#### 6.1 Abstract

**Background & Aims:** Previous studies assessing the prognosis of metabolically healthy obesity (MHO) have been limited by a lack of a harmonized definition of MHO phenotype. Furthermore, obesity is a risk factor for vitamin D deficiency and low vitamin D status has been associated with a higher risk of mortality; however, few studies have evaluated the joint association between vitamin D, metabolic health phenotype, and mortality risk. Using a harmonized definition, we investigated whether MHO is associated with subsequent all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality, and whether serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] modifies these associations.

**Methods:** This study included participants aged  $\geq 20$  years from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). MHO phenotype was defined as a combination of obesity ( $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) and zero components of metabolic syndrome. Multivariable Cox regression was used to assess the risk of mortality across metabolic phenotypes, and the joint association between metabolic phenotype and 25(OH)D. Fine and Gray regression was performed to account for competing risk events.

**Results:** Among 11,333 participants, a total of 2,980 deaths (937 cardiometabolic death outcomes) occurred during a median follow-up of 19.1 years. In the absence of any metabolic abnormality, obesity (MHO) was not associated with a higher risk of all-cause (hazard ratio [HR], 0.89 [95% CI, 0.52-1.51]) or cardiometabolic mortality (cause-specific HR, 1.21 [95% CI 0.33-4.46]). Similar results were obtained from competing risk analysis. No significant differences in average 25(OH)D levels were observed between MHO and non-MHO participants; however, there was a significant interaction between metabolic health phenotype and serum 25(OH)D in relation to cardiometabolic mortality such that levels of serum 25(OH)D < 50 nmol/L were associated with increased risk of cardiometabolic mortality, particularly in participants within the normal weight and obesity BMI ranges.

**Conclusions:** Our results support the hypothesis that MHO phenotype is a benign health condition. Vitamin D deficiency may exacerbate the risk of cardiometabolic death outcomes associated with metabolic dysfunction in participants within the normal weight and obesity BMI ranges. Further research is warranted to validate our findings.

#### **6.2 Introduction**

The existence of the metabolically healthy obesity (MHO) has become increasingly recognized [347]; however, the benign health condition of the MHO phenotype has been widely debated and studies have reported conflicting findings [97–103,348–355]. Moreover, the prevalence of MHO phenotype varies significantly across studies, where the prevalence has been estimated to range between 10% and 40% in the adult population [347]. Although study-specific factors such as age, ethnicity, environmental factors and genetics may explain some of these discrepant findings, the lack of a harmonized definition for risk stratification accounts for a large proportion of the reported discrepancy [28]. Most previous studies have included at least one metabolic abnormality [97–101,103,355], yet the type of metabolic abnormality differs across studies and this may affect the long-term risk estimates differently. Therefore, use of a harmonized definition for MHO phenotype, defined as having zero metabolic abnormality [28], is important for establishing whether obesity or metabolic health is a more important predictor of adverse health outcomes.

Identification of novel biomarkers is also needed to have a better understanding of the risk factors that modulate the prognosis of the MHO phenotype. Suboptimal vitamin D status has been associated with increased risk of chronic diseases and mortality [33,356,357]. Obesity is an established risk factor for vitamin D deficiency, where a causal link between obesity and hypovitaminosis D has been reported in a Mendelian randomization study [23], and high adiposity is consistently associated with low serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels [25(OH)D, the accepted measure of vitamin D status] in observational studies [301]. Vitamin D is thought to play a key role in preserving the healthy lipid and inflammatory profile of the MHO phenotype [25]; however, conflicting evidence exists in the literature [26,27].

Although previous studies have evaluated the dose-response relationship between vitamin D status and mortality risk [33,261], with some studies reporting a U-shaped or inverse J-shaped association [199,358], lack of standardized serum 25(OH)D data have impeded our understanding of the dose-response relationship between vitamin D status and non-skeletal health outcomes [7,8]. Moreover, previous studies have evaluated the individual contributions of

metabolic health, obesity, and vitamin D status in relation to long-term health outcomes; however, their joint associations have been largely unexplored. Elucidating the interrelation between metabolic health, obesity, and vitamin D may aid in the development of more effective treatment strategies that may ultimately reduce the burden of obesity-related complications.

The purpose of this study was therefore to investigate whether MHO, defined as having zero metabolic abnormality, is associated with subsequent all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality, and to evaluate the joint association of metabolic health phenotype and vitamin D status in relation to mortality risk using data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III, 1988-1994).

#### 6.3 Subjects and Methods

#### 6.3.1 Data Source

The NHANES III (1988-1994) is a representative survey of the civilian, non-institutionalized US population conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) of the Center for Disease Control and Prevention. The NCHS has updated mortality data for NHANES III up to December 31, 2011, and the baseline data collected in 1988-1994 was linked to mortality data using a probabilistic record matching with death certificates records obtained from the National Death Index (NDI). Follow-up time was calculated from examination date until date of death or end of study (December 31, 2011). Detailed descriptions of the survey design and mortality matching method are published elsewhere [359,360]. The NCHS institutional board approved NHANES III and all participants provided written informed consent [359].

#### **6.3.2 Outcome Measures**

All-cause and cardiometabolic mortality status were obtained from publicly available dataset. For participants classified as "assumed deceased", death cases were coded according to the Tenth Revision of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) and with underlying cause of death further categorized into ten broad groups: Diseases of heart; malignant neoplasms; chronic lower respiratory diseases; accidents (unintentional injuries); cerebrovascular diseases; Alzheimer's disease; diabetes mellitus; influenza and pneumonia; nephritis, nephrotic syndrome and nephrosis; and all other causes (residual). For cardiometabolic death outcomes, we combined deaths classified as diseases of heart, cerebrovascular diseases and diabetes mellitus.

# **6.3.3 Exposure Measures**

Exposure was defined as a combination of body mass index (BMI: kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and metabolic health. A harmonized definition of metabolic health was used [28], where 'metabolically healthy' individuals are defined as having zero of the metabolic syndrome (MetS) criteria (excluding waist circumference) [60]. Participants with at least one of the four metabolic risk factors were defined as 'metabolically unhealthy'.

Systolic and diastolic blood pressure (BP) was the average of up to 6 measurements collected under standard conditions [361]. Individuals who self-reported a history of hypertension or use of BP medication were defined as having hypertension. Serum triglyceride, HDL-cholesterol, and fasting plasma glucose (FPG) concentrations were measured using standardized laboratory procedures as reported by NCHS [361]. Participants reporting a history of diabetes or current diabetes medications were considered to have dysglycemia. Similarly, participants taking lipid-modifying medications were considered to have dyslipidemia. Medication use was self-reported by questionnaire during the in-home interview.

BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was categorized into normal weight (18.5 to 24.9), overweight (25 to 29.9), and obesity ( $\geq$  30). Participants were subsequently divided into six metabolic phenotypes: metabolically healthy normal-weight (MHNW), metabolically healthy overweight (MHOW), metabolically healthy obesity (MHO), metabolically unhealthy normal-weight (non-MHNW), metabolically unhealthy overweight (non-MHOW), and metabolically unhealthy obesity (non-MHO).

#### 6.3.4 Covariate Data

Age, sex, ethnicity (Non-Hispanic White, Non-Hispanic Black, Mexican-American or other), smoking status, educational level, and leisure-time physical activity (LTPA) were self-reported by questionnaire during the in-home interview. Smoking status was categorized into current, former or never smokers (cigarettes only). Educational attainment was coded as less than high school, high school diploma, and more than high school. LTPA was assessed by a questionnaire that asked participants about the type and frequency of the following 9 activities: run/jog, swim, bicycle, aerobics, calisthenics, dancing, yard or garden work, weight lifting, or other physical activity). For each of these 9 activities, a validated metabolic equivalent (MET) score was assigned and using these scores, we estimated the total weekly LTPA MET. Serum creatinine was recalibrated to be traceable to an isotope-derived mass spectroscopy method using the following equation: standardized creatinine (mg/dL)= [0.960 x NHANES III serum creatinine (mg/dL)]- 0.18 [362]. Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was calculated using the Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) equation [363]. Serum C-reactive protein (CRP) was measured using a low sensitivity method that can detect CRP levels > 0.22 mg/dL [361]. Because most individuals had values below the minimum detectable level, CRP was treated as a categorical variable using clinical cut-off points as previously described [364]: low (< 0.22 mg/dL), moderate (0.22-< 1.0 mg/dL), and high ( $\geq$  1.0 mg/dL). We used standardized serum 25(OH)D values in this study [278]. Season of blood draw was categorized as winter (November to April) and summer (May to October).

Poverty-to-income ratio (PIR), a ratio of total family income to the official poverty threshold, was used to assess the socioeconomic status. The Healthy Eating Index (HEI) scores derived from 24-hour dietary recall was used to assess the overall diet quality of participants [365]. Alcohol consumption was assessed by questionnaire and estimated as number of drinks per month.

# 6.3.5 Analytical Sample

A total of 18,825 adults aged 20 years or older were interviewed in NHANES III, and 16,573 completed the mobile examination center (MEC) and laboratory examinations. After applying the exclusion criteria, the total analytical sample included 11,333 participants aged  $\geq$  20 years with no history of CVD and cancer (excluding skin cancer) (**Chapter 6: supplementary data**, **Figure 1**).

# 6.3.6 Statistical Analysis

Baseline characteristics were analyzed according to metabolic health phenotype using sampling weights to account for differential probability of selection [359]. Differences in continuous and categorical data were assessed using weighted Wald-F and Chi-square tests as appropriate. Survey weighted Cox proportional hazards (PH) regression models were constructed and

adjusted for age, sex, ethnicity, smoking status, education level, LTPA, eGFR, serum CRP and 25(OH)D. For cardiometabolic mortality, we also performed Fine and Gray regression to estimate the cumulative incidence of cardiometabolic death while accounting for competing events (i.e., cancer and other deaths) [366]. SAS macro (%PSHREG) was used to plot the cumulative incidence curves for cardiometabolic mortality [367]. The PH assumption was tested using log-minus-log survival plots and analysis of Schoenfeld residuals, and no violations were observed.

Unweighted Cox PH models with restricted cubic splines (RCS) were used to graphically display the dose-response relations between serum 25(OH)D and all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality in the overall sample [368,369]. Knots in the RCS models were set at the 25<sup>th</sup>, 50<sup>th</sup>, and 75<sup>th</sup> percentiles of serum 25(OH)D, with 50 nmol/L set as the reference level. We examined the non-linear relation between 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic mortality non-parametrically with RCS models; tests for non-linearity used the likelihood ratio test, comparing the model with only the linear term to the model with the linear and the cubic spline terms [369]. On the basis of previous literature, the RCS models were adjusted for age, sex, ethnicity, smoking status, education, LTPA, eGFR, serum CRP and season. The joint association between metabolic phenotype and serum 25(OH)D with mortality (all-cause and cardiometabolic death outcomes) was assessed by a formal test of interaction. Significant interaction terms were further stratified by the effect modification term.

All analyses were conducted with SAS version 9.4 (Cary, NC). P-value < 0.05 was considered significant.

# 6.3.7 Sensitivity Analyses

#### **Adjustment for Additional Confounders**

Due to the large number of missing data for alcohol consumption, income, and diet quality, we adjusted for these covariates in a sensitivity analysis to further account for potential residual confounding. This analysis included 9,744 participants.
#### Using Waist Circumference to Define Obesity

We used waist circumference (WC) to define abdominal obesity and examine whether metabolically healthy but abdominally obese individuals are at increased risk of mortality. WC (cm) was defined as low (men,  $\leq$  94; women,  $\leq$  80), intermediate (men, > 94 and  $\leq$  102; women, > 80 and  $\leq$  88), and elevated (men, > 102; women, > 88) [370]. This analysis included 10,988 participants.

#### 6.4 Results

#### **6.4.1 Baseline Characteristics**

The total sample included 11,333 adults aged  $\geq$  20 years with no history of CVD and cancer; 2,980 participants died during a median follow-up of 19.1 years, with 937 cardiometabolic death outcomes.

**Table 6.1** shows the weighted characteristics of the study population according to metabolic phenotypes. A total of 367 participants met the MHO definition (3.2% of the total sample). The mean age was 43.6 (42.8, 44.5) years in the overall sample. Mean age was consistently higher among metabolically unhealthy participants compared to their metabolically healthy counterparts. Metabolically healthy participants had lower BMI and mean values for the four metabolic risk factors than their metabolically unhealthy counterparts. Metabolically healthy participants (irrespective of BMI status) also had lower prevalence of current smokers, better kidney function, lower CRP values and were more educated. Overall, mean serum 25(OH)D was negatively associated with BMI and was significantly higher in MHNW (67.6 nmol/L) compared to non-MHNW (63.3 nmol/L), however, no significant differences were observed between metabolically healthy and unhealthy participants within the overweight and obesity BMI ranges (overweight: 61.4 vs. 62.4 nmol/L; obesity: 53.8 vs. 55.5 nmol/L).

#### 6.4.2 Metabolic Health Phenotype and Mortality Risk

**Table 6.2** shows the hazard ratios (HRs) for all-cause mortality and cause-specific HRs for cardiometabolic and non-cardiometabolic mortality. MHNW participants were used as reference group (HR=1.0). After adjusting for confounders, we observed a higher risk of all-cause

mortality among metabolically unhealthy participants within the normal-weight and obesity BMI range. MHOW, non-MHOW, and MHO were not associated with risk of all-cause mortality. In relation to cardiometabolic mortality, being metabolically unhealthy irrespective of BMI status was associated with a significantly higher cause-specific hazard for cardiometabolic death outcomes, whereas no significant association was observed in relation to non-cardiometabolic mortality. For MHOW and MHO participants, the cause-specific HRs for cardiometabolic and non-cardiometabolic death outcomes were not significant.

**Figure 6.1** shows the cumulative incidence curves (obtained from Fine and Gray model to adjust for competing events) for cardiometabolic mortality stratified by metabolic health phenotype. In the unadjusted cumulative incidence (Figure 6.1A), the risk of cardiometabolic mortality over 23 years of follow-up remained low in metabolically healthy participants irrespective of their BMI status (< 4%), whereas the risk of cardiometabolic mortality was higher in metabolically unhealthy participants, with the highest incidence observed among non-MHNW participants (12.8%). After adjusting for age, sex, ethnicity, smoking status, education, LTPA, eGFR, serum CRP and 25(OH)D (Figure 6.1B), the estimated cumulative incidence of cardiometabolic mortality was lowest for MHO participants followed by MHNW and MHOW participants. Among metabolically unhealthy participants, non-MHO participants had the highest risk of cardiometabolic mortality, and non-MHNW and non-MHOW participants had comparable risk of cardiometabolic mortality, and non-MHNW and non-MHOW participants had comparable risk of cardiometabolic death outcomes over 23 years of follow-up.

#### 6.4.3 Standardized Serum 25(OH)D Status and Mortality Risk

**Figure 6.2** shows the dose-response relation between 25(OH)D and all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality risk in the overall sample. Serum 25(OH)D levels below 50 nmol/L were significantly and inversely associated with increased risk of all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality, and the minimum relative risk was observed with values near 60-75 nmol/L. There was a significant interaction between metabolic phenotype and serum 25(OH)D in relation to cardiometabolic mortality (*P* interaction < 0.0001). **Figure 6.3** shows the dose-response relation between serum 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic mortality further stratified by metabolic health phenotype. Within the normal-weight BMI range, there was a linear inverse association between serum 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic mortality. This inverse association was stronger

for non-MHNW participants where there was a clear relative risk reduction in cardiometabolic mortality with increasing serum 25(OH)D levels. For individuals within the overweight BMI range, we observed a non-significant curvilinear relation between 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic mortality. Lastly, for MHO participants, we observed a non-significant inverse association between serum 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic mortality risk. For non-MHO participants, there was a significant inverse association between low 25(OH)D (< 50 nmol/L) and cardiometabolic mortality risk, however this inverse relation attenuated at the higher end of 25(OH)D concentrations (> 50 nmol/L).

#### 6.4.4 Sensitivity Analyses

When we further adjusted our models for income, alcohol consumption, and diet quality in a subset sample of 9,744 participants with complete data, HR estimates were similar to the main analysis (**Chapter 6: supplementary data, Table 1**). When using WC to define obesity, a total of 630 participants were categorized as MHO (5.7% of the total sample), and results were also similar to the main analysis (**Chapter 6: supplementary data, Table 1**).

#### **6.5 Discussion**

In a population study of 11,333 U.S. adults with a median follow-up of 19.1 years, we found that in the absence of any metabolic dysfunction, obesity (MHO) was not associated with a higher risk of all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality. We found a significant interaction between metabolic health and serum 25(OH)D in relation to cardiometabolic death outcomes. Specifically, 25(OH)D levels were inversely associated with cardiometabolic mortality in normal-weight individuals irrespective of metabolic health status (linear association) and in non-MHO individuals (non-linear association). For overweight individuals and MHO participants, we did not observe a significant inverse association between serum 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic mortality. Overall, metabolic health was a more important predictor of adverse outcomes in our study and effect modification by 25(OH)D raises the possibility that optimizing vitamin D status may improve the prognosis of cardiometabolic health outcomes, particularly in high-risk groups (i.e., individuals with metabolic dysfunction and vitamin D deficiency). Our study findings are in agreement with studies showing MHO is not associated with increased risk of all-cause or cardiometabolic mortality [348–354], yet other studies have questioned the benign health condition of MHO [97–103,355]. Most recently, Lassale et al. [103] found that metabolically healthy participants within the overweight and obesity BMI ranges had higher coronary heart disease (CHD) risk than their normal-weight counterparts. However, they classified participants as metabolically healthy if they did not meet the MetS criteria (i.e.,  $\leq 2$ components) [103]. In their sensitivity analysis to assess the contribution of overweight and obesity with zero MetS components, they found that overweight and obesity was not associated with subsequent CHD risk [103]. While they appear inconsistent, their results are, in fact, in agreement with our findings. In addition, when using WC to define abdominal obesity, our results were similar to the main analysis in that metabolically healthy abdominally obese participants were not at increased risk of all-cause or cardiometabolic mortality. Our results are in agreement with a recent study by Doustmohamadian et al. in relation to all-cause mortality [371], however, Keihani et al. reported an increased risk of CVD outcomes among metabolically healthy abdominally obese individuals [372]. Studies that have questioned the benign health status of the metabolically healthy obesity (using either BMI or WC to define obesity) have included a large proportion of individuals with  $\leq 2$  components of the MetS criteria [97– 101,103,355,372]. The differences in estimated risk could be ascribed to the variation in type and severity of the MetS components across different studies, and evidence suggests that cardiometabolic risk increases with the presence of just one metabolic abnormality [373]. Therefore, we argue that use of a strict criterion to define metabolic health is more appropriate for risk stratification [28].

In relation to cardiometabolic mortality, competing risk events are common in epidemiologic research and are particularly relevant to studies with long-term follow-up [366,374]. In our study, the frequency of competing events was ~18% in the overall sample and ~5% among MHO participants. For risk prediction, it is important to account for competing events because standard survival methods overestimate the cumulative incidence of an event of interest [366,374]. Additionally, a higher hazard rate may not necessarily coincide with a higher cumulative incidence because the one-to-one correspondence between the hazard rate and the CIF is lost in the presence of competing risks [366,374]. In our study, we found the results from the cause-

specific HRs for MHO participants were similar to the cumulative incidence estimates because the frequency of competing events was low among MHO participants (i.e,  $\sim 5\%$ ). To our knowledge, previous studies assessing CVD prognosis among MHO participants have not accounted for competing events, and depending on the frequency of competing events in each study cohort, an increase in hazard rate may not necessarily imply an increase in the cumulative incidence of events [374]. Studies assessing the prognosis of the MHO phenotype in relation to cause-specific events should be aware of the potential bias introduced by standard survival methods and should account for competing events to more appropriately estimate the CVD prognosis of MHO participants.

We found evidence of a nonlinear association between 25(OH)D and all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality in the overall sample, with the minimum risk observed with values near 60-75 nmol/L. In our study, 25(OH)D modified the association between metabolic phenotype and cardiometabolic mortality. Effect modification by 25(OH)D was particularly pronounced among metabolically unhealthy normal-weight individuals such that higher 25(OH)D status (> 50 nmol/L) attenuated the increased risk of cardiometabolic mortality, with no evidence of a threshold effect. Higher 25(OH)D status among MHO participants had a nonsignificant inverse association with cardiometabolic mortality; this non-significance may be attributed to the small sample size (n=367). For non-MHO participants, there was a significant nonlinear inverse relationship between 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic mortality, with the highest risk observed for 25(OH)D < 50 nmol/L. The nonlinear association and the wide confidence intervals for participants within the obesity BMI range may either reflect a threshold effect of vitamin D or may be a function of the insufficient data for high 25(OH)D levels (> 50 nmol/L). For participants within the overweight BMI range, the non-linear association of serum 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic mortality was not significant. These results could reflect a chance finding. Moreover, the non-MHOW subgroup had the highest average age compared to other subgroups, and although we adjusted for age in our models, there may be residual confounding due to older age of non-MHOW participants, thus contributing to the non-significant association. Vitamin D may mitigate the detrimental effects of metabolic dysfunction on cardiometabolic death outcomes (i.e., diabetes, hypertension, CVD) in several ways. Insulin resistance (IR) is the core metabolic trait associated with type-2 diabetes and several lines of evidence support a role

of vitamin D in glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity [3]. A recent meta-analysis of randomized control trials (RCT) showed that vitamin D supplementation (with a minimum dose of 4000 IU/d) significantly improved FPG, HbA1c, and insulin sensitivity in patients with type-2 diabetes [375]. Another recent RCT showed that 2,800 IU/d of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> in vitamin D deficient participants with obesity significantly reduced HbA1c by 3.52 mmol per mol of vitamin D [376]. Vitamin D supplementation has also been shown to be an effective intervention in hypertensive patients; several RCTs have shown a beneficial effect of vitamin D on central BP parameters in hypertensive patients with vitamin D deficiency [222,224]. While other RCTs have found null results in relation to BP parameter (particularly in untargeted populations), a Mendelian randomization study supported a causal role of vitamin D in hypertension [208]. Thus, the effect modification observed in our study could reflect changes in glycemic control and hypertension, particularly in metabolically unhealthy participants within the normal weight and obesity BMI ranges. While vitamin D has been shown to improve glycemic and BP parameters, no clinical trials have been performed specifically to investigate whether vitamin D supplementation can help individuals with metabolic dysfunction to transition in the metabolically healthy state. Although weight-loss through lifestyle modification is recommended for patients with obesity [24], long-term weight-loss maintenance remains challenging, and vitamin D supplementation has been proposed as an adjunct therapy in high-risk individuals [375]. Individuals with obesity have a higher risk of vitamin D deficiency [23] and may require at least 6,000 IU vitamin  $D_3/d$  to maintain serum 25(OH)D > 50 nmol/L [377]. Future well-designed RCTs are needed to investigate whether vitamin D supplementation is beneficial for transition and maintenance of metabolic health in targeted populations.

The present study has several limitations. Biomarkers for metabolic health, adiposity, and serum 25(OH)D were measured only once at baseline, therefore we were not able to assess the transition from metabolically healthy to unhealthy states, as well as any changes in 25(OH)D over time. In addition, only 3% of participants were categorized as MHO and consequently there were relatively few deaths among MHO phenotype, and this lead to a relatively wide confidence intervals for the risk estimates; therefore, these estimates should be interpreted with caution. For competing risk analysis, we were unable to further adjust for NHANES survey weights using the Fine and Gray model and it is difficult to obtain a true estimate of the frequency and the

distribution of competing events at the population level. Therefore, our estimate of competing events may not be transferable to other populations with a different distribution of competing events. As with any observational study, the presence of residual confounding related to measurement errors and unmeasured variables (i.e., genetic factors) cannot be eliminated in our study.

In conclusion, our study supports the hypothesis that metabolically healthy obesity is a benign health condition and our results suggest that metabolic health is a more important predictor of adverse events. MHO individuals did not have higher mean 25(OH)D levels compared to non-MHO individuals; however, vitamin D status modified the association between metabolic phenotype and cardiometabolic mortality, particularly among metabolically unhealthy normalweight and obesity phenotypes. Future large interventional studies are needed to help clarify the joint association between vitamin D and metabolic health.

	Normal weight (n=4380)Overweight (n=4022)Obesity (n=2931)						
	Healthy (n=1939)	Unhealthy (n=2441)	Healthy (n=922)	Unhealthy (n=3100)	Healthy (n=367)	Unhealthy (n=2564)	P-value
Age, y	35.1 (34.2, 36.0)	46.3 (44.6, 47.9)	38.2 (37.0, 39.4)	48.5 (47.4, 49.6)	37.9 (36.4, 39.5)	46.9 (45.9, 47.9)	<.0001
FPG, mmol/L	4.90 (4.87, 4.92)	5.32 (5.27, 5.38)	5.02 (4.99, 5.05)	5.55 (5.49, 5.61)	4.97 (4.89, 5.05)	5.87 (5.75, 5.99)	<.0001
Triglyceride, mmol/L	0.88 (0.86, 0.91)	1.47 (1.42, 1.52)	1.01 (0.98, 1.04)	1.93 (1.85, 2.01)	1.07 (1.01, 1.12)	2.10 (2.02, 2.20)	<.0001
HDL- cholesterol, mmol/L	1.56 (1.54, 1.59)	1.30 (1.27, 1.32)	1.42 (1.39, 1.46)	1.18 (1.15, 1.20)	1.47 (1.41, 1.52)	1.13 (1.11, 1.14)	<.0001
SBP, mmHg	111.1 (110.3, 111.8)	123.4 (121.9, 124.9)	113.9 (112.9, 114.9)	127.2 (125.9, 128.4)	115.1 (113.6, 116.7)	129.5 (128.5, 130.5)	<.0001
DBP, mmHg	69.2 (68.7, 69.8)	73.9 (73.1, 74.7)	71.9 (71.0, 72.8)	77.3 (76.7,	72.9 (72.0, 73.8)	79.1 (78.5, 79.8)	<.0001
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	22.1 (21.9, 22.2)	22.5 (22.4, 22.6)	26.9 (26.7, 27.0)	27.2 (27.1, 27.2)	32.9 (32.5, 33.5)	34.8 (34.4, 35.2)	<.0001
Serum 25(OH)D, nmol/L	67.6 (65.7, 69.4)	63.3 (61.7, 64.9)	61.4 (59.2, 63.5)	62.4 (60.9, 63.8)	53.8 (50.2, 57.4)	55.5 (53.7, 57.4)	<.0001
Male, %	41.1 (39.5, 46.8)	45.3 (42.4, 48.2)	56.3 (51.3, 61.4)	60.7 (58.3, 63.0)	37.7 (27.2, 48.1)	43.2 (39.8, 46.7)	<.0001
Ethnicity, %							<.0001
Non-Hispanic Whites	78.7 (74.6, 82.9)	79.1 (75.8, 82.4)	73.8 (69.3, 78.3)	79.2 (76.1, 82.3)	67.2 (59.9, 74.5)	74.3 (71.1, 77.5)	
Non-Hispanic Blacks	8.99 (7.30, 10.7)	7.52 (6.34,	12.7 (10.4,	8.53 (7.48, 9.58)	20.5 (15.9,	12.4 (10.5,	
Mexican-	4.28 (3.32,	3.98 (3.12,	6.60 (5.01, 8 20)	5.89 (4.78,	4.61 (3.14,	6.28 (5.08, 7 48)	
Other	7.99 (5.03, 10.9)	9.36 (6.59, 12.1)	6.83 (3.83, 9.84)	6.42 (4.07, 8.77)	7.61 (3.25, 12.0)	6.93 (4.82, 9.04)	
Current smokers, %	29.8 (26.7, 32.9)	32.8 (29.8, 35.8)	18.6 (15.3, 22.0)	28.5 (25.6, 31.3)	20.9 (13.9, 28.0)	23.9 (21.3, 26.6)	<.0001
Education, %							<.0001
Less than high school	15.1 (12.8, 17.4)	24.6 (21.8, 27.4)	15.7 (11.9, 19.5)	26.6 (22.9, 30.4)	17.2 (12.4, 22.0)	28.2 (25.4, 30.9)	
High school	31.2 (28.4, 34.0)	32.4 (29.9, 35.0)	33.0 (28.1, 38.0)	34.7 (31.8, 37.6)	43.9 (36.3, 51.4)	37.6 (34.1, 41.2)	
More than high school	53.7 (49.9, 57.4)	42.9 (39.4, 46.4)	51.2 (45.6, 56.9)	38.6 (34.6, 42.6)	38.9 (31.3, 46.5)	34.1 (30.1, 38.2)	
Leisure-time PA, total weekly, MET	30.5 (28.0, 33.0)	27.5 (25.5, 29.6)	30.5 (26.9, 34.2)	24.6 (22.6, 26.7)	20.1 (15.9, 24.4)	21.4 (18.9, 23.9)	<.0001
eGFR, ml/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> , %							<.0001
≥ 90	85.7 (83.1, 88.3)	69.1 (65.9, 72.4)	80.6 (76.4, 84.8)	63.3 (60.8, 65.8)	84.3 (78.2, 90.3)	64.5 (61.8, 67.2)	
60-< 90	14.0 (11.4, 16.6)	26.3 (23.4, 29.3)	19.2 (15.0, 23.3)	32.3 (29.8, 34.7)	15.3 (9.20, 21.4)	30.1 (27.4, 32.7)	
< 60	0.28 (0.06, 0.50)	4.50 (3.65, 5.34)	0.20 (0.00, 4.44)	4.44 (3.46, 5.42)	0.41 (0.00, 1.23)	5.45 (4.52, 6.37)	

**Table 6. 1** Baseline characteristics of participants aged 20 years and older by metabolic health status:NHANES III survey 1988 to 1994.

CRP mg/dL, %							<.0001
< 0.22	90.6 (89.0, 92.2)	78.5 (75.3, 81.7)	81.4 (77.6, 85.2)	71.1 (67.0, 75.2)	58.4 (48.7, 68.1)	50.0 (46.0, 54.0)	
0.22-1.0	7.76 (6.04, 9.48)	15.7 (12.7, 18.7)	15.7 (11.8, 19.6)	22.4 (19.4 , 25.5)	29.7 (19.6, 39.7)	36.4 (32.8, 40.1)	
≥ 1.0	1.61 (0.76, 2.47)	5.75 (4.30, 7.19)	2.84 (1.22, 4.45)	6.42 (4.81, 8.03)	11.9 (7.45, 16.4)	13.5 (11.6, 15.4)	

Values are survey-weighted means or frequencies (%), and 95% CIs in parenthesis. P-values are based on Wald-F test and Chi-square tests, which test the independence of means and frequencies, respectively, across metabolic health groups.

**Table 6. 2** All-cause, cardiometabolic (CM) and non-CM mortality hazard ratios (HRs) for participants aged 20 years and older according to metabolic health status: NHANES III survey 1988 to 1994 with follow-up through 2011.

N=11,333			All-cause mortality			СМа	mortality		Non-CM mortality	
	Median follow- up, yr	All-cause deaths/N	HR	95% CI	CM deaths/N	HR	95% CI	non-CM deaths/N	HR	95% CI
MHNW	20.0	179/1939	1.00	-	37/1939	1.00	-	142/1939	1.00	-
MHOW	19.7	87/922	0.85	0.59, 1.22	20/922	0.94	0.38, 2.33	67/922	0.84	0.56, 1.27
МНО	19.6	25/367	0.89	0.52, 1.51	6/367	1.21	0.33, 4.46	19/367	0.84	0.47, 1.50
non- MHNW	18.7	891/2441	1.38*	1.12, 1.69	286/2441	2.22*	1.28, 3.82	605/2441	1.23	0.95, 1.59
non- MHOW	18.7	1055/3100	1.15	0.91, 1.47	345/3100	1.94*	1.12, 3.34	710/3100	1.02	0.77, 1.33
non- MHO	18.7	743/2564	1.44*	1.17, 1.76	243/2564	2.51*	1.53, 4.09	500/2564	1.26	0.99, 1.61

HRs are adjusted for age, sex, ethnicity, smoking status, educational level, leisure-time physical activity, kidney function (eGFR), serum CRP and 25(OH)D. \*P-value  $\leq 0.05$ .

MHNW: Metabolically Healthy Normal-Weight

MHOW: Metabolically Healthy Overweight

MHO: Metabolically Healthy Obesity

Non-MHNW: Metabolically Unhealthy Normal Weight

Non-MHOW: Metabolically Unhealthy Overweight

Non-MHO: Metabolically Unhealthy Obesity



#### Figure 6-1A

#### Figure 6-1B

**Figure 6.1** Cumulative incidence curves for cardiometabolic (CM) death outcomes by metabolic health phenotypes among participants aged 20 years and older: NHANES III survey with follow-up through 2011.

Unadjusted (Figure 6-1A) and adjusted (Figure 6-1B) cumulative incidence curves for cardiometabolic (CM) death outcomes by metabolic health phenotypes among participants aged 20 years and older: NHANES III survey with follow-up through 2011. Cumulative incidence functions (CIFs) were obtained from Fine and Gray model (i.e., adjusting for non-cardiometabolic deaths). CIFs (Figure 1B) were adjusted for age, sex, ethnicity, smoking status, educational level, leisure-time physical activity, kidney function (eGFR), serum CRP and 25(OH)D.



Figure 6-2A

Figure 6-2B

**Figure 6. 2** Adjusted cubic spline models showing hazard ratios (HR) for all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality according to serum 25(OH)D concentration in participants aged 20 years and older: NHANES III survey.

Models are adjusted for metabolic health phenotype, age, sex, ethnicity, smoking status, education level, leisure-time PA, kidney function (eGFR), serum CRP, and season of blood draw. The solid line represents HR for all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality and the dashed lines represent the 95% confidence intervals. Knots are at the 25th, 50th, and 75th percentiles for serum 25(OH)D. Reference value for serum 25(OH)D is 50 nmol/L (HR=1.0).



**Figure 6. 3** Adjusted cubic spline models showing association between serum 25(OH)D levels and hazard ratios (HRs) for cardiometabolic mortality stratified by metabolic health status among participants aged 20 years and older: NHANES III survey 1988 to 1994.

Models are adjusted for age, sex, ethnicity, smoking, education level, leisure-time PA, kidney function (eGFR), serum CRP, and season of blood draw. The solid line represents HR for cardiometabolic mortality and the dashed lines represent the 95% CIs. Knots are at the 25th, 50th, and 75th percentiles for serum 25(OH)D. Reference value for serum 25(OH)D is 50 nmol/L (HR=1.0).

#### **Chapter 6: Supplementary data**



**Figure 1:** Flowchart showing the exclusion criteria for sample derivation, NHANES III (1988-1994).

#### Adjustment for additional confounders (income, alcohol consumption, HEI score)

**Table 1**. All-cause, cardiometabolic (CM) and non-CM mortality hazard ratios (HR) for participants aged 20years and older according to metabolic health status: NHANES III survey 1988 to 1994 with follow-up through2011.

N=9,744			All-cause mortality			CM mortality			N m	on-CM ortality
	Median follow- up, yr	All cause deaths/N	HR	95% CI	CM deaths/N	HR	95% CI	non-CM deaths/N	HR	95% CI
MHNW	19.9	146/1699	1.00	-	31/1699	1.00	-	115/1699	1.00	-
мноw	19.7	71/814	0.89	0.58, 1.35	14/814	0.84	0.31, 2.31	57/814	0.91	0.57, 1.44
мно	19.6	19/317	0.82	0.42, 1.58	4/317	1.21	0.28, 5.21	15/317	0.75	0.34, 1.65
non- MHNW	18.8	717/2084	1.34*	1.07, 1.66	224/2084	1.90*	1.11, 3.27	493/2084	1.24	0.94, 1.63
non- MHOW	18.7	875/2634	1.18	0.90, 1.55	286/2634	1.82*	1.03, 3.22	589/2634	1.06	0.79, 1.44
non- MHO	18.7	619/2196	1.44*	1.15, 1.81	201/2196	2.46*	1.48, 4.10	418/2196	1.26	0.97, 1.64

Hazard ratios are adjusted for age, sex, ethnicity, smoking, education level, leisure-time PA, kidney function (eGFR), serum CRP, serum 25(OH)D, income, alcohol consumption, and diet quality (HEI score). \*P-value  $\leq$  0.05.

MHNW: Metabolically Healthy Normal-Weight

MHOW: Metabolically Healthy Overweight

MHO: Metabolically Healthy Obesity

Non-MHNW: Metabolically Unhealthy Normal Weight

Non-MHOW: Metabolically Unhealthy Overweight

Non-MHO: Metabolically Unhealthy Obesity

#### Different definition of obesity (using waist circumference (WC) to define obesity)

**Table 2.** All-cause, cardiometabolic (CM) and non-CM mortality hazard ratios (HRs) for participants aged 20years and older according to metabolic health status: NHANES III survey 1988 to 1994 with follow-up through2011.

N=10,988			All-cause mortality			CM mortality			non-CM mortality	
	Median follow- up, yr	All cause deaths/N	HR	95% CI	CM deaths/N	HR	95% CI	non-CM deaths/N	HR	95% CI
Healthy low WC	20.0	147/1917	1.00	-	28/1917	1.00	-	119/1917	1.00	-
Healthy intermediate WC	19.7	60/610	0.83	0.53, 1.30	12/610	0.63	0.22, 1.79	48/610	0.88	0.52, 1.49
Healthy elevated WC	19.6	71/630	1.02	0.70, 1.48	20/630	1.34	0.53, 3.36	51/630	0.99	0.63, 1.55
Unhealthy low WC	19.2	537/2029	1.38*	1.14, 1.68	163/2029	2.26*	1.28, 3.99	374/2029	1.24	0.97, 1.59
Unhealthy intermediate WC	18.8	593/1776	1.27*	1.02, 1.58	189/1776	2.17*	1.15, 4.11	404/1776	1.11	0.85, 1.47
Unhealthy elevated WC	18.5	1422/4026	1.37*	1.12, 1.68	473/4026	2.28*	1.21, 4.31	949/4026	1.23	0.97, 1.56

HRs are adjusted for age, sex, ethnicity, smoking status, educational level, leisure-time physical activity, kidney function (eGFR), serum CRP and 25(OH)D.

\*P-value  $\leq 0.05$ . Waist circumference (WC) defined as low (men,  $\leq 94$  cm; women,  $\leq 80$  cm), intermediate (men, > 94 and  $\leq 102$  cm; women, > 80 and  $\leq 88$  cm), and elevated (men, > 102 cm; women, > 88 cm).

# Chapter 7: Study 4- Lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality according to vitamin D status of middle and older-aged adults: NHANES III mortality follow-up

Manuscript is under review by the Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (submitted May 8, 2018).

#### Authors' contribution:

All authors have read and approved the final version being submitted with contributions as follows: conception (BA), data acquisition (BA), statistical analysis (BA) and interpretation of data (BA, JLK, CIA), drafting of manuscript (BA), critical review and editing (BA, JLK, CIA).

#### 7.1 Abstract

**Background & Objectives:** The predictive value of total 25-hydroxyvitamin D level (25(OH)D, a biomarker of vitamin D status) in relation to lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality is not known. The purpose of this study was to determine the association between standardized total 25(OH)D levels and lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality in middle- to older-aged adults. **Methods:** We followed up 7,958 participants in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey from 1988-1994 until the occurrence of cardiometabolic death or attainment of 95 years of age (median follow-up 17.9 years, 1,371 cardiometabolic-deaths). Lifetime risks to 70 and 95 years of age were estimated according to recommended total 25(OH)D cutoffs by national guidelines, and a combination of total 25(OH)D category and traditional risk factor burden. We also explored variation in lifetime risk estimates by levels of body mass index (BMI).

**Results:** Participants with total 25(OH)D <30 nmol/L had high lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality ( $\geq$  36%). Lifetime risk was highest among participants with total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L and with  $\geq$  2 major traditional risk factors (25% and 43% at 70 and 95 years of age), whereas lifetime risk was lowest among participants with 25(OH)D  $\geq$  30 nmol/L and low-intermediate traditional risk factors (3% and 28% at 70 and 95 years of age). Lifetime risk estimates were consistent across BMI categories.

**Conclusion:** A single measurement of vitamin D deficiency (< 30 nmol/L) in middle- to olderaged adults is a strong predictor of high lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality, particularly among those with high burden of traditional risk factors.

#### 7.2 Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in the United States [378]. The most recent national guidelines suggest that clinicians should consider patients' risk factor burden within the context of lifetime risk to capture the cumulative burden of CVD with advancing age [29]. Several well-established traditional risk factors, including hypertension, diabetes, and hypercholesterolemia, are viewed as target risk factors for treatment and management of CVD outcomes. Although the development of traditional CVD risk factors can be delayed or altogether prevented through healthy lifestyle behaviors, long-term maintenance of a healthy diet, non-smoking, physical activity, and appropriate weight outside of a clinical trial setting is often challenging [110]. Therefore, prevention and management of CVD requires a multifaceted approach and complementary strategies are needed to reduce the cumulative burden of CVD events with advancing age.

Of interest, prior research has demonstrated an independent and inverse association between vitamin D status, as measured by total 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) levels, and cardiometabolic disease risk including CVD mortality [34,379]. Although several studies have shown a significant inverse association, such associations do not necessarily support the clinical usefulness or the predictive value of total 25(OH)D in the context of long-term disease risk prediction at the population level [2,21]. In addition, the relationship between total 25(OH)D and risk of cardiometabolic disease may be confounded by obesity, given that excess adiposity is a risk factor for vitamin D deficiency [23]. Therefore, excess weight is an important factor to consider and it is unknown whether the predictive ability of 25(OH)D in relation to cardiometabolic disease risk is similar in individuals classified as normal-weight, overweight, or obesity [380].

Although most RCTs of vitamin D supplementation to date have failed to show a beneficial role of vitamin D in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes, prior RCTs have had significant shortcomings [5,6]. Moreover, it is known that RCTs are more difficult to conduct properly and to test the right-dose response in a targeted population for a sufficient time-period [381]. Given these current limitations, lifetime risk analysis provides a unique opportunity to assess the

predictive value of total 25(OH)D in the context of long-term risk prediction (>10 years), which may not be a feasible approach in RCTs.

The objective of this study was to determine the association between total 25(OH)D levels and lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality overall, and to further explore variation by levels of body mass index (BMI) in adults  $\geq$  40 years of age from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III).

#### 7.3 Methods

#### 7.3.1 Study Sample

The NHANES III (1988-1994) is a representative survey of the civilian, non-institutionalized US population conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) of the Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Detailed description of the survey design and methodology are published elsewhere [359]. The baseline data collected in 1988-1994 was linked to mortality data (up to December 31, 2011) by a probabilistic record matching methodology with death certificate records obtained in the National Death Index (NDI). Detailed description of the matching methodology used to determine mortality status has been published elsewhere [360]. Follow-up time was calculated from clinical examination date until date of death or end of study (December 31, 2011). The NCHS institutional board approved NHANES III and all participants provided written informed consent [359].

A total of 23,258 adults aged 20 years and older were invited to participate in NHANES III, 18,825 were interviewed, and 16,573 completed the mobile examination center (MEC) and laboratory examinations. After applying the exclusion criteria, 7,958 participants had complete information on study parameters. A flowchart for sample derivation is shown in **Figure 1** (**Chapter 7: supplementary data**).

#### 7.3.2 Risk Factor Measurement

Age, sex, and smoking status were self-reported by questionnaire during the in-home interview. Diabetes status was defined as previous diagnosis of diabetes or a FPG  $\geq$  126 mg/dL or use of

insulin or any diabetes medication. Smoking status was categorized into current, former or never smokers (cigarettes only). BMI was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and categorized as normal weight (18.5-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), overweight (25-29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), and obesity ( $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>).

Systolic and diastolic BP was the average of up to 6 measurements. Total cholesterol and blood glucose were measured using standardized laboratory procedures as reported by NCHS [361]. We used standardized serum 25(OH)D values in this study [278].

#### 7.3.3 Cardiometabolic Mortality

We used the publicly available dataset to obtain information on cardiometabolic death outcomes. Death cases were coded according to the Tenth Revision of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) and with the underlying cause of death further categorized into ten broad groups: 1) Diseases of heart; 2) Malignant neoplasm; 3) Chronic lower respiratory diseases; 4) Accidents (unintentional injuries); 5) Cerebrovascular diseases; 6) Alzheimer's disease; 7) Diabetes mellitus; 8) Influenza and pneumonia; 9) Nephritis, nephrotic syndrome and nephrosis; and 10) All other causes (residual). For cardiometabolic mortality, we combined primary causes of death classified as diseases of heart, cerebrovascular diseases and diabetes mellitus.

#### 7.3.4 Statistical Analysis

Participant data were stratified according to baseline traditional CVD risk factor (RF) levels using a previously validated algorithm [32]. For traditional CVD RFs, we included measures of BP, total cholesterol, current smoking, presence of diabetes, and medications for hypertension and dyslipidemia. Participants were initially stratified a priori into 5 mutually exclusive risk categories (i.e., all-optimal,  $\geq 1$  not optimal,  $\geq 1$  elevated, 1 major, and  $\geq 2$  major RFs). Due to the small sample size for the "all-optimal" subgroup (n=298), we combined this subgroup with the " $\geq 1$  not optimal" subgroup and renamed it as "normal risk factors" (see Table 1 footnote for detailed description of RF levels).

For the lifetime risk analysis by vitamin D status, we stratified total 25(OH)D according to national guidelines by Health and Medicine Division (HMD) of the National Academies

(formerly known as Institute of Medicine, IOM) [2] and the Endocrine Society [16]; < 30 nmol/L, 30-< 50 nmol/L, 50-< 75 nmol/L, and  $\geq$  75 nmol/L.

For the joint effect of traditional risk burden and total 25(OH)D, participants were stratified according to combination of aggregate CVD risk burden and total 25(OH)D levels. First, traditional RF burden was re-categorized into "high-risk" ( $\ge 2$  major RFs) and "low-intermediate risk" (normal RFs,  $\ge 1$  elevated RFs, and 1 major RFs). We then dichotomized total 25(OH)D status as < 30 nmol/L and  $\ge 30$  nmol/L. Finally, we created 4 mutually exclusive risk groups based on traditional RFs and total 25(OH)D: 1) low-intermediate risk / < 30 nmol/L; 2) high-risk / < 30 nmol/L; 3) low-intermediate risk/  $\ge 30$  nmol/L; and 4) high-risk /  $\ge 30$  nmol/L.

We used the lifetime risk model, a modified Kaplan-Meier (KM) analysis, as described previously [382]. In brief, lifetime risk model adjusts for competing events (i.e., deaths due to cancer and other non-cardiometabolic death outcomes) by treating them as separate events and adjusts for risk inflation introduced by standard KM analysis [32,382]. Lifetime risk model also uses age as the underlying time-scale where participants contribute information on event status for each age attained during follow-up [382]. As such, each participant contributes person-time from study entry to the occurrence of cardiometabolic mortality, competing event, or the attainment of 95 years of age. We also conducted a sensitivity analysis by excluding participants with baseline CVD (i.e., with history of heart attack, stroke, or congestive heart failure). All analyses were performed with SAS statistical software version 9.4 (Cary, NC).

#### 7.4 Results

#### 7.4.1 Baseline Characteristics

We followed a sample of 7,958 participants 40 years of age or older for a total of 129,294 person-years (median follow-up of 17.9 years); there were 1,371 cardiometabolic deaths and 2,457 deaths due to other causes. Baseline characteristics of the overall sample and by BMI status are shown in **Table 7.1**.

#### 7.4.2 Lifetime Risk Estimates Stratified by Individual Traditional Risk Factors and BMI

**Table 7.2** shows the effect of individual traditional RFs on the lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality in the overall sample and by BMI status. In the overall sample, increasing BP and total cholesterol were associated with increased lifetime risk; the lifetime risk to 95 years of age was > 30% among participants with BP  $\ge 140/\ge 90$  mm Hg and total cholesterol  $\ge 200$  mg/dL. The presence of diabetes resulted in the highest lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality, at 46% through 95 years of age. Lifetime risk to 70 years of age was almost three times higher among current smokers (11.6%) compared to nonsmoker (4.25%); however lifetime risk to 90 years of age was similar for nonsmokers (26.6%) and smokers (27.6%). Because of sparse data, we were not able to provide lifetime risk estimates through 95 years of age, as few smokers survived past the age of 90. Similar trends were observed for lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality stratified by BMI status, however, presence of diabetes among normal-weight participants conferred the highest lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality; 34% and 59.4% at 70 and 95 years of age, respectively.

#### 7.4.3 Lifetime Risk Estimates Stratified by Aggregate Risk Factor Burden and BMI

Lifetime risks for cardiometabolic mortality through 95 years of age stratified by aggregate risk factor burden are shown in **Figure 7.1.** In the overall sample, the lifetime risk to 95 years of age for cardiometabolic mortality was highest among those with  $\geq 2$  major RFs (41.1%) followed by those with only 1 major RF (29.7%),  $\geq 1$  elevated RF (26.8%), and normal RFs (24.7%). Similar trends were observed for lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality stratified by BMI status.

#### 7.4.4 Lifetime Risk Estimates Stratified by 25(OH)D Status and BMI

Lifetime risks for cardiometabolic mortality through 95 years of age stratified by total 25(OH)D levels are shown in **Figure 7.2**. In the overall sample, lifetime risk to 70 years of age was highest for those with total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L (11.7%) and lowest for those with 25(OH)D levels between 50-75 nmol/L (4.2%). Lifetime risk to 95 years of age remained high for total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L (37.1%). Similar trends were observed for lifetime risk analyses stratified by BMI status; for participants with obesity, we omitted the lifetime risk estimates for total 25(OH)  $\geq$  75

nmol/L because the sample size was not sufficient to provide a reliable lifetime risk estimate (n=265).

## 7.4.5 Lifetime Risk Estimates Stratified by Aggregate Risk Factor, 25(OH)D Status, and BMI

**Figure 7.3** shows the combined effect of traditional RF burden and total 25(OH)D status in the overall sample and further stratified by BMI status. The lifetime risks were lowest in the low-intermediate risk /  $\geq$  30 nmol subgroup in the overall sample and across all BMI categories. Conversely, the lifetime risks were highest in the high risk / < 30 nmol/L subgroup. Among participants with high-risk burden (i.e.,  $\geq$  2 major RFs) in the overall sample, total 25(OH)D  $\geq$  30 nmol/L was associated with lower lifetime risk (i.e., 10% and 3% absolute risk reduction through 70 and 95 years of age, respectively). Among participants with low-intermediate risk burden, total 25(OH)D  $\geq$  30 nmol/L was also associated with lower lifetime risk (i.e., 3% and 6% absolute risk reduction through 70 and 95 years of age, respectively). Similar trends were observed across all BMI categories.

#### 7.4.6 Sensitivity Analysis

When we excluded participants with a history of CVD (i.e., history of heart attack, stroke or congestive heart failure) at baseline, the lifetime risk estimates were similar to the main analysis (Chapter 7: supplementary data, Figures 2-4).

#### 7.5 Discussion

In a population study of 7,958 U.S. adults with 129,294 person-years of follow-up, participants with total 25(OH)D levels < 30 nmol/L had high lifetime risk for cardiomatabolic mortality ( $\geq$  36%), and this finding was consistent across all BMI categories. In relation to traditional risk factor burden, having  $\geq$  2 major RFs conferred the highest lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality ( $\geq$  41%), and this finding was also consistent across all BMI categories. When participants were stratified by a combination of traditional risk factor burden and total 25(OH)D levels, the lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality was highest in the  $\geq$  2 major RFs / < 30 nmol/L subgroup, whereas the lifetime risk was lowest in the low-intermediate risk / $\geq$  30 nmol/L subgroup. Lastly, lifetime risks were intermediate for subgroups with low-intermediate

risk / < 30 nmol/L and  $\ge$  2 major risk factors /  $\ge$  30 nmol/L. These results remained similar across all BMI categories. Overall, our study findings indicate that a single measurement of total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L in middle- to older-aged adults is a strong predictor of high lifetime cardiometabolic mortality risk independent of BMI status, and that the effect of vitamin D deficiency (< 30 nmol/L) is particularly pronounced in individuals with  $\ge$  2 major traditional CVD risk factors.

In our study, the highest lifetime risk was observed among participants with  $\geq 2$  major traditional risk factors, followed by those with 1 major traditional risk factor only. Our results are in agreement with previous studies assessing the association between traditional CVD risk factor burden and lifetime risk for CVD [32]. Moreover, using data from the Lifetime Risk Pooling Project, a recent study by Khan et al. found that overweight and obesity was associated with an increased lifetime risk for CVD [92]. However, prior studies have not assessed the potential variation in lifetime risk estimates according to a combination of traditional risk factor burden and BMI status. Therefore, our study extends previous studies by estimating the lifetime risk according to traditional risk factors stratified BMI status; our results indicate that a single measurement of traditional risk factor burden in mid-life is a strong predictor of lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality with little to no variation by BMI status. This finding is in agreement with prior studies showing that risk factor burden is a more important driver of future health outcomes than overweight/obesity alone [380].

In relation to vitamin D status, participants with total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L had lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality that was 12% and 37% at 70 and 95 years of age, respectively. In the overall sample, the lowest lifetime risk was observed among participants with total 25(OH)D levels of 50-< 75 nmol/L (i.e., 4% and 26% at 70 and 95 years of age, respectively); however, after 90 years of age, no marked differences were observed for total 25(OH)D between 30- < 50 nmol/L, 50-< 75 nmol/L and  $\geq$  75 nmol/L. These findings persisted across all BMI categories; however, for participants with obesity, due to the low number of participants with total 25(OH)D  $\geq$  75 nmol/L (n=265), we were unable to provide a robust lifetime risk estimate for cardiometabolic mortality. To our knowledge, no previous study has estimated the absolute risk of cardiometabolic mortality associated with total 25(OH)D levels. However, prior observational

studies have mostly assessed the association between total 25(OH)D levels and CVD mortality using relative risk measures [198,265,383]. Further, meta-analyses of cohort studies have demonstrated a consistent, inverse association between total 25(OH)D and CVD mortality in participants with and without CVD history, which persisted after adjustment for traditional risk factors [34,379,384].

Although prior studies have assessed the association between total 25(OH)D and CVD mortality using relative risk measures, the utility of relative risk is often limited because it requires a standard base group, which may not be directly applicable within a clinical setting [385]. Moreover, the establishment of a standard base group with respect to total 25(OH)D levels has been challenging due to the unavailability of standardized total 25(OH)D data in previous studies [11]. Use of an unstandardized total 25(OH)D data may lead to misclassification of individuals with respect to specific total 25(OH)D cutoffs (i.e., < 30 nmol/L, < 50 nmol/L, < 75 nmol/L) [136]. As such, most studies to date have used a quantile-based approach for classification of vitamin D deficiency (i.e., participants in the lowest quartile of the total 25(OH)D distribution) [34,265,383,386,384]. However, use of a quantile-based approach results in different base groups across studies and the relative risk estimates vary widely depending on the quantile cutoffs for total 25(OH)D levels. Therefore, use of standardized total 25(OH)D data is of utmost importance for the accurate assessment of vitamin D status and for reaching a consensus on a 25(OH)D cut-off that reliably predicts a health outcome of interest [11]. To date, only one recent meta-analysis of eight prospective studies (median follow-up of 10.5 years) from Europe used standardized total 25(OH)D data and the results from this meta-analysis showed that in participants with total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L, the rate of CVD mortality was twice that of participants with levels between 75-< 100 nmol/L [adjusted hazard ratio= 2.21 (1.50-3.26)] [379]. While the meta-analysis by Gaksch et al. [379] used a relative risk model to assess the association between standardized 25(OH)D and CVD mortality, our results are in agreement with this previous work [379]. Our study also extends prior work by showing that a single measurement of total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L in middle- to old-aged adults is a strong predictor of high lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality. Therefore, while the < 30 nmol/L cutoff is currently used by the IOM to signify 'vitamin D deficiency' in relation to poor bone health outcomes (i.e., low bone mineral density and risk of osteoporosis in adults) [2], the results from

our study suggest that it may also be important to consider the cardiometabolic health of middle and old-aged adults with vitamin D deficiency.

When we stratified participants according to a combination of traditional risk factor burden and total 25(OH)D status, we found that lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality was lowest for participants with low-intermediate risk and total  $25(OH)D \ge 30$  nmol/L. In contrast, lifetime risk was highest for participants with  $\geq 2$  major risk factors and total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L. These findings remained consistent across all BMI categories. In a further sensitivity analysis, our results were similar to the main analysis after exclusion of participants with previous history of cardiovascular disease. In the presence of major risk factors/poor health status, it has been hypothesized that vitamin D may act as a resilience factor, meaning that sufficient vitamin D levels may prevent or delay death from a major disease by modulating the immune system [387]. In our study, participants with  $\geq 2$  major traditional risk factors and total  $25(OH)D \geq 30$  nmol/L had lower lifetime risk of cardiometabolic morality compared to those with levels < 30 nmol/L, an observation that is in line with the resilience hypothesis. Further, while we acknowledge that the causal relationship between vitamin D deficiency and cardiometabolic mortality is not fully established, according to Bradford Hill criteria for causality, the evidence to date on the role of vitamin D in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes satisfies 8 of the 9 criteria for causality (i.e., strength of association, consistency, specificity, temporality, biological gradient, plausibility, coherence, and analogy), except for experiment [388]. To date, RCTs of vitamin D supplementation have had significant shortcomings [5]. While we await the results of on-going RCTs to establish whether vitamin D deficiency is a *risk factor* in the development of cardiometabolic diseases, our study shows that a single measurement of total 25(OH)D < 30nmol/L in middle- to old-aged adults is a strong *risk marker* of cardiometabolic mortality, particularly among participants with  $\geq 2$  major traditional CVD risk factors.

The present study has several limitations. First, biomarkers for vitamin D status, cholesterol, blood pressure, smoking and diabetes status were only available at baseline; therefore, we were unable to capture changes in these parameters over the long-term. However, it has been previously shown that tracking total 25(OH)D over the long-term is similar to that seen for cardiovascular parameters such as blood pressure and lipids [389]. It has been also reported that

75% of participants with serum 25(OH)D levels < 30 nmol/L have levels less than 50 nmol/L 14 years later [389]. Therefore, in our study, participants with 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L were unlikely to have substantial improvements in their vitamin D levels over time. Although we acknowledge this as a limitation in our study, a single measurement of 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L in middle- to old-aged adults appears to be a strong predictor of high lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality; however, the predictive ability of total 25(OH)D for participants with levels  $\geq$  30 nmol/L is less certain as total 25(OH)D levels may have fluctuated and decreased over time (i.e., due to weight gain with advancing age [390]). Therefore, in individuals with  $25(OH)D \ge 30$ nmol/L, repeat measurements of total 25(OH)D is required to track changes in vitamin D status due to weight gain and changes in other lifestyle factors (i.e., sun exposure, diet, supplement use). Moreover, using the lifetime risk model, we were unable to incorporate NHANES survey weights to adjust for complex survey design, meaning that lifetime risk estimates in this study may not be representative of the general U.S. population. Nonetheless, our sample size was fairly large (n=7,958) and our lifetime risk estimates according to traditional risk factors were similar to previous studies using other U.S. cohorts, such as the cardiovascular disease lifetime risk pooling project [32]. Lastly, even though our lifetime risk estimates in a subset of participants without a history of CVD remained similar to the main analysis, the presence of reverse causality cannot be eliminated in our study.

In summary, we assessed the long-term predictive ability of standardized total 25(OH)D in relation to lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality in middle- to older-aged adults and found that total 25(OH)D < 30 nmo/L was associated with a high lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality, particularly among participants with high traditional risk factor burden. Although the causal relationship between vitamin D and cardiometabolic diseases remains to be established, total 25(OH)D < 30nmol/L consistently predicted high lifetime cardiometabolic mortality risk across all BMI categories. It is unknown whether vitamin D supplementation in individuals with  $\geq$  2 major traditional CVD risk factors would be beneficial. Therefore, future clinical trials are needed to assess whether vitamin D supplementation as an adjunct therapy in high-risk populations is a cost-effective strategy in the primary prevention of cardiometabolic mortality.

	Overall	Normal Weight (18.5-< 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Overweight (25-< 30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Obesity (≥ 30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )
No. of participants	7958	2612	3090	2256
Person-years of follow-up	129 294	40 604	50 150	38 540
Survival time, median (IQR), y	17.9 (10.5-20.2)	17.6 (8.83-20.2)	17.9 (10.4-20.2)	18.1 (12.8-20.2)
Total deaths, No. (%)	3828 (48.1)	1364 (52.2)	1493 (48.3)	971 (43.0)
Cardiometabolic deaths, No. (%)	1371 (17.2)	469 (17.9)	537 (17.4)	365 (16.2)
Age, y	$61.1 \pm 13.9$	$62.7 \pm 14.7$	$61.8\pm13.8$	$58.3 \pm 12.4$
BMI, kg/m2	$27.7\pm5.39$	$22.5\pm1.68$	$27.3 \pm 1.42$	$34.4\pm4.46$
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	$133.6\pm20.1$	$131.2 \pm 21.1$	$134.5\pm19.8$	$135.1 \pm 18.9$
Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg	$76.3 \pm 10.4$	$73.9 \pm 10.1$	$76.8 \pm 10.2$	$78.4\pm10.5$
Total Cholesterol, mg/dL	$218.2 \pm 44.1$	$213.3 \pm 42.9$	$220.0\pm43.5$	$221.3 \pm 45.7$
Serum 25(OH)D, nmol/L	$54.9 \pm 19.9$	$57.7\pm21.0$	$55.7 \pm 19.3$	$50.8\pm18.6$
Current Smokers, No. (%)	1685 (21.2)	708 (27.1)	609 (19.7)	368 (16.3)
Diabetes Mellitus, No. (%)	934 (11.7)	168 (6.43)	356 (11.5)	410 (18.2)
Normal risk factors*	1030 (12.9)	395 (15.1)	395 (12.8)	240 (10.6)
$\geq$ 1 elevated risk factor <sup>†</sup>	1453 (18.3)	512 (19.6)	561 (18.2)	380 (16.8)
1 major risk factor <sup>‡</sup>	3302 (41.5)	1128 (43.2)	1254 (40.6)	920 (40.8)
≥ 2 major risk factor <sup>‡</sup>	2173 (27.3)	577 (22.1)	880 (28.5)	716 (31.7)

**Table 7. 1** Baseline characteristics of participants (adults  $\geq$  40 years) in NHANES III (1988-1994)

\*Normal risk factors category was defined as blood pressure < 140/ <90 mm Hg, total cholesterol as < 200 mg/dL, non-smoker, and nondiabetic.  $^{\dagger} \ge 1$  elevated risk factor category was defined as systolic blood pressure 140-159 mm Hg or diastolic blood pressure 90-99 mm Hg, total cholesterol 200-239 mg/dL non-smoker, and nondiabetic.  $^{\ddagger}1$  major risk factor category was defined as having only 1 of the major risk factors: systolic blood pressure  $\ge 160$  mm Hg or diastolic blood pressure  $\ge 100$  mm Hg or treated or total cholesterol  $\ge 240$  mg/dL or current smoker or diabetic.  $\ge 2$  major risk factors category was defined as having at least 2 of the major risk factors.

	Overall (n=7958)		Normal (n=2	rmal Weight ( (n=2612)		Overweight (n=3090)		(n=2256)	
	Lifetime	Lifetime risk, %		Lifetime risk, %		Lifetime risk, %		Lifetime risk, %	
	То 70 у	To 95 y	То 70 у	To 95 y	To 70 y	To 95 y	То 70 у	To 95 y	
Overall			5.66	24.8	5.69	26.3	7.74	30.3	
SBP or DBP, mm Hg									
< 120 and < 80	2.78	25.8	2.57	23.8	2.18	27.9	4.29	24.7	
120-139 or 80-89	4.62	26.7	3.98	23.9	4.67	27.0	5.36	33.1	
140-159 or 90-99	7.15	32.9	11.1	35.3	6.32	31.7	6.18	32.2	
$\geq$ 160 or $\geq$ 100 or treated	13.1	38.7	15.8	40.4	12.3	38.2	12.7	38.6	
Total cholesterol, mg/dL									
< 180	5.71	28.9	7.62	31.7	3.87	24.3	5.68	28.6	
180-199	5.69	29.4	3.84	26.1	6.02	35.7	7.16	23.7	
200-239	5.67	32.3	5.73	30.1	5.2	33.2	6.16	33.8	
≥ 240	7.91	35.8	5.3	28.0	6.63	34.9	11.3	43.5	
Nondiabetic	4.89	30.3	4.33	27.7	4.83	31.1	5.61	32.6	
Diabetic	18.3	46.0	34	59.4	12.2	40.6	17.8	43.9	
Nonsmoker	4.25	26.6*	3.7	25.4*	3.18	25.4*	5.8	29.4*	
Smoker	11.6	27.6*	8.92	23.3*	12.6	28.6*	14.6	35.1*	

**Table 7. 2** Lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality according to traditional CVD risk factors

 overall and stratified by BMI category: NHANES III (1988-1994) with follow-up through 2011

\*Lifetime risk estimated to 90 y due to few current smokers surviving past 90 years.



**Figure 7.1** Cumulative incidence of cardiometabolic mortality adjusted for competing risk events according to aggregate risk factor (RF) burden stratified by BMI: NHANES III (1988-1994) with follow-up through 2011.



**Figure 7. 2** Cumulative incidence of cardiometabolic mortality adjusted for competing risk events according to serum 25(OH)D status stratified by BMI: NHANES III (1988-1994) with follow-up through 2011.



**Figure 7. 3** Cumulative risk of cardiometabolic mortality adjusted for competing risk events according to risk burden and serum 25(OH)D status stratified by BMI category.

### **Chapter 7: Supplementary data**



Figure 1: Flow chart showing exclusion criteria.



Sensitivity Analyses: excluding cases of CVD at baseline (n=6896)

**Figure 2**: Cumulative incidence of cardiometabolic mortality adjusted for competing risk events according aggregate risk factor (RF) burden stratified by BMI: NHANES III (1988-1994) with follow-up through 2011. Excluded participants with history of CVD at baseline. Total n=6896.



**Figure 3**: Cumulative incidence of cardiometabolic mortality adjusted for competing risk events according total 25(OH)D status stratified by BMI: NHANES III (1988-1994) with follow-up through 2011. Excluded participants with history of CVD at baseline. Total n=6896.


**Figure 4**: Cumulative risk of cardiometabolic mortality adjusted for competing risk events according to traditional risk burden and serum 25(OH)D status stratified by BMI category: NHANES III (1988-1994) with follow-up through 2011. Excluded participants with history of CVD at baseline. Total n=6896.

# **Chapter 8: Overall Discussion**

#### 8.1 Summary

Interest in the role of vitamin D in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes has been rapidly growing. The identification of multiple physiological functions of vitamin D beyond its currently recognized role in bone health has brought considerable attention to the non-skeletal function of vitamin D. However, given the limitations of the existing evidence at the time of commencing this thesis work and the different interpretations for optimal vitamin D status, there were several research gaps that needed to be addressed. To date, the vitamin D guidelines by the IOM [2] and the ES [16] have led to substantial disagreement about what defines adequate levels of vitamin D status, as assessed by total 25(OH)D level. Notably, the current recommendations from the IOM and ES lack clarity in that i) unstandardized data for total 25(OH)D was used to assess the relationship between vitamin D status and health outcomes ii) there is no evidence that the currently recommended total 25(OH)D thresholds provide further discrimination of health risks beyond bone health, and iii) the current guidelines do not consider potential variation in health risk among adults from multi-ethnic subpopulations or individuals with overweight or obesity. Therefore, given the existing gaps in the literature, the overall objectives of this thesis were to examine the association between standardized total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic health outcomes, and to further explore potential variation by ethnicity, metabolic health and BMI. In addition, this thesis also examined the utility of total 25(OH)D as a biomarker of effect by assessing the performance of total 25(OH)D as a screening biomarker for insulin resistance in asymptomatic adults and by evaluating the predictive ability of the recommended 25(OH)D thresholds by the IOM and the ES in relation to lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality.

# **8.1.1** Examination of the Cross-Sectional Association between Standardized Total 25(OH)D and Cardiometabolic risk

The objective for the first study of this thesis was to examine the cross-sectional association between standardized total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic health outcomes (i.e., HOMA-IR, MetS, and Framingham 10-year CVD risk) in a nationally representative sample of U.S. adults (Chapter 4). Overall, results indicated significant negative associations between standardized total 25(OH)D levels and HOMA-IR, MetS, and Framingham 10-year CVD risk, and these associations remained significant after adjustment for sociodemographics, season of blood draw, NHANES survey cycle, BMI, smoking status, vitamin D supplement use, physical activity and medications for dyslipidemia and diabetes. In the overall sample, the lowest risks for cardiometabolic health outcomes were observed among individuals in the highest total 25(OH)D quartile ( $\geq$  74.3 nmol/L) compared to those in the lowest quartile ( $\leq$  43.4 nmol/L). Our results are in line with previous epidemiological studies reporting negative association between total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic health outcomes including insulin resistance and pre-diabetes [191,269,287], MetS [264,268], and CVD risk [265,288]. In our study, the negative association between standardized total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic risk remained significant across all ethnic subgroups in NHANES (i.e., NH-whites, NH-blacks, and Mexican Americans), with the lowest risks observed among individuals in the highest 25(OH)D quartile ( $\geq 74.3$  nmol/L) compared to those in the lowest quartile (< 43.4 nmol/L) across all ethnic subgroups. Previous studies investigating the association between vitamin D status and cardiometabolic risk across different ethnic subpopulations have reported ethnic differences in the association of total 25(OH)D with cardiometabolic health outcomes. Specifically, using unstandardized 25(OH)D data from NHANES III, Scragg et al. reported a negative association between total 25(OH)D and type-2 diabetes risk in Mexican-Americans and NH-whites, but not in NH-blacks [12]; this finding was consistent in NHANES 2001-2006 [201]. Using data from NHANES III, Michos et al. also observed a negative association between unstandardized 25(OH)D levels and fatal stroke in whites but not blacks [14]. In another study, Robinson-Cohen et al. reported a significant inverse association between serum 25(OH)D and risk of coronary heart disease in whites and Chinese participants, but not in blacks or Hispanic participants from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis [13]. In relation to heart failure, Lutsey et al. observed that low serum 25(OH)D was significantly associated with incident heart failure among whites, but not among black participants from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study [15]. In contrast to these studies, we did not find ethnic differences in the association between serum 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic risk using standardized total 25(OH)D data in NHANES 2001-2010 [320]. In relation to the observed ethnic differences between whites and blacks in the literature, it has been hypothesized that blacks exhibit a compensatory mechanism in response to their lower total 25(OH)D levels; specifically, it has been reported that blacks have lower levels of the circulating

vDBP and thus have similar concentrations of the free or bioavailable 25(OH)D relative to whites [15,292]. Therefore, according to this compensatory hypothesis, the lower concentrations of total 25(OH)D observed among blacks may not uniformly reflect a state of vitamin D deficiency. Moreover, it has been hypothesized that the free or bioavailable 25(OH)D may be a better marker of vitamin D status in blacks than measurement of total 25(OH)D levels [391]. However, using a reliable LC-MS/MS method, Henderson et al. [294] reported no significant differences in the circulating vDBP levels between blacks and whites. Hence, the results by Henderson et al. [294] do not support the compensatory hypothesis given that there are no significant differences in the circulating vDBP levels. In line with these results by Henderson et al. [294], the results from our first study also do not support the compensatory hypothesis among blacks given that low total 25(OH)D levels were significantly associated with increased cardiometabolic disease risk in NH-blacks. Use of a standardized data for total 25(OH)D levels likely reduced the misclassification of vitamin D deficiency/sufficiency subcategories in our study. Moreover, unstandardized measurement of 25(OH)D levels in previous studies may have led to null associations among black participants. In studies comparing performance of different 25(OH)D assays, a large variation in total 25(OH)D levels has been reported, where one-in-five to one-in-three participants are misclassified as 'deficient' using a commercial 25(OH)D assays, and the largest discrepancy between two different assays for a single sample has been reported to be 137 nmol/L (190 nmol/L compared to 53 nmol/L) [8,136]. Therefore, the adoption of standardized measurement of total 25(OH)D is important, especially in population-based surveys where multiple survey cycles are generally combined to assess the association between total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic health outcomes. In summary, the results from our first study were valuable in that we reconfirmed the significant negative association between standardized total 25(OH)D levels and cardiometabolic risk, and our results also suggest that low total 25(OH)D is a risk marker of cardiometabolic risk across all ethnic subgroups, including NHblacks.

### 8.1.2 Clinical Utility of Total 25(OH)D Status and Estimation of Optimal 25(OH)D Level

To date, inter-laboratory differences in the measurement of vitamin D status have impeded the development of reliable thresholds for total 25(OH)D level in relation to skeletal and non-skeletal health outcomes. Currently, there is no consensus on the recommended levels for total

25(OH)D in relation to bone health, and additionally, the level for a sufficient total 25(OH)D may differ for non-skeletal health outcomes [18]. Moreover, in their 2012 report, the IOM raised concerns over the utility of total 25(OH)D as a biomarker of effect (i.e., whether level of total 25(OH)D is causally related to and is a reliable predictor of the health outcome of interest) [2]. A large number of studies have evaluated the association between total 25(OH)D levels and cardiometabolic health outcomes, including insulin resistance, MetS, type-2 diabetes, and CVD; however, such associations are not necessarily causal or predictive of the health outcome of interest [2]. To date, the clinical utility of total 25(OH)D as a screening biomarker has not been evaluated. Therefore, using standardized total 25(OH)D data from NHANES (2001-2010), the primary objectives of the second study were to assess the clinical utility of measuring total 25(OH)D along with traditional risk factors in the diagnosis of insulin resistance and to estimate the optimal total 25(OH)D threshold associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis in asymptomatic, ethnically-diverse U.S. adults. Overall, this study indicated that measurement of total 25(OH)D along with established risk factors would provide a small incremental improvement in detection of insulin resistance in asymptomatic adults (i.e., an estimated 2 to 4 additional cases per 1,000 people) and the optimal 25(OH)D threshold was estimated to be at least 60 nmol/L. The optimal thresholds varied slightly by 1-5 nmol/L according to age categories (20-39 y, 55-58 nmol/L; 40-59y, 60 nmol/L;  $\ge 60$  y, 61 nmol/L); however, the thresholds differed substantially by ethnicity (Mexican-Americans, 54 nmol/L; NH-whites, 68 nmol/L; NH-blacks, 41 nmol/L). To date, relatively few studies have evaluated the utility of total 25(OH)D in the context of CHD risk prediction [332], CVD mortality [333] and all-cause mortality in patients undergoing coronary catheterization [334]. While these studies have evaluated the utility of total 25(OH)D in the context of CVD and mortality risk prediction among patients at intermediate-to-high risk, to our knowledge, no previous study has evaluated the utility of total 25(OH)D as a screening biomarker in asymptomatic adults; therefore, it is difficult to make direct comparison with previous studies. Hence, our study was novel in that we assessed the utility of serum 25(OH)D as a screening biomarker in asymptomatic individuals who were presumably at low-to-intermediate risk; however, due to the cross-sectional nature of our data, our results highlight the need for further research into the clinical utility of total 25(OH)D as a screening biomarker using a longitudinal cohort design. Moreover, the optimal level of 25(OH)D in our study was estimated to be  $\sim 60$  nmol/L in the overall sample; therefore, our results

indicated that the optimal total 25(OH)D in relation to normal glucose and insulin homeostasis is slightly above the IOM's recommended threshold of 50 nmol/L for bone health [2]. Furthermore, we also assessed the performance of the recommended cutoffs by the IOM (i.e., 50 nmol/L) and the ES (i.e., 75 nmol/L) in terms of their sensitivity and specificity. Overall, application of the 50 nmol/L cutoff yielded a higher sensitivity, whereas the 75 nmol/L cutoff yielded a higher specificity across all age and ethnic subgroups. For a biomarker to be considered as a reliable screening tool, the following characteristics need to be fulfilled: high specificity, known reference limits, added value on traditional risk factors, and low cost [392]. Therefore, if total 25(OH)D level is intended to be used as a screening biomarker, then the ES cutoff of 75 nmol/L yields the highest specificity across all age and ethnic subpopulations ( $\geq$  73 %), with the highest specificity observed among Mexican-Americans and NH-blacks (i.e., 95%) (see Table 3, Chapter 5). In contrast, the IOM's cutoff of 50 nmol/L yielded the highest sensitivity. However the sensitivity of the 50 nmol/L cutoff performed poorly among NH-blacks (31-35%) and Mexican-Americans (64%) (see Table 3, Chapter 5). Therefore, the observed consistency for the high specificity of the 75 nmol/L cutoff suggests that total 25(OH)D may prove to be a useful screening biomarker in high-risk individuals at risk of developing future type-2 diabetes and CVD. Future studies using standardized measurement of 25(OH)D levels are needed to validate our findings in other populations using a prospective study design.

## 8.1.3 Vitamin D Status, Metabolically Healthy Obesity and Mortality Risk

The third study in this thesis focused on the prognosis of the MHO phenotype in relation to allcause and cardiometabolic mortality and whether vitamin D status (as assessed by total 25(OH)D) modified the association between MHO phenotype and mortality risk. Using a harmonized definition of MHO, defined as a BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> with zero metabolic abnormality [28], our results from the third study supported the hypothesis that MHO phenotype is a benign health condition in relation to all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality. Previous studies have used a variety of different criteria to define MHO (i.e., absence of MetS or having 1 or 2 MetS components), which have led to inconsistent results [95,97,99–103,349,350,352–354,393]. Given the existence of the substantial differences in the definition of MHO phenotype in the literature, our study was valuable in that we used a harmonized definition of MHO, as recently proposed by Ortega et al. [28]. Secondly, previous studies have reported inconsistent results due to the different length of follow up (< 10 years vs. > 10 years); a meta-analysis by Kramer et al. [394] showed that MHO was associated with increased risk of all-cause mortality or CVD events only in studies with long-term follow-up ( $\geq 10$  years). In our study, the median follow-up was 19.1 years and our results did not support the hypothesis proposed by Kramer et al [394]; therefore, given that previous studies have used variable follow-up duration, a median follow-up of 19.1 years should be considered another strength of our study. Moreover, in relation to cardiometabolic mortality, we further explored the prognosis of MHO phenotype using Fine and Gray regression to account for competing risk events. The cumulative incidence of cardiometabolic mortality among MHO individuals was similar to metabolically healthy normalweight individuals, which further supports the hypothesis of benign health condition among MHO individuals. Therefore, our study was novel in that we accounted for competing risk events to assess the long-term prognosis of MHO phenotype in relation to cardiometabolic mortality. To our knowledge, previous studies assessing the long-term cardiometabolic/CVD prognosis of MHO phenotype have not accounted for competing risk events, and depending on the frequency of competing events, the cumulative incidence of CVD events may be overestimated using standard survival methods [366,374]. Therefore, future studies assessing the long-term prognosis of MHO phenotype should explore the potential bias introduced by standard survival techniques that do not account for competing events. In relation to the second objective of the third study, we observed a non-linear association between total 25(OH)D and all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality in the overall sample, with the minimum risk observed with values near 60-75 nmo/L. Studies evaluating vitamin D status in relation to mortality risk have also reported non-linear dose-response relationships [33] with some reporting a U-shaped or inverse J-shaped association [198,358]. In our study, we only observed a non-linear dose-response relationship, where the significant association between total 25(OH)D and mortality risk plateaued with values near 60-75 nmol/L. Moreover, we did not find a significant difference in the average total 25(OH)D levels between participants classified as MHO and non-MHO phenotypes; however, total 25(OH)D modified the association between metabolic health and cardiometabolic mortality risk among participants with BMI in the normal-weight and obesity range. Specifically, among metabolically healthy and unhealthy individuals within the normal-weight BMI range, we observed a significant linear dose-response relationship between total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic mortality, where cardiometabolic mortality risk declined monotonically with

increasing total 25(OH)D levels with no evidence of a threshold effect. In contrast, we observed a significant non-linear dose response relationship among metabolically *unhealthy* participants within the obesity BMI range, where a threshold effect was observed for total 25(OH)D levels near 50-60 nmol/L. It is well established that individuals with obesity have lower levels of total serum 25(OH)D due to volumetric dilution (i.e., greater fat, muscle and liver mass). Therefore, the non-linear dose response relationship may reflect volumetric dilution in participants with BMI in the obesity range. Among MHO participants, we observed a non-significant inverse dose-response relationship between total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic mortality. This nonsignificance could be due to the small sample size of MHO individuals in our study (n=367) and the respective low number of events (n=6). Therefore, we were unable to fully characterize the nature of the dose-response relationship for MHO participants; future studies with more MHO participants are needed to characterize the nature of this dose-response relationship. Further, among participants with BMI in the overweight range, total 25(OH)D did not modify the association between metabolic health and cardiometabolic risk (i.e., metabolically healthy and unhealthy participants with BMI in the overweight range were at low and high risk of cardiometabolic mortality, respectively, irrespective of total 25(OH)D levels). Whether this finding reflects a physiological difference in vitamin D metabolism in individuals with BMI in the overweight category or reflects a chance finding is not known; therefore, additional research is needed to investigate the potential differences in the dose-response relationship according to body weight. Further research into the nature of the dose-response relationship is important because of the potential application of this knowledge in the design of future RCTs of vitamin D supplementation (i.e., a non-linear dose-response relationship suggests a threshold effect and recruitment of participants should be based on this threshold effect to increase the statistical power of an RCT).

#### 8.1.4 Vitamin D Status and Lifetime Risk of Cardiometabolic Mortality

The fourth study focused on the long-term predictive value of total 25(OH)D by assessing whether a single measurement of total 25(OH)D in middle- to old-aged adults is associated with lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality, while also accounting for competing risk events. Given that previous studies have primarily used relative risk measures to assess the association between total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic disease risk, an estimation of the absolute risk

according to total 25(OH)D levels recommended by the IOM and ES would help to clarify the predictive value of these cutoffs. Therefore, the primary objective of the last study was to evaluate i) whether a single measurement of standardized total 25(OH)D in middle- to old-aged adults is associated with lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality, and ii) to evaluate the combined effect of total 25(OH)D and traditional CVD risk factors on the remaining lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality. We also explored variations in lifetime risk estimates across BMI categories. In a sample of 7,958 participants with 129,294 person-years of follow-up in NHANES III, the lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality was highest for participants with  $\geq 2$ major risk factors. Our results are consistent with previous studies reporting lifetime risk estimates according to traditional risk factor burden [32,395]; however, our study extends prior work by providing estimates for lifetime risks according to BMI status, and our results indicate that risk factor burden is a stronger predictor of long-term mortality risk than BMI status alone. This finding is also in line with our third study where we found that metabolic health is a more important driver of future disease risk than overweight/obesity alone [396]. With respect to total 25(OH)D levels, to our knowledge, our study is the first to estimate the lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality according to total 25(OH)D thresholds currently recommended by the IOM [2] and the ES [16]. We found that total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L was consistently associated with high lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality through 95 years of age ( $\geq$  36%) and results were consistent across all BMI categories. Although we used an absolute risk model, our results are in line with a previous meta-analysis by Gaksch et al. [379] which used standardized total 25(OH)D data to assess the relative risk of CVD mortality over a median follow-up of 10.5 years; compared to participants with total 25(OH)D level of 75-< 100 nmol/L, the rate of CVD mortality was twice as high in participants with levels <30 nmol/L [379]. Therefore, taken together, our results along with the meta-analysis by Gaksch et al. [379] indicate that a single measurement of total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L in middle- to old-aged adults is a strong predictor of high lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality. Although serum 25(OH)D levels are known to fluctuate with season, it has been shown that a single measurement of total 25(OH)D is reflective of vitamin D status over 14 years, particularly for individuals with total 25(OH)D levels < 30 nmol/L [389]. Therefore, in our study, participants with total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L were unlikely to have had a substantial improvement in their total 25(OH)D levels. Moreover, although participants with total  $25(OH)D \ge 30$  nmol/L consistently had lower lifetime risks

compared to those with levels < 30 nmol/L, the predictive value of total 25(OH)D levels of 30-< 50 nmol/L, 50-<75 nmol/L and  $\geq$  75 nmol/L is less certain, as total 25(OH)D may fluctuate over time due to changes in lifestyle factors (i.e., sun exposure, diet, supplement use) and weight gain with advancing age. Furthermore, we also assessed the lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality according to a combination of traditional risk burden and total 25(OH)D. Among participants with high-risk burden (i.e.,  $\geq 2$  major RFs) in the overall sample, total  $25(OH)D \geq 30$  nmol/L was associated with lower lifetime risk (i.e., 10% and 3% absolute risk reduction through 70 and 95 years of age, respectively). Among participants with low-intermediate risk burden, total  $25(OH)D \ge 30$  nmol/L was also associated with lower lifetime risk (i.e., 3% and 6% absolute risk reduction through 70 and 95 years of age, respectively). Similar trends were observed across all BMI categories. The effect modification by total 25(OH)D observed in this study is consistent with our third study where we found that total 25(OH)D modified the association between metabolic health and cardiometabolic mortality. In the third study, effect modification was dependent on BMI status where total 25(OH)D modified the association between metabolic health and cardiometabolic mortality in individuals with BMI in the normal-weight and obesity range. In contrast, in the fourth study, we found that total 25(OH)D modified the absolute risk estimates independent of BMI status, an effect that could be due to differences in relative versus absolute risk models. In the third study, we used a relative risk model (i.e., restricted cubic spline Cox proportional hazards model) to assess the dose-response relationship between baseline total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic mortality risk. However, the restricted cubic spline Cox proportional hazards model cannot be extrapolated to assess the cumulative risk burden. Using the relative risk model, a reference group (i.e., those with total 25(OH)D equal to 50 nmol/L) must be chosen; however, baseline 25(OH)D levels may change over time and it is possible that participants with BMI in the overweight range are more susceptible to changes in total 25(OH) over time due to weight gain with advancing age. Therefore, repeat measurement of total 25(OH)D levels is needed to assess the nature of the dose-response relationship in participants with BMI in the overweight range. Although our results from the third and fourth study may seem inconsistent, use of relative versus absolute risk model most likely explains these discrepant findings. Our last study was novel in that it assessed the long-term predictive value of a single measurement of standardized total 25(OH)D on lifetime absolute risk of cardiometabolic mortality in middle- to old-aged adults. In summary, our results indicate that IOM's definition of

vitamin D deficiency (i.e., total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L) is a strong predictor of high lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality across all BMI categories, whereas the predictive value of vitamin D insufficiency and sufficiency as defined by the IOM and the ES is less certain, as total 25(OH)D levels  $\geq$  30 nmol/L may fluctuate over time. Therefore, our data emphasize the need for future clinical trials to target individuals with total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L, as these individuals have a high lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality and that their total 25(OH)D levels are unlikely to substantially improvement over the course of their lifespan (i.e.., from middle age to old age). Moreover, the effect of vitamin D deficiency (< 30 nmol/L) was particularly pronounced in individuals with  $\geq$  2 major traditional CVD risk factors. It is unknown whether vitamin D supplementation in individuals with  $\geq$  2 major traditional CVD risk factors would be beneficial. Therefore, future clinical trials are needed to assess whether vitamin D supplementation as an adjunct therapy in high-risk populations is a cost-effective strategy for the primary prevention of cardiometabolic mortality.

#### 8.2 Strengths and Limitations

At the time of commencing this thesis project, there was a growing interest in defining the optimal vitamin D status in relation to multiple health outcomes; however, prior studies have primarily been limited by the unavailability of standardized data for total 25(OH)D levels. In accordance with the VDSP [138], total 25(OH)D data was standardized in NHANES to reduce assay variations in the measurement of total 25(OH)D levels. Therefore, a major strength of this thesis work is the application of standardized total 25(OH)D data from NHANES in the assessment of the association between total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic health outcomes. The standardization of total 25(OH)D data allowed us to pool multiple cycles of NHANES data from 2001 to 2010, which substantially increased our sample size. Moreover, prior studies have predominantly included populations of White European origin, and in studies that have included ethnic minorities, ethnic-specific analyses were further constrained by the small sample sizes in underrepresented populations, such as U.S. blacks. Therefore, the large sample size obtained via pooling multiple survey cycles increased the precision of our study for stratification by ethnicity. Most importantly, standardization of total 25(OH)D allowed us to estimate the optimal 25(OH)D cutoff associated with normal insulin and glucose metabolism, and we were also able to further explore the potential variation in the optimal 25(OH)D levels by ethnicity. Another strength of

this thesis work is the long-term follow-up in study 3 (median follow-up of 19.1 years) and study 4 (median follow-up of 17.9 years). In the third study, given that prior studies had different length of follow-up (< 10 years versus > 10 years), having a median follow-up of 19.1 years is a strength of our study. Moreover, prior studies with long-term follow-up (> 10 years) have mainly used standard survival methods that did not account for competing risk events. Therefore, in the third study, we used a state of the art methodology to account for competing risk events to assess the long-term prognosis of MHO phenotype in relation to cardiometabolic mortality. Further, prior studies have used less strict criteria to define MHO phenotype; therefore, use of a standardized definition of MHO is another strength of our study. Lastly, previous studies assessing the prospective association of total 25(OH)D levels with cardiometabolic health outcomes also had different length of follow-up and used standard survival methods that did not account for competing deaths. Therefore, the lifetime risk model in the fourth study allowed us to assess the long-term predictive ability of standardized total 25(OH)D in relation to cardiometabolic mortality, while also accounting for competing deaths. To our knowledge, our study is the first to assess the lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality according to total 25(OH)D cutoffs currently endorsed by the IOM and the ES.

While this thesis had several strengths, there were several limitations as well. The first two studies in this thesis were cross-sectional, and as with any observational data, unmeasured confounding in our data precludes us from making any causal interpretation. Moreover, in the third and fourth study, although we excluded participants with a previous history of chronic disease to study the prospective association between total 25(OH)D and mortality risk, the presence of reverse causality cannot be eliminated. In the second study, given that the gold-standard measure of insulin resistance (i.e., hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp) is time-consuming, expensive, and not practical for use in large epidemiological studies, we used HOMA-IR as a proxy measure for insulin resistance. While HOMA-IR has been shown to have a good correlation with the gold-standard method [346], it only measures hepatic insulin resistance. In addition, in study 2, while we internally validated our risk model (i.e., by randomly splitting the dataset into training and testing samples with ratio of 3:2, respectively), we were unable to externally validate the risk model using a different population dataset. Moreover, estimation of the optimal level of total 25(OH)D using endemic 25(OH)D data is limited to the

range of total 25(OH)D values in the sample; therefore, estimation of optimal level of 25(OH)D may differ in another population with a different distribution for total 25(OH)D values. In a separate study (unpublished), using data from the Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS), the optimal level of total 25(OH)D was similar to study 2 results using NHANES data (see Table 1 in appendix). However, as both NHANES and CHMS datasets represent the North American population, the applicability of these thresholds to other populations is not known. In the third and fourth study, we used BMI as a proxy measure of adiposity. The use of more accurate measures of fat mass (i.e., dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DEXA)) would have allowed a better assessment of body fat distribution. However, data from DEXA were not available in NHANES III. Furthermore, with respect to the primary exposure variables in the third and fourth study, measures for total 25(OH)D, BMI and metabolic health parameters (i.e., total cholesterol, triglycerides, HDL-cholesterol, blood pressure, fasting plasma glucose) were only available at baseline; therefore, we were unable to assess any changes in these variables over time. Changes in diet, sun exposure, physical activity, and other health conditions could affect these variables; therefore, repeated measures are required to adequately capture changes in these variables over time. Lastly, the Fine and Gray and the lifetime risk models used in the third and fourth study, respectively, did not incorporate NHANES survey weights. These models have not yet made their way to standard survey packages in SAS and incorporating survey weights would require extensive custom programming. Therefore, our risk estimates may not represent the general U.S. population. Moreover, it is difficult to estimate the frequency and distribution of competing risk events at the population level; therefore, our estimate of competing events may not be transferable to other populations with a different distribution of competing events. To reduce this limitation, obtaining a large sample size via pooling multiple observational studies would increase the robustness and generalizability of the lifetime risk estimates (i.e., this undertaking would be similar to the rationale of the lifetime risk pooling project [397]). Lastly, for the lifetime risk estimates in the fourth study, we were not able to statistically test the differences between lifetime risk estimates according to total 25(OH)D levels and traditional risk factor burden; doing so would also require custom programming of the Practical Incidence Estimator (PIE) macro by Beiser et al [382].

#### **8.3 Implications & Future Directions**

Our understanding of the role of vitamin D in human health has evolved substantially over the past decade; however, the role of vitamin D in relation to non-skeletal health outcomes remains an active area of research. Although RCTs of vitamin D supplementation are the gold-standard in establishing a causal relationship, high-quality observational studies will still continue to contribute to our understanding of the role of vitamin D in non-skeletal health outcomes [5]. This thesis utilized secondary data from NHANES to address existing research gaps regarding the association between vitamin D status, as measured by standardized total 25(OH)D concentration, and cardiometabolic health outcomes. In particular, we found that low total 25(OH)D levels were cross-sectionally associated with cardiometabolic disease risk irrespective of ethnic background. It is important to note that previous studies reporting ethnic differences in the association between total 25(OH)D and cardioemtabolic health outcomes have used unstandardized total 25(OH)D data, which has likely contributed to misclassification of individuals and resultant null findings [8]. Therefore, future prospective cohort studies with standardized total 25(OH)D data are needed to validate our findings in a large multi-ethnic cohort.

In recent years, there has also been much controversy over the optimal vitamin D status; however, the unavailability of standardized total 25(OH)D measure has impeded the development of reliable 25(OH)D thresholds. Therefore, using standardized data, the optimal total 25(OH)D level associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis was estimated to be 60 nmol/L; however, we also found that the optimal total 25(OH)D level may differ substantially by ethnicity. We also assessed the clinical utility of measuring total 25(OH)D along with traditional risk factors and found that addition of total 25(OH)D incrementally improved the detection of insulin resistance in asymptomatic adults. Moreover, we further assessed the sensitivity and specificity of the total 25(OH)D cutoffs currently endorsed by the IOM and the ES. We found that the 75 nmol/L cutoff endorsed by the ES consistently yielded a higher specificity, whereas the 50 nmol/L yielded a higher sensitivity; however, the 50 nmol/L cutoff performed poorly in NH-blacks and Mexican-Americans. In this context, a 'rule-in' strategy with high specificity may be more important to avoid misdiagnosis in asymptomatic adults [21]; therefore, the  $\geq$  75 nmol/L may be a useful threshold for screening insulin resistance in asymptomatic adults. Due to the cross-sectional nature of our data, additional longitudinal studies are needed to validate our findings and determine whether the optimal 25(OH)D level varies substantially by ethnicity.

In the third study, we assessed whether MHO is associated with subsequent all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality risk, and whether total 25(OH)D modified these associations. We found that MHO was not associated with increased all-cause or cardiometabolic mortality. However, due to the single measurement of BMI and metabolic health parameters in our study, additional longitudinal studies are needed to track changes in BMI and metabolic health parameters over time to assess the transient nature of the MHO phenotype [24,398], and to further elucidate risk factors that are associated with this transition. Furthermore, in our study, a higher total 25(OH)D level was not significantly related to the MHO phenotype. However, we found that total 25(OH)D modified the association between metabolic health phenotype and cardiometabolic mortality, particularly in high-risk subgroups (i.e., metabolically unhealthy individuals within the normal-weight and obesity BMI ranges). Our results indicate that vitamin D deficiency exacerbates the risk of cardiometabolic mortality in high-risk individuals. Vitamin D supplementation in high-risk individuals may prove to be beneficial [254,375,376,399] and may improve the metabolic milieu of metabolically unhealthy phenotypes; however, to our knowledge, no clinical trial has been performed to investigate whether vitamin D supplementation can help individuals with metabolic dysfunction to transition into a metabolically healthy state. Future intervention studies are needed to answer this question.

In the fourth study, we estimated the absolute risk of cardiometabolic mortality according to traditional risk factor burden, total 25(OH)D, and the combination of these parameters. Specifically, we used the lifetime risk model to assess the long-term predictive value of total 25(OH)D cutoffs currently recommended by the IOM and the ES, and found that total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L was consistently associated with high lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality across all BMI categories. However, the predictive value of total 25(OH)D  $\geq 30$  nmol/L is less certain, as total 25(OH)D levels may fluctuate over time due to changes in lifestyle behaviors and weight gain due to advancing age. Therefore, our results indicate that while the IOM's definition of vitamin D deficiency was set in relation to bone health outcomes, the < 30 nmol/L

cutoff is also a strong predictor of high lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality. To date, most of the RCTs of vitamin D supplementation have not been targeted towards individuals with vitamin D deficiency (i.e., including individuals with sufficient vitamin D levels dilutes any beneficial effect of vitamin D supplementation and decreases the power of the study to detect statistically significant effects) [6]. Therefore, future RCTs should target individuals with total 25(OH)D levels < 30 nmo/L because these individuals are unlikely to have substantial improvement in their vitamin D levels from middle-age to old-age.

#### 8.4 Summary of Findings in Relation to Global Cardiometabolic Risk Assessment

The overall objective of this thesis was to examine the role of vitamin D in relation to global cardiometabolic risk assessment. Specifically, we evaluated the performance of total 25(OH)D as a novel and emerging risk biomarker in the assessment of global cardiometabolic risk (see Figure 2.1 in Chapter 2 for conceptual framework). The clinical utility of novel biomarkers as indicators of disease trait remains an active area of research and there is increasing interest in utility of novel biomarkers in the assessment of global cardiometabolic risk. Generally, the overall expectation of a novel biomarker is to improve the ability of a clinician to identify highrisk individuals, thereby enabling them to optimally manage a patient. If a biomarker is used as an indicator of a disease trait, it can either be classified as a risk factor (i.e., associated with a disease because it is in the causal pathway leading to the disease) or as a risk marker (i.e., associated with a disease but not necessarily in the causal pathway leading to the disease; it may be an indicator of the disease process) [21]. While the causal link between vitamin D and cardiometabolic health outcomes remains an active area of research [400–404], this dissertation showed that a low total 25(OH)D level is a strong risk marker of adverse cardiometabolic health outcomes (i.e., MetS, insulin resistance, CVD risk, and cardiometabolic mortality). When assessing the clinical utility of total 25(OH)D as a risk marker of insulin resistance in asymptomatic adults, addition of total 25(OH)D to traditional risk markers and factors marginally improved detection of insulin resistance in asymptomatic adults (i.e., addition of total 25(OH)D to established risk factors resulted in detection of 2 to 4 extra cases of insulin resistance per 1,000 people screened). We also estimated the optimal level of total 25(OH)D associated with normal glucose and insulin homeostasis; the optimal level was estimated to be at least 60 nmol/L. Further, we assessed the performance of total 25(OH)D cutoffs currently

recommended by the IOM and the ES. We found that the ES cutoff of  $\geq$  75 nmol/L consistently yielded a higher specificity across all age and ethnic subgroups; therefore, the  $\geq$  75 nmol/L cutoff may be a useful threshold for screening insulin resistance in asymptomatic adults. On the other hand, the assessment of the long-term predictive value of total 25(OH)D showed that the IOM's cutoff of < 30 nmol/L was consistently associated with high lifetime risk of cardiometabolic mortality. Taken together, results from study 2 and study 4 showed that total 25(OH)D values below 60-75 nmol/L are indicative of suboptimal vitamin D status in relation to glucose and insulin homeostasis, and if total 25(OH)D levels continue to decline over time then total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L is a strong risk marker of cardiometabolic mortality. Therefore, while the recommended thresholds by the IOM and the ES were set in relation to bone health outcomes (i.e., bone mineral density, osteoporosis in adults and rickets in children), the demonstrated applicability of these thresholds to cardiometabolic health outcomes in this thesis suggests that the cutoffs for total 25(OH)D levels in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes are within the range of recommended cutoffs for bone health outcomes.

Due the observational nature of this thesis work, we were unable to assess whether vitamin D deficiency is also a risk factor for adverse cardiometabolic health outcomes. However, based on the evidence to date, evidence on the role of vitamin D in relation to cardiometabolic health outcomes satisfies eight of the Hill criteria for causality (i.e., strength of association, consistency, specificity, temporality, biological gradient, plausibility, coherence, and analogy) [388]. The only criterion for causality between vitamin D and cardiometabolic health that has not been satisfied is experimental evidence [388]. Vitamin D deficiency is known to be causally related poor bone health outcomes [2] and if the results from ongoing large-scale clinical trials [400– 404] show that vitamin D deficiency is also causally linked to adverse cardiometabolic health outcomes, then vitamin D supplementation may be an effective treatment strategy for both chronic conditions (i.e., osteoporosis and cardiometabolic disease) given that these conditions share similar risk factors. Moreover, if the causal link between vitamin D and adverse cardiometabolic health outcomes is established, then monitoring total 25(OH)D levels along with traditional risk factors may be useful for identification of high-risk individuals who are likely to benefit the most from vitamin D supplementation. In the case that RCTs fail to show a causal link between vitamin D and cardiometabolic health outcomes, then vitamin D deficiency only

serves as an indicator of the disease process itself (i.e., risk marker). However, given the bidirectional communication between the vasculature and bone [405–407], the role of vitamin D in decreasing the risk of adverse cardiometabolic health may be via its mediating effects on bone health [408]. Emerging evidence suggests that poor bone health is a significant risk factor for cardiovascular disease [407]; therefore, future studies are needed to disentangle the potential mechanisms that link poor bone health to adverse cardiometabolic health outcomes, and whether vitamin D mediates this relationship.

#### 8.5 Conclusion

The results of this dissertation highlight the importance of using standardized measurement of total 25(OH)D levels, particularly in population-level health surveys where multiple survey cycles are generally combined to study the association between total 25(OH)D and cardiometabolic health outcomes. In this dissertation, it was found that low vitamin D status, as assessed by standardized total 25(OH)D levels, was cross-sectionally related to insulin resistance, MetS, and high CVD risk, irrespective of ethnic background. The optimal total 25(OH)D threshold in relation to normal glucose metabolism was estimated to be at least 60 nmol/L. This dissertation also assessed the clinical utility of standardized total 25(OH)D level as a screening biomarker for insulin resistance and found that measurement of total 25(OH)D along with traditional risk factors only marginally improved the detection of insulin resistance in asymptomatic adults. In addition, this dissertation also assessed the long-term prognosis of the MHO phenotype and found that MHO phenotype is not associated with increased all-cause or cardiometabolic mortality. While a higher total 25(OH)D level did not characterize the underlying healthy metabolic profile of the MHO phenotype, low vitamin D status exacerbated the risk of cardiometabolic mortality in metabolically unhealthy participants with BMI in the normal-weight and obesity ranges. Lastly, this dissertation assessed the long-term predictive value of standardized total 25(OH)D and found that total 25(OH)D < 30 nmol/L was a strong predictor of high lifetime risk for cardiometabolic mortality. Taken together, these findings suggest that a low total 25(OH)D level is a strong risk marker of adverse cardiometabolic health outcomes. Results from several ongoing RCTs of vitamin D supplementation will establish whether vitamin D deficiency is a causal risk factor for the development of cardiometabolic diseases [400-404].

#### **Chapter 9: References**

- Holick MF. Vitamin D: evolutionary, physiological and health perspectives. Curr Drug Targets 2011;12:4–18.
- [2] Ross AC, Manson JE, Abrams SA, Aloia JF, Brannon PM, Clinton SK, et al. The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the Institute of Medicine: what clinicians need to know. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96:53–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2010-2704.
- [3] Angellotti E, Pittas AG. The Role of Vitamin D in the Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes: To D or Not to D? Endocrinology 2017;158:2013–21. doi:10.1210/en.2017-00265.
- [4] Pilz S, Verheyen N, Grübler MR, Tomaschitz A, März W. Vitamin D and cardiovascular disease prevention. Nat Rev Cardiol 2016;13:404–17. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2016.73.
- [5] Scragg R. Limitations of vitamin D supplementation trials: Why observational studies will continue to help determine the role of vitamin D in health. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2017. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2017.06.006.
- [6] Grant WB, Boucher BJ, Bhattoa HP, Lahore H. Why vitamin D clinical trials should be based on 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2017. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2017.08.009.
- Binkley N, Dawson-Hughes B, Durazo-Arvizu R, Thamm M, Tian L, Merkel JM, et al.
   Vitamin D measurement standardization: The way out of the chaos. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2017;173:117–21. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2016.12.002.
- [8] Lucas RM, Gorman S, Black L, Neale RE. Clinical, Research, and Public Health Implications of Poor Measurement of Vitamin D Status. J AOAC Int 2017. doi:10.5740/jaoacint.17-0082.
- [9] Carter GD. Accuracy of 25-hydroxyvitamin D assays: confronting the issues. Curr Drug Targets 2011;12:19–28.
- [10] Binkley N, Carter GD. Toward Clarity in Clinical Vitamin D Status Assessment.Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2017;46:885–99. doi:10.1016/j.ecl.2017.07.012.
- [11] Sempos CT, Vesper HW, Phinney KW, Thienpont LM, Coates PM, Vitamin D Standardization Program (VDSP). Vitamin D status as an international issue: national surveys and the problem of standardization. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl 2012;243:32–

40. doi:10.3109/00365513.2012.681935.

- [12] Scragg R, Sowers M, Bell C. Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D, Diabetes, and Ethnicity in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Diabetes Care 2004;27:2813–8. doi:10.2337/diacare.27.12.2813.
- [13] Robinson-Cohen C, Hoofnagle AN, Ix JH, Sachs MC, Tracy RP, Siscovick DS, et al. Racial Differences in the Association of Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentration With Coronary Heart Disease Events. Jama 2013;310:179. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.7228.
- [14] Michos ED, Reis JP, Post WS, Lutsey PL, Gottesman RF, Mosley TH, et al. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D deficiency is associated with fatal stroke among whites but not blacks: The NHANES-III linked mortality files. Nutrition 2012;28:367–71. doi:10.1016/j.nut.2011.10.015.
- [15] Lutsey PL, Michos ED, Misialek JR, Pankow JS, Loehr L, Selvin E, et al. Race and Vitamin D Binding Protein Gene Polymorphisms Modify the Association of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Incident Heart Failure: The ARIC (Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities) Study. JACC Heart Fail 2015;3:347–56. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2014.11.013.
- [16] Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari H a., Gordon CM, Hanley D a., Heaney RP, et al. Evaluation, Treatment, and Prevention of Vitamin D Deficiency: an Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96:1911–30. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-0385.
- [17] Bouillon R. Comparative analysis of nutritional guidelines for vitamin D. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2017;13:466–79. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2017.31.
- [18] Spedding S, Vanlint S, Morris H, Scragg R. Does vitamin D sufficiency equate to a single serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D level or are different levels required for non-skeletal diseases? Nutrients 2013;5:5127–39. doi:10.3390/nu5125127.
- [19] Wald NJ, Hackshaw AK, Frost CD. When can a risk factor be used as a worthwhile screening test? BMJ 1999;319:1562–5.
- [20] Pepe MS. Limitations of the Odds Ratio in Gauging the Performance of a Diagnostic, Prognostic, or Screening Marker. Am J Epidemiol 2004;159:882–90. doi:10.1093/aje/kwh101.
- [21] Vasan RS. Biomarkers of Cardiovascular Disease: Molecular Basis and Practical Considerations. Circulation 2006;113:2335–62.

doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.482570.

- [22] Walsh JS, Bowles S, Evans AL. Vitamin D in obesity. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 2017;24:389–94. doi:10.1097/MED.00000000000371.
- [23] Vimaleswaran KS, Berry DJ, Lu C, Tikkanen E, Pilz S, Hiraki LT, et al. Causal Relationship between Obesity and Vitamin D Status: Bi-Directional Mendelian Randomization Analysis of Multiple Cohorts. PLoS Med 2013;10:e1001383. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001383.
- [24] Stefan N, Häring H-U, Schulze MB. Metabolically healthy obesity: the low-hanging fruit in obesity treatment? Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2017. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(17)30292-9.
- [25] Karelis AD, Rabasa-Lhoret R. Characterization of metabolically healthy but obese individuals: Should we add vitamin D to the puzzle? Diabetes Metab 2014;40:319–21. doi:10.1016/j.diabet.2014.03.001.
- [26] Esteghamati A, Aryan Z, Esteghamati A, Nakhjavani M. Differences in vitamin D concentration between metabolically healthy and unhealthy obese adults: Associations with inflammatory and cardiometabolic markers in 4391 subjects. Diabetes Metab 2014;40:347–55. doi:10.1016/j.diabet.2014.02.007.
- [27] Boonchaya-anant P, Holick MF, Apovian CM. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and metabolic health status in extremely obese individuals. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2014;22:2539–43. doi:10.1002/oby.20877.
- [28] Ortega FB, Lavie CJ, Blair SN. Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease. Circ Res 2016;118:1752–70. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306883.
- [29] Goff DC, Lloyd-Jones DM, Bennett G, Coady S, D'Agostino RB, Gibbons R, et al. 2013 ACC/AHA Guideline on the Assessment of Cardiovascular Risk: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2014;129:S49-73. doi:10.1161/01.cir.0000437741.48606.98.
- [30] Anderson TJ, Gr J, Pearson GJ, Barry AR, Couture P, Dawes M, et al. 2016 Canadian Cardiovascular Society Guidelines for the Management of Dyslipidemia for the Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease in the Adult. Can J Cardiol 2016;32:1263–82. doi:10.1016/j.cjca.2016.07.510.
- [31] Lloyd-Jones DM, Leip EP, Larson MG, D'Agostino RB, Beiser A, Wilson PWF, et al.

Prediction of Lifetime Risk for Cardiovascular Disease by Risk Factor Burden at 50 Years of Age. Circulation 2006;113:791–8. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.548206.

- [32] Wilkins JT, Ning H, Berry J, Zhao L, Dyer AR, Lloyd-Jones DM. Lifetime Risk and Years Lived Free of Total Cardiovascular Disease. JAMA 2012;308:1795. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.14312.
- [33] Zhang R, Li B, Gao X, Tian R, Pan Y, Jiang Y, et al. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and the risk of cardiovascular disease: dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. Am J Clin Nutr 2017;105:810–9. doi:10.3945/ajcn.116.140392.
- [34] Schöttker B, Jorde R, Peasey A, Thorand B, Jansen EHJM, Groot L de, et al. Vitamin D and mortality: meta-analysis of individual participant data from a large consortium of cohort studies from Europe and the United States. BMJ 2014;348.
- [35] Eckel RH, Kahn R, Robertson RM, Rizza RA. Preventing Cardiovascular Disease and Diabetes: A call to action from the American Diabetes Association and the American Heart Association. Diabetes Care 2006;29:1697–9. doi:10.2337/dc06-9911.
- [36] Kahn R, Buse J, Ferrannini E, Stern M, American Diabetes Association, European Association for the Study of Diabetes. The metabolic syndrome: time for a critical appraisal: joint statement from the American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005;28:2289–304.
- [37] Després J-P, Lemieux I. Abdominal obesity and metabolic syndrome. Nature 2006;444:881–7. doi:10.1038/nature05488.
- [38] Jellinger PS, Handelsman Y, Rosenblit PD, Bloomgarden ZT, Fonseca VA, Garber AJ, et al. AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF CLINICAL ENDOCRINOLOGISTS AND AMERICAN COLLEGE OF ENDOCRINOLOGY GUIDELINES FOR MANAGEMENT OF DYSLIPIDEMIA AND PREVENTION OF CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE. Endocr Pract 2017;23:1–87. doi:10.4158/EP171764.APPGL.
- [39] Reaven GM. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes 1988;37:1595–607.
- [40] Cornier M-A, Dabelea D, Hernandez TL, Lindstrom RC, Steig AJ, Stob NR, et al. The metabolic syndrome. Endocr Rev 2008;29:777–822. doi:10.1210/er.2008-0024.
- [41] Hu FB, Meigs JB, Li TY, Rifai N, Manson JE. Inflammatory markers and risk of developing type 2 diabetes in women. Diabetes 2004;53:693–700.

- [42] Yudkin JS, Stehouwer CD, Emeis JJ, Coppack SW. C-reactive protein in healthy subjects: associations with obesity, insulin resistance, and endothelial dysfunction: a potential role for cytokines originating from adipose tissue? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1999;19:972–8.
- [43] Hotamisligil GS, Spiegelman BM. Tumor necrosis factor alpha: a key component of the obesity-diabetes link. Diabetes 1994;43:1271–8.
- [44] Lau DCW, Dhillon B, Yan H, Szmitko PE, Verma S. Adipokines: molecular links between obesity and atheroslcerosis. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2005;288:H2031-41. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.01058.2004.
- [45] Szmitko PE, Teoh H, Stewart DJ, Verma S. Adiponectin and cardiovascular disease: state of the art? Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2007;292:H1655-63.
   doi:10.1152/ajpheart.01072.2006.
- [46] Gabay C, Kushner I. Acute-Phase Proteins and Other Systemic Responses to Inflammation. N Engl J Med 1999;340:448–54. doi:10.1056/NEJM199902113400607.
- [47] DeFronzo RA, Tobin JD, Andres R. Glucose clamp technique: a method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. Am J Physiol Metab 1979;237:E214. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.1979.237.3.E214.
- [48] Saad MF, Anderson RL, Laws A, Watanabe RM, Kades WW, Chen YD, et al. A comparison between the minimal model and the glucose clamp in the assessment of insulin sensitivity across the spectrum of glucose tolerance. Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. Diabetes 1994;43:1114–21.
- [49] Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski a S, Naylor B a, Treacher DF, Turner RC.
   Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia 1985;28:412–9.
   doi:10.1007/BF00280883.
- [50] Matsuda M, DeFronzo RA. Insulin sensitivity indices obtained from oral glucose tolerance testing: comparison with the euglycemic insulin clamp. Diabetes Care 1999;22:1462–70.
- [51] Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults. Executive Summary of The Third Report of The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, And Treatment of High Blood

Cholesterol In Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA 2001;285:2486–97.

- [52] Wilson PWF, D'Agostino RB, Parise H, Sullivan L, Meigs JB. Metabolic Syndrome as a Precursor of Cardiovascular Disease and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Circulation 2005;112:3066–72. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.539528.
- [53] Dekker JM, Girman C, Rhodes T, Nijpels G, Stehouwer CDA, Bouter LM, et al. Metabolic Syndrome and 10-Year Cardiovascular Disease Risk in the Hoorn Study. Circulation 2005;112:666–73. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.516948.
- [54] McNeill AM, Rosamond WD, Girman CJ, Golden SH, Schmidt MI, East HE, et al. The metabolic syndrome and 11-year risk of incident cardiovascular disease in the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. Diabetes Care 2005;28:385–90.
- [55] Gami AS, Witt BJ, Howard DE, Erwin PJ, Gami LA, Somers VK, et al. Metabolic Syndrome and Risk of Incident Cardiovascular Events and Death. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;49:403–14. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2006.09.032.
- [56] Galassi A, Reynolds K, He J. Metabolic Syndrome and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease: A Meta-Analysis. Am J Med 2006;119:812–9. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2006.02.031.
- [57] Després J, Cartier A, Côté M, Arsenault BJ. The concept of cardiometabolic risk: Bridging the fields of diabetology and cardiology. Ann Med 2008;40:514–23. doi:10.1080/07853890802004959.
- [58] Grundy SM. Diagnosis and Management of the Metabolic Syndrome: An American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Scientific Statement. Circulation 2005;112:2735–52. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.169404.
- [59] International Diabetes Federation. The IDF consensus worldwide definition of the metabolic syndrome 2006. https://www.idf.org/e-library/consensus-statements/60idfconsensus-worldwide-definitionof-the-metabolic-syndrome (accessed March 6, 2018).
- [60] Alberti KGMM, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato K a., et al. Harmonizing the Metabolic Syndrome: A Joint Interim Statement of the International Diabetes Federation Task Force on Epidemiology and Prevention; National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; American Heart Association; World Heart Federation; International . Circulation 2009;120:1640–5. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644.
- [61] Cardiometabolic Risk Working Group: Executive Committee LA, Leiter LA, Fitchett DH, Gilbert RE, Gupta M, Mancini GBJ, et al. Cardiometabolic risk in Canada: a detailed

analysis and position paper by the cardiometabolic risk working group. Can J Cardiol 2011;27:e1–33. doi:10.1016/j.cjca.2010.12.054.

- [62] Meigs JB. Multiple biomarker prediction of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2009;32:1346–
  8. doi:10.2337/dc09-0754.
- [63] Zheng Y, Ley SH, Hu FB. Global aetiology and epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus and its complications. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2017;14:88–98. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2017.151.
- [64] Wilson PWF, D'Agostino RB, Levy D, Belanger a. M, Silbershatz H, Kannel WB. Prediction of Coronary Heart Disease Using Risk Factor Categories. J Am Hear Assoc -Circ 1998;97:1837–47. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.97.18.1837.
- [65] D'Agostino RB, Vasan RS, Pencina MJ, Wolf P a., Cobain M, Massaro JM, et al. General Cardiovascular Risk Profile for Use in Primary Care: The Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 2008;117:743–53. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.699579.
- [66] Ridker PM, Buring JE, Rifai N, Cook NR. Development and validation of improved algorithms for the assessment of global cardiovascular risk in women: the Reynolds Risk Score. JAMA 2007;297:611–9. doi:10.1001/jama.297.6.611.
- [67] Ridker PM, Paynter NP, Rifai N, Gaziano JM, Cook NR. C-Reactive Protein and Parental History Improve Global Cardiovascular Risk Prediction: The Reynolds Risk Score for Men. Circulation 2008;118:2243–51. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.814251.
- [68] McClelland RL, Jorgensen NW, Budoff M, Blaha MJ, Post WS, Kronmal RA, et al. 10-Year Coronary Heart Disease Risk Prediction Using Coronary Artery Calcium and Traditional Risk Factors: Derivation in the MESA (Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis) With Validation in the HNR (Heinz Nixdorf Recall) Study and the DHS (Dallas Heart Study). J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;66:1643–53. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2015.08.035.
- [69] Cavanaugh-Hussey MW, Berry JD, Lloyd-Jones DM. Who exceeds ATP-III risk thresholds? Systematic examination of the effect of varying age and risk factor levels in the ATP-III risk assessment tool. Prev Med (Baltim) 2008;47:619–23. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.07.012.
- [70] Berry JD, Liu K, Folsom AR, Lewis CE, Carr JJ, Polak JF, et al. Prevalence and Progression of Subclinical Atherosclerosis in Younger Adults With Low Short-Term but High Lifetime Estimated Risk For Cardiovascular Disease: The Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults Study and Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis.

Circulation 2009;119:382–9. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.800235.

- [71] Marma AK, Berry JD, Ning H, Persell SD, Lloyd-Jones DM. Distribution of 10-Year and Lifetime Predicted Risks for Cardiovascular Disease in US Adults: Findings From the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2003 to 2006. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2010;3:8–14. doi:10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.109.869727.
- [72] Karmali KN, Lloyd-Jones DM. Adding a life-course perspective to cardiovascular-risk communication. Nat Rev Cardiol 2013;10:111–5. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2012.185.
- [73] Biomarkers Definitions Working Group. Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: Preferred definitions and conceptual framework. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2001;69:89–95.
   doi:10.1067/mcp.2001.113989.
- [74] Hlatky MA, Greenland P, Arnett DK, Ballantyne CM, Criqui MH, Elkind MSV, et al. Criteria for Evaluation of Novel Markers of Cardiovascular Risk: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2009;119:2408–16. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192278.
- [75] Manolio T. Novel Risk Markers and Clinical Practice. N Engl J Med 2003;349:1587–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMp038136.
- [76] Hlatky M a., Greenland P, Arnett DK, Ballantyne CM, Criqui MH, Elkind MSV, et al. Criteria for Evaluation of Novel Markers of Cardiovascular Risk: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2009;119:2408–16. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192278.
- [77] Hanley A, Mcneil J. The Meaning and Use of the Area under a Receiver Characteristic (ROC) Curve. Radiology 1982;143:29–36. doi:10.1148/radiology.143.1.7063747.
- [78] Lemeshow S, Hosmer DW. A review of goodness of fit statistics for use in the development of logistic regression models. Am J Epidemiol 1982;115:92–106.
- [79] Cook NR. Use and Misuse of the Receiver Operating Characteristic Curve in Risk Prediction. Circulation 2007;115:928–35. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.672402.
- [80] Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, D'Agostino RB, Vasan RS. Evaluating the added predictive ability of a new marker: From area under the ROC curve to reclassification and beyond. Stat Med 2008;27:157–72. doi:10.1002/sim.2929.
- [81] Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Steyerberg EW. Extensions of net reclassification improvement calculations to measure usefulness of new biomarkers. Stat Med

2011;30:11–21. doi:10.1002/sim.4085.

- [82] Leening MJG, Vedder MM, Witteman JCM, Pencina MJ, Steyerberg EW. Net Reclassification Improvement: Computation, Interpretation, and Controversies. Ann Intern Med 2014;160:122–31. doi:10.7326/M13-1522.
- [83] Kerr KF, Wang Z, Janes H, McClelland RL, Psaty BM, Pepe MS. Net reclassification indices for evaluating risk prediction instruments: a critical review. Epidemiology 2014;25:114–21. doi:10.1097/EDE.000000000000018.
- [84] Hilden J, Gerds TA. A note on the evaluation of novel biomarkers: do not rely on integrated discrimination improvement and net reclassification index. Stat Med 2014;33:3405–14. doi:10.1002/sim.5804.
- [85] Pepe MS, Fan J, Feng Z, Gerds T, Hilden J. The Net Reclassification Index (NRI): a Misleading Measure of Prediction Improvement Even with Independent Test Data Sets. Stat Biosci 2015;7:282–95. doi:10.1007/s12561-014-9118-0.
- [86] Vickers AJ, Elkin EB, Steyerberg E. Net reclassification improvement and decision theory. Stat Med 2009;28:525–6. doi:10.1002/sim.3087.
- [87] Vickers AJ, Van Calster B, Steyerberg EW. Net benefit approaches to the evaluation of prediction models, molecular markers, and diagnostic tests. BMJ 2016;352:i6.
- [88] Kim SH, Després J-P, Koh KK. Obesity and cardiovascular disease: friend or foe? Eur Heart J 2016;37:3560–8. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv509.
- [89] Hu FB, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Colditz G, Liu S, Solomon CG, et al. Diet, Lifestyle, and the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Women. N Engl J Med 2001;345:790–7. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa010492.
- [90] Carey VJ, Walters EE, Colditz GA, Solomon CG, Willett WC, Rosner BA, et al. Body fat distribution and risk of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in women. The Nurses' Health Study. Am J Epidemiol 1997;145:614–9.
- [91] Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, Bautista L, Franzosi MG, Commerford P, et al. Obesity and the risk of myocardial infarction in 27,000 participants from 52 countries: a casecontrol study. Lancet (London, England) 2005;366:1640–9. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67663-5.
- [92] Khan SS, Ning H, Wilkins JT, Allen N, Carnethon M, Berry JD, et al. Association of Body Mass Index With Lifetime Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and Compression of

Morbidity. JAMA Cardiol 2018. doi:10.1001/jamacardio.2018.0022.

- [93] Karelis AD, St-Pierre DH, Conus F, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Poehlman ET. Metabolic and Body Composition Factors in Subgroups of Obesity: What Do We Know? J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:2569–75. doi:10.1210/jc.2004-0165.
- [94] Karelis AD, Brochu M, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Garrel D, Poehlman ET. Clinical markers for the identification of metabolically healthy but obese individuals. Diabetes, Obes Metab 2004;6:456–7. doi:10.1111/j.1462-8902.2004.00377.x.
- [95] Meigs JB, Wilson PWF, Fox CS, Vasan RS, Nathan DM, Sullivan LM, et al. Body Mass Index, Metabolic Syndrome, and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes or Cardiovascular Disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006;91:2906–12. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-0594.
- [96] Stefan N, Kantartzis K, Machann J, Schick F, Thamer C, Rittig K, et al. Identification and characterization of metabolically benign obesity in humans. Arch Intern Med 2008;168:1609–16. doi:10.1001/archinte.168.15.1609.
- [97] Kuk JL, Ardern CI. Are Metabolically Normal but Obese Individuals at Lower Risk for All-Cause Mortality? Diabetes Care 2009;32:2297–9. doi:10.2337/dc09-0574.
- [98] Arnlov J, Ingelsson E, Sundstrom J, Lind L. Impact of Body Mass Index and the Metabolic Syndrome on the Risk of Cardiovascular Disease and Death in Middle-Aged Men. Circulation 2010;121:230–6. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.887521.
- [99] Hinnouho G-M, Czernichow S, Dugravot A, Batty GD, Kivimaki M, Singh-Manoux A. Metabolically Healthy Obesity and Risk of Mortality: Does the definition of metabolic health matter? Diabetes Care 2013;36:2294–300. doi:10.2337/dc12-1654.
- [100] Thomsen M, Nordestgaard BG. Myocardial Infarction and Ischemic Heart Disease in Overweight and Obesity With and Without Metabolic Syndrome. JAMA Intern Med 2014;174:15. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.10522.
- [101] Aung K, Lorenzo C, Hinojosa MA, Haffner SM. Risk of Developing Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease in Metabolically Unhealthy Normal-Weight and Metabolically Healthy Obese Individuals. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2014;99:462–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-2832.
- [102] Hansen L, Netterstrøm MK, Johansen NB, Rønn PF, Vistisen D, Husemoen LLN, et al. Metabolically Healthy Obesity and Ischemic Heart Disease: A 10-Year Follow-Up of the Inter99 Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2017;102:1934–42. doi:10.1210/jc.2016-3346.

- [103] Lassale C, Tzoulaki I, Moons KGM, Sweeting M, Boer J, Johnson L, et al. Separate and combined associations of obesity and metabolic health with coronary heart disease: a pan-European case-cohort analysis. Eur Heart J 2017;15:781–90. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehx448.
- [104] Aguilar-Salinas CA, García EG, Robles L, Riaño D, Ruiz-Gomez DG, García-Ulloa AC, et al. High Adiponectin Concentrations Are Associated with the Metabolically Healthy Obese Phenotype. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008;93:4075–9. doi:10.1210/jc.2007-2724.
- [105] Karelis AD, Brochu M, Rabasa-Lhoret R. Can we identify metabolically healthy but obese individuals (MHO)? Diabetes Metab 2004;30:569–72.
- [106] Wildman RP, Muntner P, Reynolds K, McGinn AP, Rajpathak S, Wylie-Rosett J, et al. The Obese Without Cardiometabolic Risk Factor Clustering and the Normal Weight With Cardiometabolic Risk Factor Clustering. Arch Intern Med 2008;168:1617. doi:10.1001/archinte.168.15.1617.
- [107] Velho S, Paccaud F, Waeber G, Vollenweider P, Marques-Vidal P. Metabolically healthy obesity: different prevalences using different criteria. Eur J Clin Nutr 2010;64:1043–51. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2010.114.
- [108] Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ôunpuu S, Dans T, Avezum A, Lanas F, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries ( the INTERHEART study ): case-control study. Lancet 2004;364:937–52. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17018-9.
- [109] Micha R, Peñalvo JL, Cudhea F, Imamura F, Rehm CD, Mozaffarian D. Association Between Dietary Factors and Mortality From Heart Disease, Stroke, and Type 2 Diabetes in the United States. JAMA 2017;317:912. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.0947.
- [110] Anderson TJ. Importance of Optimization of Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Lifestyle Behaviours. Can J Cardiol 2017;33:1221–2. doi:10.1016/j.cjca.2017.07.011.
- [111] Yang Q, Cogswell ME, Flanders WD, Hong Y, Zhang Z, Loustalot F, et al. Trends in Cardiovascular Health Metrics and Associations With All-Cause and CVD Mortality Among US Adults. JAMA 2012;307:1273. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.339.
- [112] Sampson UK, Fazio S, Linton MF. Residual cardiovascular risk despite optimal LDL cholesterol reduction with statins: the evidence, etiology, and therapeutic challenges. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2012;14:1–10. doi:10.1007/s11883-011-0219-7.

- [113] Lieb W, Enserro DM, Larson MG, Vasan RS. Residual cardiovascular risk in individuals on lipid-lowering treatment: quantifying absolute and relative risk in the community. Open Hear 2018;5:e000722. doi:10.1136/openhrt-2017-000722.
- [114] Chowdhury R, Khan H, Heydon E, Shroufi A, Fahimi S, Moore C, et al. Adherence to cardiovascular therapy: a meta-analysis of prevalence and clinical consequences. Eur Heart J 2013;34:2940–8. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/eht295.
- [115] Norman AW. Sunlight, season, skin pigmentation, vitamin D, and 25-hydroxyvitamin D: integral components of the vitamin D endocrine system. Am J Clin Nutr 1998;67:1108– 10.
- [116] Wacker M, Holick MF. Sunlight and Vitamin D. Dermatoendocrinol 2013;5:51–108. doi:10.4161/derm.24494.
- [117] Creery RD, Neill DW. Idiopathic hypercalcaemia in infants with failure to thrive. Lancet (London, England) 1954;267:110–4.
- [118] Drueke TB, Massy ZA. Role of vitamin D in vascular calcification: bad guy or good guy? Nephrol Dial Transplant 2012;27:1704–7. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfs046.
- [119] Scragg R. Seasonality of cardiovascular disease mortality and the possible protective effect of ultra-violet radiation. Int J Epidemiol 1981;10:337–41.
- [120] Pludowski P, Holick MF, Grant WB, Konstantynowicz J, Mascarenhas MR, Haq A, et al. Vitamin D supplementation guidelines. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2018;175:125–35. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2017.01.021.
- [121] Bouillon R, Van Schoor NM, Gielen E, Boonen S, Mathieu C, Vanderschueren D, et al.
   Optimal Vitamin D Status: A Critical Analysis on the Basis of Evidence-Based Medicine.
   J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013;98:E1283–304. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-1195.
- [122] Holick MF, Chen TC, Lu Z, Sauter E. Vitamin D and skin physiology: a D-lightful story. J Bone Miner Res 2007;22 Suppl 2:V28-33. doi:10.1359/jbmr.07s211.
- [123] Calvo MS, Whiting SJ, Barton CN. Vitamin D fortification in the United States and Canada: current status and data needs. Am J Clin Nutr 2004;80:17108–1716.
- [124] Tripkovic L, Lambert H, Hart K, Smith CP, Bucca G, Penson S, et al. Comparison of vitamin D2 and vitamin D3 supplementation in raising serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D status: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr 2012;95:1357–64. doi:10.3945/ajcn.111.031070.

- [125] Christakos S, Dhawan P, Verstuyf A, Verlinden L, Carmeliet G. Vitamin D: Metabolism, Molecular Mechanism of Action, and Pleiotropic Effects. Physiol Rev 2016;96:365–408. doi:10.1152/physrev.00014.2015.
- [126] Hochberg Z, Tiosano D, Even L. Calcium therapy for calcitriol-resistant rickets. J Pediatr 1992;121:803–8.
- [127] Amling M, Priemel M, Holzmann T, Chapin K, Rueger JM, Baron R, et al. Rescue of the skeletal phenotype of vitamin D receptor-ablated mice in the setting of normal mineral ion homeostasis: formal histomorphometric and biomechanical analyses. Endocrinology 1999;140:4982–7. doi:10.1210/endo.140.11.7110.
- [128] Masuyama R, Nakaya Y, Katsumata S, Kajita Y, Uehara M, Tanaka S, et al. Dietary calcium and phosphorus ratio regulates bone mineralization and turnover in vitamin D receptor knockout mice by affecting intestinal calcium and phosphorus absorption. J Bone Miner Res 2003;18:1217–26. doi:10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.7.1217.
- [129] Lieben L, Masuyama R, Torrekens S, Van Looveren R, Schrooten J, Baatsen P, et al. Normocalcemia is maintained in mice under conditions of calcium malabsorption by vitamin D-induced inhibition of bone mineralization. J Clin Invest 2012;122:1803–15. doi:10.1172/JCI45890.
- [130] Jukic AMZ, Hoofnagle AN, Lutsey PL. Measurement of Vitamin D for Epidemiologic and Clinical Research: Shining Light on a Complex Decision. Am J Epidemiol 2017. doi:10.1093/aje/kwx297.
- [131] Jorde R, Grimnes G. Serum cholecalciferol may be a better marker of vitamin D status than 25-hydroxyvitamin D. Med Hypotheses 2018;111:61–5. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2017.12.017.
- [132] Bouillon R, Van Schoor NM, Gielen E, Boonen S, Mathieu C, Vanderschueren D, et al. Optimal Vitamin D Status: A Critical Analysis on the Basis of Evidence-Based Medicine. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013;98:E1283–304. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-1195.
- [133] Binkley N, Krueger D, Cowgill CS, Plum L, Lake E, Hansen KE, et al. Assay Variation Confounds the Diagnosis of Hypovitaminosis D: A Call for Standardization. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:3152–7. doi:10.1210/jc.2003-031979.
- [134] Moon H-W, Cho J-H, Hur M, Song J, Oh GY, Park CM, et al. Comparison of four current 25-hydroxyvitamin D assays. Clin Biochem 2012;45:326–30.

doi:10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2011.12.025.

- [135] Volmer DA, Mendes LRBC, Stokes CS. Analysis of vitamin D metabolic markers by mass spectrometry: current techniques, limitations of the "gold standard" method, and anticipated future directions. Mass Spectrom Rev 2015;34:2–23. doi:10.1002/mas.21408.
- [136] Lai JKC, Lucas RM, Banks E, Ponsonby A-L, Ausimmune Investigator Group. Variability in vitamin D assays impairs clinical assessment of vitamin D status. Intern Med J 2012;42:43–50. doi:10.1111/j.1445-5994.2011.02471.x.
- [137] Snellman G, Melhus H, Gedeborg R, Byberg L, Berglund L, Wernroth L, et al. Determining vitamin D status: a comparison between commercially available assays. PLoS One 2010;5:e11555. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011555.
- [138] Sempos CT, Vesper HW, Phinney KW, Thienpont LM, Coates PM, Vitamin DSP.
   Vitamin D status as an international issue: national surveys and the problem of standardization. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl 2012;243:32–40.
   doi:10.3109/00365513.2012.681935.
- [139] Kimlin MG. Geographic location and vitamin D synthesis. Mol Aspects Med 2008;29:453–61. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2008.08.005.
- [140] Webb AR, Kline L, Holick MF. Influence of season and latitude on the cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D3: exposure to winter sunlight in Boston and Edmonton will not promote vitamin D3 synthesis in human skin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1988;67:373–8. doi:10.1210/jcem-67-2-373.
- [141] MacLaughlin J, Holick MF. Aging decreases the capacity of human skin to produce vitamin D3. J Clin Invest 1985;76:1536–8. doi:10.1172/JCI112134.
- [142] Clemens TL, Adams JS, Henderson SL, Holick MF. Increased skin pigment reduces the capacity of skin to synthesise vitamin D3. Lancet (London, England) 1982;1:74–6.
- [143] Matsuoka LY, Ide L, Wortsman J, MacLaughlin JA, Holick MF. Sunscreens suppress cutaneous vitamin D3 synthesis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1987;64:1165–8. doi:10.1210/jcem-64-6-1165.
- [144] Holick MF, Matsuoka LY, Wortsman J. Age, vitamin D, and solar ultraviolet. Lancet (London, England) 1989;2:1104–5.
- [145] Wang TJ, Zhang F, Richards JB, Kestenbaum B, van Meurs JB, Berry D, et al. Common

genetic determinants of vitamin D insufficiency: a genome-wide association study. Lancet (London, England) 2010;376:180–8. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60588-0.

- [146] Ekwaru JP, Zwicker JD, Holick MF, Giovannucci E, Veugelers PJ. The Importance of Body Weight for the Dose Response Relationship of Oral Vitamin D Supplementation and Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D in Healthy Volunteers. PLoS One 2014;9:e111265. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0111265.
- [147] Wortsman J, Matsuoka LY, Chen T, Lu Z, Holick MF. Decreased bioavailability of vitamin D in obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 2000 200AD;72:690–4.
- [148] Blum M, Dolnikowski G, Seyoum E, Harris SS, Booth SL, Peterson J, et al. Vitamin D3 in fat tissue. Endocrine 2008;33:90–4. doi:10.1007/s12020-008-9051-4.
- [149] Drincic AT, Armas LAG, Van Diest EE, Heaney RP. Volumetric dilution, rather than sequestration best explains the low vitamin D status of obesity. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2012;20:1444–8. doi:10.1038/oby.2011.404.
- [150] Health Council of the Netherlands. Evaluation of the dietary reference values for vitamin D | Health Council of the Netherlands 2012. https://www.gezondheidsraad.nl/en/task-andprocedure/areas-of-activity/healthy-nutrition/evaluation-of-the-dietary-reference-values (accessed March 7, 2018).
- [151] Public Health England. SACN vitamin D and health report 2016. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sacn-vitamin-d-and-health-report (accessed March 7, 2018).
- [152] EFSA. Dietary reference values for vitamin D. EFSA J 2016;14:e04547. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4547.
- [153] Dawson-Hughes B, Mithal A, Bonjour J-P, Boonen S, Burckhardt P, Fuleihan GE-H, et al. IOF position statement: vitamin D recommendations for older adults. Osteoporos Int 2010;21:1151–4. doi:10.1007/s00198-010-1285-3.
- [154] American Geriatrics Society Workgroup on Vitamin D Supplementation for Older Adults. Recommendations Abstracted from the American Geriatrics Society Consensus Statement on Vitamin D for Prevention of Falls and Their Consequences. J Am Geriatr Soc 2014;62:147–52. doi:10.1111/jgs.12631.
- [155] Vitamin D Council. For health professionals: Council position statement on supplementation, blood levels and sun exposure n.d. https://www.vitamindcouncil.org/for-

health-professionals-position-statement-on-supplementation-blood-levels-and-sunexposure/ (accessed March 7, 2018).

- [156] Cashman KD, Ritz C, Kiely M, Odin Collaborators. Improved Dietary Guidelines for Vitamin D: Application of Individual Participant Data (IPD)-Level Meta-Regression Analyses. Nutrients 2017;9:469. doi:10.3390/nu9050469.
- [157] Luxwolda MF, Kuipers RS, Kema IP, van der Veer E, Dijck-Brouwer DAJ, Muskiet FAJ. Vitamin D status indicators in indigenous populations in East Africa. Eur J Nutr 2013;52:1115–25. doi:10.1007/s00394-012-0421-6.
- [158] Norman AW, Frankel JB, Heldt AM, Grodsky GM. Vitamin D deficiency inhibits pancreatic secretion of insulin. Science 1980;209:823–5.
- [159] Chertow BS, Sivitz WI, Baranetsky NG, Clark SA, Waite A, Deluca HF. Cellular mechanisms of insulin release: the effects of vitamin D deficiency and repletion on rat insulin secretion. Endocrinology 1983;113:1511–8. doi:10.1210/endo-113-4-1511.
- [160] Cade C, Norman AW. Vitamin D3 improves impaired glucose tolerance and insulin secretion in the vitamin D-deficient rat in vivo. Endocrinology 1986;119:84–90. doi:10.1210/endo-119-1-84.
- [161] Li YC, Kong J, Wei M, Chen Z-F, Liu SQ, Cao L-P. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 is a negative endocrine regulator of the renin-angiotensin system. J Clin Invest 2002;110:229–38. doi:10.1172/JCI15219.
- [162] Zhou C, Lu F, Cao K, Xu D, Goltzman D, Miao D. Calcium-independent and 1,25(OH)2D3-dependent regulation of the renin-angiotensin system in 1α-hydroxylase knockout mice. Kidney Int 2008;74:170–9. doi:10.1038/ki.2008.101.
- [163] Yuan W, Pan W, Kong J, Zheng W, Szeto FL, Wong KE, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D Suppresses Renin Gene Transcription by Blocking the Activity of the Cyclic AMP Response Element in the Renin Gene Promoter. J Biol Chem 2007;282:29821–30. doi:10.1074/jbc.M705495200.
- [164] Chen S, Law CS, Grigsby CL, Olsen K, Hong T-T, Zhang Y, et al. Cardiomyocyte-Specific Deletion of the Vitamin D Receptor Gene Results in Cardiac HypertrophyClinical Perspective. Circulation 2011;124:1838–47. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.032680.
- [165] Aihara K, Azuma H, Akaike M, Ikeda Y, Yamashita M, Sudo T, et al. Disruption of

nuclear vitamin D receptor gene causes enhanced thrombogenicity in mice. J Biol Chem 2004;279:35798–802. doi:10.1074/jbc.M404865200.

- [166] Andrukhova O, Slavic S, Zeitz U, Riesen SC, Heppelmann MS, Ambrisko TD, et al.
   Vitamin D is a regulator of endothelial nitric oxide synthase and arterial stiffness in mice.
   Mol Endocrinol 2014;28:53–64. doi:10.1210/me.2013-1252.
- [167] Ni W, Watts SW, Ng M, Chen S, Glenn DJ, Gardner DG. Elimination of vitamin D receptor in vascular endothelial cells alters vascular function. Hypertens (Dallas, Tex 1979) 2014;64:1290–8. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.03971.
- [168] Mancuso P, Rahman A, Hershey SD, Dandu L, Nibbelink KA, Simpson RU. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin-D3 treatment reduces cardiac hypertrophy and left ventricular diameter in spontaneously hypertensive heart failure-prone (cp/+) rats independent of changes in serum leptin. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2008;51:559–64. doi:10.1097/FJC.0b013e3181761906.
- [169] Bourlon PM, Billaudel B, Faure-Dussert A. Influence of vitamin D3 deficiency and 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 on de novo insulin biosynthesis in the islets of the rat endocrine pancreas. J Endocrinol 1999;160:87–95.
- [170] Johnson JA, Grande JP, Roche PC, Kumar R. Immunohistochemical localization of the 1,25(OH)2D3 receptor and calbindin D28k in human and rat pancreas. Am J Physiol 1994;267:E356-60. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.1994.267.3.E356.
- [171] Bland R, Markovic D, Hills CE, Hughes S V., Chan SLF, Squires PE, et al. Expression of 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1α-hydroxylase in pancreatic islets. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2004;89–90:121–5. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2004.03.115.
- [172] Zeitz U, Weber K, Soegiarto DW, Wolf E, Balling R, Erben RG. Impaired insulin secretory capacity in mice lacking a functional vitamin D receptor. FASEB J 2003;17:509–11. doi:10.1096/fj.02-0424fje.
- [173] Chiu K, Chu A, Go V, Saad M. Hypovitaminosis D is associated with insulin resistance and β cell dysfunction. Am J ... 2004;25:820–5.
- [174] Abbasi F, Blasey C, Feldman D, Caulfield MP, Hantash FM, Reaven GM. Low Circulating 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentrations Are Associated with Defects in Insulin Action and Insulin Secretion in Persons with Prediabetes. J Nutr 2015;145:714–9. doi:10.3945/jn.114.209171.

- [175] Esteghamati A, Aryan Z, Esteghamati A, Nakhjavani M. Vitamin D deficiency is associated with insulin resistance in nondiabetics and reduced insulin production in type 2 diabetics. Horm Metab Res 2015;47:273–9. doi:10.1055/s-0034-1389903.
- [176] Gulseth HL, Gjelstad IMF, Tierney AC, Lovegrove JA, Defoort C, Blaak EE, et al. Serum Vitamin D Concentration Does Not Predict Insulin Action or Secretion in European Subjects With the Metabolic Syndrome. Diabetes Care 2010;33:923–5. doi:10.2337/dc09-1692.
- [177] Leung P. The Potential Protective Action of Vitamin D in Hepatic Insulin Resistance and Pancreatic Islet Dysfunction in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Nutrients 2016;8:147. doi:10.3390/nu8030147.
- [178] Maestro B, Molero S, Bajo S, Dávila N, Calle C. Transcriptional activation of the human insulin receptor gene by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D 3. Cell Biochem Funct 2002;20:227–32. doi:10.1002/cbf.951.
- [179] Maestro B, Dávila N, Carranza MC, Calle C. Identification of a Vitamin D response element in the human insulin receptor gene promoter. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2003;84:223–30. doi:10.1016/S0960-0760(03)00032-3.
- [180] Dunlop TW, Väisänen S, Frank C, Molnár F, Sinkkonen L, Carlberg C. The Human Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor δ Gene is a Primary Target of 1α,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 and its Nuclear Receptor. J Mol Biol 2005;349:248–60. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2005.03.060.
- [181] Williams PF, Caterson ID, Cooney GJ, Zilkens RR, Turtle JR. High affinity insulin binding and insulin receptor-effector coupling: modulation by Ca2+. Cell Calcium 1990;11:547–56.
- [182] Reusch JE-B, Begum N, Sussman KE, Draznin B. Regulation of GLUT-4
   Phosphorylation by Intracellular Calcium in Adipocytes\*. Endocrinology 1991;129:3269– 73. doi:10.1210/endo-129-6-3269.
- [183] Gilsanz V, Kremer A, Mo AO, Wren TAL, Kremer R. Vitamin D Status and Its Relation to Muscle Mass and Muscle Fat in Young Women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010;95:1595–601. doi:10.1210/jc.2009-2309.
- [184] Mutt SJ, Karhu T, Lehtonen S, Lehenkari P, Carlberg C, Saarnio J, et al. Inhibition of cytokine secretion from adipocytes by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> via the NF-κB pathway.
FASEB J 2012;26:4400-7. doi:10.1096/fj.12-210880.

- [185] Yin K, You Y, Swier V, Tang L, Radwan MM, Pandya AN, et al. Vitamin D Protects Against Atherosclerosis via Regulation of Cholesterol Efflux and Macrophage Polarization in Hypercholesterolemic SwineSignificance. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2015;35:2432–42. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.306132.
- [186] Oh J, Weng S, Felton SK, Bhandare S, Riek A, Butler B, et al. ,25(OH) 2 Vitamin D Inhibits Foam Cell Formation and Suppresses Macrophage Cholesterol Uptake in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus n.d. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.856070.
- [187] Etten E van, Mathieu C. Immunoregulation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3: Basic concepts. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2005;97:93–101. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2005.06.002.
- [188] Forouhi NG, Luan J, Cooper A, Boucher BJ, Wareham NJ. Baseline serum 25-hydroxy vitamin d is predictive of future glycemic status and insulin resistance: the Medical Research Council Ely Prospective Study 1990-2000. Diabetes 2008;57:2619–25. doi:10.2337/db08-0593.
- [189] Kayaniyil S, Gerstein HC, Veith R, Perkins BA, Retnakaran R, Harris SB, Knight JA, Zinman B, Qi Y HA. Association of Vitamin D With Insulin Resistance and beta-Cell Dysfunction in Subjects at Risk for Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Care 2010;33:1379–81. doi:10.2337/dc09-2321.
- [190] Pham T-M, Ekwaru JP, Loehr SA, Veugelers PJ. The Relationship of Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Insulin Resistance among Nondiabetic Canadians: A Longitudinal Analysis of Participants of a Preventive Health Program. PLoS One 2015;10:e0141081. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0141081.
- [191] Liu E, Meigs JB, Pittas AG, McKeown NM, Economos CD, Booth SL, et al. Plasma 25hydroxyvitamin d is associated with markers of the insulin resistant phenotype in nondiabetic adults. J Nutr 2009;139:329–34. doi:10.3945/jn.108.093831.
- [192] Marques-Vidal P, Vollenweider P, Guessous I, Henry H, Boulat O, Waeber G, et al. Serum Vitamin D Concentrations Are Not Associated with Insulin Resistance in Swiss Adults. J Nutr 2015;145:2117–22. doi:10.3945/jn.115.211763.
- [193] Song Y, Wang L, Pittas AG, Del Gobbo LC, Zhang C, Manson JE, et al. Blood 25hydroxy vitamin D levels and incident type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. Diabetes Care 2013;36:1422–8. doi:10.2337/dc12-0962.

- [194] Kunutsor SK, Apekey TA, Steur M. Vitamin D and risk of future hypertension: metaanalysis of 283,537 participants. Eur J Epidemiol 2013;28:205–21. doi:10.1007/s10654-013-9790-2.
- [195] Jorde R, Grimnes G. Vitamin D and metabolic health with special reference to the effect of vitamin D on serum lipids. Prog Lipid Res 2011;50:303–12. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2011.05.001.
- [196] Prietl B, Treiber G, Pieber TR, Amrein K. Vitamin D and immune function. Nutrients 2013;5:2502–21. doi:10.3390/nu5072502.
- [197] Jean G, Souberbielle JC, Chazot C. Vitamin D in Chronic Kidney Disease and Dialysis Patients. Nutrients 2017;9. doi:10.3390/nu9040328.
- [198] Durup D, Jørgensen HL, Christensen J, Tjønneland A, Olsen A, Halkjær J, et al. A Reverse J-Shaped Association Between Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Cardiovascular Disease Mortality: The CopD Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015;100:2339–46. doi:10.1210/jc.2014-4551.
- [199] Grant WB, Karras SN, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Annweiler C, Boucher BJ, Juzeniene A, et al. Do studies reporting "U"-shaped serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D-health outcome relationships reflect adverse effects? Dermatoendocrinol 2016;8:e1187349. doi:10.1080/19381980.2016.1187349.
- [200] Autier P, Boniol M, Pizot C, Mullie P. Vitamin D status and ill health: a systematic review. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2014;2:76–89. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(13)70165-7.
- [201] Christensen MHE, Scragg RK. Consistent ethnic specific differences in diabetes risk and vitamin D status in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2015. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.09.023.
- [202] Berry D, Hyppönen E. Determinants of vitamin D status: focus on genetic variations. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2011;20:331–6. doi:10.1097/MNH.0b013e328346d6ba.
- [203] Ahn J, Yu K, Stolzenberg-Solomon R, Simon KC, McCullough ML, Gallicchio L, et al. Genome-wide association study of circulating vitamin D levels. Hum Mol Genet 2010;19:2739–45. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddq155.
- [204] Skaaby T, Husemoen LLN, Martinussen T, Thyssen JP, Melgaard M, Thuesen BH, et al. Vitamin D Status, Filaggrin Genotype, and Cardiovascular Risk Factors: A Mendelian Randomization Approach. PLoS One 2013;8:e57647. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0057647.

- [205] Ooi EM, Afzal S, Nordestgaard BG. Elevated Remnant Cholesterol in 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Deficiency in the General Population: Mendelian Randomization Study. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2014;7:650–8. doi:10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.113.000416.
- [206] Liefaard MC, Ligthart S, Vitezova A, Hofman A, Uitterlinden AG, Kiefte-de Jong JC, et al. Vitamin D and C-Reactive Protein: A Mendelian Randomization Study. PLoS One 2015;10:e0131740. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0131740.
- [207] Leong A, Rehman W, Dastani Z, Greenwood C, Timpson N, Langsetmo L, et al. The Causal Effect of Vitamin D Binding Protein (DBP) Levels on Calcemic and Cardiometabolic Diseases: A Mendelian Randomization Study. PLoS Med 2014;11:e1001751. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001751.
- [208] Vimaleswaran KS, Cavadino A, Berry DJ, Jorde R, Dieffenbach AK, Lu C, et al. Association of vitamin D status with arterial blood pressure and hypertension risk: a mendelian randomisation study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2014;2:719–29. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70113-5.
- [209] Afzal S, Brøndum-Jacobsen P, Bojesen SE, Nordestgaard BG. Vitamin D concentration, obesity, and risk of diabetes: a mendelian randomisation study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2014;2:298–306. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(13)70200-6.
- [210] Buijsse B, Boeing H, Hirche F, Weikert C, Schulze MB, Gottschald M, et al. Plasma 25hydroxyvitamin D and its genetic determinants in relation to incident type 2 diabetes: a prospective case-cohort study. Eur J Epidemiol 2013;28:743–52. doi:10.1007/s10654-013-9844-5.
- [211] Ye Z, Sharp SJ, Burgess S, Scott RA, Imamura F, Langenberg C, et al. Association between circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D and incident type 2 diabetes: a mendelian randomisation study. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2015;3:35–42. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70184-6.
- [212] Cooper JD, Smyth DJ, Walker NM, Stevens H, Burren OS, Wallace C, et al. Inherited variation in vitamin D genes is associated with predisposition to autoimmune disease type 1 diabetes. Diabetes 2011;60:1624–31. doi:10.2337/db10-1656.
- [213] Husemoen LLN, Skaaby T, Martinussen T, Jørgensen T, Thuesen BH, Kistorp C, et al. Investigating the causal effect of vitamin D on serum adiponectin using a Mendelian randomization approach. Eur J Clin Nutr 2014;68:189–95. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2013.233.

- [214] Trummer O, Pilz S, Hoffmann MM, Winkelmann BR, Boehm BO, März W, et al. Vitamin D and mortality: a Mendelian randomization study. Clin Chem 2013;59:793–7. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2012.193185.
- [215] Manousaki D, Mokry LE, Ross S, Goltzman D, Richards JB. Mendelian Randomization Studies Do Not Support a Role for Vitamin D in Coronary Artery Disease. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 2016;9:349–56. doi:10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.116.001396.
- [216] Brøndum-Jacobsen P, Benn M, Afzal S, Nordestgaard BG. No evidence that genetically reduced 25-hydroxyvitamin D is associated with increased risk of ischaemic heart disease or myocardial infarction: a Mendelian randomization study. Int J Epidemiol 2015;44:651– 61. doi:10.1093/ije/dyv078.
- [217] Afzal S, Brondum-Jacobsen P, Bojesen SE, Nordestgaard BG. Genetically low vitamin D concentrations and increased mortality: mendelian randomisation analysis in three large cohorts. BMJ 2014;349:g6330–g6330. doi:10.1136/bmj.g6330.
- [218] Wang L, Song Y, Manson JE, Pilz S, Marz W, Michaelsson K, et al. Circulating 25-Hydroxy-Vitamin D and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease: A Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2012;5:819–29. doi:10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.112.967604.
- [219] Pilz S, Tomaschitz A, Ritz E, Pieber TR. Vitamin D status and arterial hypertension: a systematic review. Nat Rev Cardiol 2009;6:621–30. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2009.135.
- [220] Witham MD, Nadir MA, Struthers AD. Effect of vitamin D on blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hypertens 2009;27:1948–54. doi:10.1097/HJH.0b013e32832f075b.
- [221] Golzarand M, Shab-Bidar S, Koochakpoor G, Speakman J R, Djafarian K. Effect of vitamin D3 supplementation on blood pressure in adults: An updated meta-analysis. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2016;26:663–73. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2016.04.011.
- [222] Mozaffari-Khosravi H, Loloei S, Mirjalili M-R, Barzegar K. The effect of vitamin D supplementation on blood pressure in patients with elevated blood pressure and vitamin D deficiency: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Blood Press Monit 2015;20:83–91. doi:10.1097/MBP.000000000000091.
- [223] Beveridge LA, Struthers AD, Khan F, Jorde R, Scragg R, Macdonald HM, et al. Effect of Vitamin D Supplementation on Blood Pressure: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis

Incorporating Individual Patient Data. JAMA Intern Med 2015;175:745–54. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.0237.

- [224] Sluyter JD, Camargo CA, Stewart AW, Waayer D, Lawes CMM, Toop L, et al. Effect of Monthly, High-Dose, Long-Term Vitamin D Supplementation on Central Blood Pressure Parameters: A Randomized Controlled Trial Substudy. J Am Heart Assoc 2017;6:e006802. doi:10.1161/JAHA.117.006802.
- [225] Raed A, Bhagatwala J, Zhu H, Pollock NK, Parikh SJ, Huang Y, et al. Dose responses of vitamin D3 supplementation on arterial stiffness in overweight African Americans with vitamin D deficiency: A placebo controlled randomized trial. PLoS One 2017;12:e0188424. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0188424.
- [226] Seida JC, Mitri J, Colmers IN, Majumdar SR, Davidson MB, Edwards AL, et al. Clinical review: Effect of vitamin D3 supplementation on improving glucose homeostasis and preventing diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2014;99:3551–60. doi:10.1210/jc.2014-2136.
- [227] Poolsup N, Suksomboon N, Plordplong N. Effect of vitamin D supplementation on insulin resistance and glycaemic control in prediabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabet Med 2016;33:290–9. doi:10.1111/dme.12893.
- [228] Jorde R, Sollid ST, Svartberg J, Schirmer H, Joakimsen RM, Njølstad I, et al. Vitamin D 20 000 IU per Week for Five Years Does Not Prevent Progression From Prediabetes to Diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2016;101:1647–55. doi:10.1210/jc.2015-4013.
- [229] George PS, Pearson ER, Witham MD. Effect of vitamin D supplementation on glycaemic control and insulin resistance: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabet Med 2012;29:e142–50. doi:10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03672.x.
- [230] Wu C, Qiu S, Zhu X, Li L. Vitamin D supplementation and glycemic control in type 2 diabetes patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Metabolism 2017;73:67–76. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2017.05.006.
- [231] Mirhosseini N, Vatanparast H, Mazidi M, Kimball SM. The Effect of Improved Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Status on Glycemic Control in Diabetic Patients: A Meta-Analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2017;102:3097–110. doi:10.1210/jc.2017-01024.
- [232] Krul-Poel YHM, ter Wee MM, Lips P, Simsek S. MANAGEMENT OF ENDOCRINE DISEASE: The effect of vitamin D supplementation on glycaemic control in patients with

type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Endocrinol 2017;176:R1–14. doi:10.1530/EJE-16-0391.

- [233] von Hurst PR, Stonehouse W, Coad J, Dawson-Hughes B, Ahlbom A, Turner R. Vitamin D supplementation reduces insulin resistance in South Asian women living in New Zealand who are insulin resistant and vitamin D deficient - a randomised, placebocontrolled trial. Br J Nutr 2010;103:549–55. doi:10.1017/S0007114509992017.
- [234] Pittas AG, Harris SS, Stark PC, Dawson-Hughes B. The Effects of Calcium and Vitamin D Supplementation on Blood Glucose and Markers of Inflammation in Nondiabetic Adults. Diabetes Care 2007;30:980–6. doi:10.2337/dc06-1994.
- [235] Mitri J, Dawson-Hughes B, Hu FB, Pittas AG. Effects of vitamin D and calcium supplementation on pancreatic β cell function, insulin sensitivity, and glycemia in adults at high risk of diabetes: the Calcium and Vitamin D for Diabetes Mellitus (CaDDM) randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;94:486–94. doi:10.3945/ajcn.111.011684.
- [236] Harris SS, Pittas AG, Palermo NJ. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of vitamin D supplementation to improve glycaemia in overweight and obese African Americans. Diabetes Obes Metab 2012;14:789–94. doi:10.1111/j.1463-1326.2012.01605.x.
- [237] Davidson MB, Duran P, Lee ML, Friedman TC. High-Dose Vitamin D Supplementation in People With Prediabetes and Hypovitaminosis D. Diabetes Care 2013;36:260–6. doi:10.2337/dc12-1204.
- [238] Oosterwerff MM, Eekhoff EM, Van Schoor NM, Boeke AJP, Nanayakkara P, Meijnen R, et al. Effect of moderate-dose vitamin D supplementation on insulin sensitivity in vitamin D-deficient non-Western immigrants in the Netherlands: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2014;100:152–60. doi:10.3945/ajcn.113.069260.
- [239] Barengolts E, Manickam B, Eisenberg Y, Akbar A, Kukreja S, Ciubotaru I. Effect Of High-dose Vitamin D Repletion on Glycemic Control in African-American Males with Prediabetes and Hypovitaminosis D. Endocr Pract 2015;21:604–12. doi:10.4158/EP14548.OR.
- [240] Wagner H, Alvarsson M, Mannheimer B, Degerblad M, Östenson C-G. No Effect of High-Dose Vitamin D Treatment on β-Cell Function, Insulin Sensitivity, or Glucose Homeostasis in Subjects With Abnormal Glucose Tolerance: A Randomized Clinical

Trial. Diabetes Care 2016;39:345–52. doi:10.2337/dc15-1057.

- [241] Nazarian S, St. Peter J V., Boston RC, Jones SA, Mariash CN. Vitamin D3 supplementation improves insulin sensitivity in subjects with impaired fasting glucose. Transl Res 2011;158:276–81. doi:10.1016/j.trsl.2011.05.002.
- [242] Tuomainen T-P, Virtanen JK, Voutilainen S, Nurmi T, Mursu J, de Mello VDF, et al. Glucose Metabolism Effects of Vitamin D in Prediabetes: The VitDmet Randomized Placebo-Controlled Supplementation Study. J Diabetes Res 2015;2015:672653. doi:10.1155/2015/672653.
- [243] Chen N, Wan Z, Han S-F, Li B-Y, Zhang Z-L, Qin L-Q. Effect of Vitamin D Supplementation on the Level of Circulating High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Nutrients 2014;6:2206–16. doi:10.3390/nu6062206.
- [244] Jamka M, Woźniewicz M, Walkowiak J, Bogdański P, Jeszka J, Stelmach-Mardas M. The effect of vitamin D supplementation on selected inflammatory biomarkers in obese and overweight subjects: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Eur J Nutr 2016;55:2163– 76. doi:10.1007/s00394-015-1089-5.
- [245] Jiang W-L, Gu H-B, Zhang Y-F, Xia Q-Q, Qi J, Chen J-C. Vitamin D Supplementation in the Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure: A Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Clin Cardiol 2016;39:56–61. doi:10.1002/clc.22473.
- [246] Wang H, Xia N, Yang Y, Peng D-Q. Influence of vitamin D supplementation on plasma lipid profiles: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Lipids Health Dis 2012;11:42. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-11-42.
- [247] Challoumas D. Vitamin D supplementation and lipid profile: what does the best available evidence show? Atherosclerosis 2014;235:130–9. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.04.024.
- [248] Wang L, Manson JE, Song Y, Sesso HD. Systematic review: Vitamin D and calcium supplementation in prevention of cardiovascular events. Ann Intern Med 2010;152:315–23. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-152-5-201003020-00010.
- [249] Elamin MB, Abu Elnour NO, Elamin KB, Fatourechi MM, Alkatib A a., Almandoz JP, et al. Vitamin D and Cardiovascular Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96:1931–42. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-0398.

- [250] Mao P-J, Zhang C, Tang L, Xian Y-Q, Li Y-S, Wang W-D, et al. Effect of calcium or vitamin D supplementation on vascular outcomes: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Int J Cardiol 2013;169:106–11. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2013.08.055.
- [251] Ford J a, Maclennan GS, Avenell A, Bolland M, Grey A, Witham M, et al. Cardiovascular disease and vitamin D supplementation : trial analysis , systematic review , and metaanalysis 1 – 4 2014:746–55. doi:10.3945/ajcn.113.082602.Low.
- [252] Bolland MJ, Grey A, Gamble GD, Reid IR. The effect of vitamin D supplementation on skeletal, vascular, or cancer outcomes: a trial sequential meta-analysis. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2014;2:307–20. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(13)70212-2.
- [253] Bjelakovic G, Gluud LL, Nikolova D, Whitfield K, Wetterslev J, Simonetti RG, et al. Vitamin D supplementation for prevention of mortality in adults. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014:CD007470. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD007470.pub3.
- [254] Scragg R, Stewart AW, Waayer D, Lawes CMM, Toop L, Sluyter J, et al. Effect of Monthly High-Dose Vitamin D Supplementation on Cardiovascular Disease in the Vitamin D Assessment Study. JAMA Cardiol 2017;2:608. doi:10.1001/jamacardio.2017.0175.
- [255] Gillie O. Controlled trials of vitamin D, causality and type 2 statistical error. Public Health Nutr 2016;19:409–14. doi:10.1017/S1368980014002304.
- [256] Heaney RP. Guidelines for optimizing design and analysis of clinical studies of nutrient effects. Nutr Rev 2014;72:48–54. doi:10.1111/nure.12090.
- [257] Hollis BW, Wagner CL. Clinical review: The role of the parent compound vitamin D with respect to metabolism and function: Why clinical dose intervals can affect clinical outcomes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013;98:4619–28. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-2653.
- [258] Jorde R, Grimnes G. Serum cholecalciferol may be a better marker of vitamin D status than 25-hydroxyvitamin D. Med Hypotheses 2018;111:61–5. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2017.12.017.
- [259] Hollis BW, Wagner CL. Clinical review: The role of the parent compound vitamin D with respect to metabolism and function: Why clinical dose intervals can affect clinical outcomes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013;98:4619–28. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-2653.
- [260] Martineau AR, Jolliffe DA, Hooper RL, Greenberg L, Aloia JF, Bergman P, et al. Vitamin D supplementation to prevent acute respiratory tract infections: systematic review and

meta-analysis of individual participant data. BMJ 2017:i6583. doi:10.1136/bmj.i6583.

- [261] Brenner H, Jansen L, Saum K-U, Holleczek B, Schöttker B. Vitamin D Supplementation Trials Aimed at Reducing Mortality Have Much Higher Power When Focusing on People with Low Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentrations. J Nutr 2017;147:1325–33. doi:10.3945/jn.117.250191.
- [262] Kristal AR. Are clinical trials the "gold standard" for cancer prevention research? Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2008;17:3289–91. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-08-1066.
- [263] Forouhi NG, Ye Z, Rickard AP, Khaw KT, Luben R, Langenberg C, et al. Circulating 25hydroxyvitamin D concentration and the risk of type 2 diabetes: results from the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer (EPIC)-Norfolk cohort and updated meta-analysis of prospective studies. Diabetologia 2012;55:2173–82. doi:10.1007/s00125-012-2544-y.
- [264] Ford E, Ajani U, Mcguire L, Liu S. Concentrations of Serum Vitamin D and the Metabolic Syndrome Among US Adults. Diabetes Care 2005;28:1228–30.
- [265] Wang TJ, Pencina MJ, Booth SL, Jacques PF, Ingelsson E, Lanier K, et al. Vitamin D Deficiency and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation 2008;117:503–11. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.706127.
- [266] Skaaby T, Husemoen LLN, Pisinger C, Jørgensen T, Thuesen BH, Fenger M, et al. Vitamin D status and changes in cardiovascular risk factors: a prospective study of a general population. Cardiology 2012;123:62–70. doi:10.1159/000341277.
- [267] García-Bailo B, Da Costa LA, Arora P, Karmali M, El-Sohemy A, Badawi A. Plasma vitamin D and biomarkers of cardiometabolic disease risk in adult Canadians, 2007-2009. Prev Chronic Dis 2013;10:E91. doi:10.5888/pcd10.120230.
- [268] Kayaniyil S, Harris SB, Retnakaran R, Vieth R, Knight JA, Gerstein HC, et al. Prospective association of 25(OH)D with metabolic syndrome. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2014;80:502–7. doi:10.1111/cen.12190.
- [269] Zhao G, Ford ES, Li C. Associations of serum concentrations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D and parathyroid hormone with surrogate markers of insulin resistance among U.S. adults without physician-diagnosed diabetes: NHANES, 2003-2006. Diabetes Care 2010;33:344–7. doi:10.2337/dc09-0924.
- [270] Kayaniyil S, Retnakaran R, Harris SB, Vieth R, Knight J a., Gerstein HC, et al.

Prospective Associations of Vitamin D With -Cell Function and Glycemia: The PROspective Metabolism and ISlet cell Evaluation (PROMISE) Cohort Study. Diabetes 2011;60:2947–53. doi:10.2337/db11-0465.

- [271] Kabadi SM, Lee BK, Liu L. Joint Effects of Obesity and Vitamin D Insufficiency on Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes: Results from the NHANES 2001-2006. Diabetes Care 2012;35:2048–54. doi:10.2337/dc12-0235.
- [272] Reis JP, von Mühlen D, Kritz-Silverstein D, Wingard DL, Barrett-Connor E. Vitamin D, parathyroid hormone levels, and the prevalence of metabolic syndrome in communitydwelling older adults. Diabetes Care 2007;30:1549–55. doi:10.2337/dc06-2438.
- [273] Rueda S, Fernández-Fernández C, Romero F, Martínez de Osaba MJ, Vidal J. Vitamin D, PTH, and the Metabolic Syndrome in Severely Obese Subjects. Obes Surg 2008;18:151–4. doi:10.1007/s11695-007-9352-3.
- [274] Hjelmesaeth J, Hofsø D, Aasheim ET, Jenssen T, Moan J, Hager H, et al. Parathyroid hormone, but not vitamin D, is associated with the metabolic syndrome in morbidly obese women and men: a cross-sectional study. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2009;8:7. doi:10.1186/1475-2840-8-7.
- [275] Muscogiuri G, Sorice GP, Prioletta A, Policola C, Della Casa S, Pontecorvi A, et al. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentration Correlates With Insulin-Sensitivity and BMI in Obesity. Obesity 2010;18:1906–10. doi:10.1038/oby.2010.11.
- [276] Roth HJ, Schmidt-Gayk H, Weber H, Niederau C. Accuracy and clinical implications of seven 25-hydroxyvitamin D methods compared with liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry as a reference. Ann Clin Biochem 2008;45:153–9. doi:10.1258/acb.2007.007091.
- [277] CDC/National Center for Health Statistics. Analytical Note for 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Data Analysis using NHANES III (1988-1994), NHANES 2001-2006, and NHANES 2007-2010 (October 2015) http://wwwn.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/VitaminD/AnalyticalNote.aspx.
- [278] Schleicher RL, Sternberg MR, Lacher DA, Sempos CT, Looker AC, Durazo-Arvizu RA, et al. A Method-bridging Study for Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D to Standardize Historical Radioimmunoassay Data to Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry. Natl Health Stat Report 2016:1–16.

- [279] NHANES National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey Homepage n.d. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/index.htm (accessed May 16, 2016).
- [280] National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: Plan and Operations, 1999-2010 n.d. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr 01/sr01 056.pdf (accessed May 16, 2016).
- [281] National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: Sample Design, 2007-2010 n.d. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr\_02/sr02\_160.pdf (accessed May 16, 2016).
- [282] NHANES NCHS Research Ethics Review Board Approval n.d. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/irba98.htm (accessed May 16, 2016).
- [283] CDC. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: Anthropometry Procedures Manual, 2009. n.d. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhanes/nhanes\_09\_10/BodyMeasures\_09.pdf (accessed May 16, 2016).
- [284] CDC. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: Physician Examination Procedures Manual, 2000. n.d. http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhanes/pe.pdf (accessed May 16, 2016).
- [285] Zou G. A Modified Poisson Regression Approach to Prospective Studies with Binary Data. Am J Epidemiol 2004;159:702–6. doi:10.1093/aje/kwh090.
- [286] Zhao K. Proper estimation of relative risk using PROC GENMOD in population studies. Proceedings of the Western Users of SAS Software Conference; Western Users of SAS Software Conference; November 13-15, 2013; Las Vegas, NV. 2013. pp. 1–14. n.d. http://wuss.org/Proceedings13/81\_Paper.pdf (accessed May 16, 2016).
- [287] Shankar A, Sabanayagam C, Kalidindi S. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin d levels and prediabetes among subjects free of diabetes. Diabetes Care 2011;34:1114–9. doi:10.2337/dc10-1203.
- [288] Zhao G, Ford ES, Li C, Croft JB. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality among US adults with hypertension. J Hypertens 2012;30:284–9. doi:10.1097/HJH.0b013e32834e1f0a.
- [289] Lutsey PL, Michos ED, Misialek JR, Pankow JS, Loehr L, Selvin E, et al. Race and Vitamin D Binding Protein Gene Polymorphisms Modify the Association of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Incident Heart Failure. JACC Hear Fail 2015;3:347–56. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2014.11.013.

- [290] Aloia J, Mikhail M, Dhaliwal R, Shieh A, Usera G, Stolberg A, et al. Free 25(OH)D and the Vitamin D Paradox in African Americans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015;100:3356– 63. doi:10.1210/JC.2015-2066.
- [291] Wright NC, Chen L, Niu J, Neogi T, Javiad K, Nevitt MA, et al. Defining physiologically "normal" vitamin D in African Americans. Osteoporos Int 2012;23:2283–91. doi:10.1007/s00198-011-1877-6.
- [292] Powe CE, Evans MK, Wenger J, Zonderman AB, Berg AH, Nalls M, et al. Vitamin Dbinding protein and vitamin D status of black Americans and white Americans. N Engl J Med 2013;369:1991–2000. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1306357.
- [293] Hoofnagle AN, Eckfeldt JH, Lutsey PL. Vitamin D–Binding Protein Concentrations Quantified by Mass Spectrometry. N Engl J Med 2015;373:1480–2. doi:10.1056/NEJMc1502602.
- [294] Henderson CM, Lutsey PL, Misialek JR, Laha TJ, Selvin E, Eckfeldt JH, et al. Measurement by a Novel LC-MS/MS Methodology Revea1. Henderson CM, Lutsey PL, Misialek JR, et al. Measurement by a Novel LC-MS/MS Methodology Reveals Similar Serum Concentrations of Vitamin D-Binding Protein in Blacks and Whites. Clin Chem. 2016;62(1):179-. Clin Chem 2016;62:179–87. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2015.244541.
- [295] Alzaman NS, Dawson-Hughes B, Nelson J, D'Alessio D, Pittas AG. Vitamin D status of black and white Americans and changes in vitamin D metabolites after varied doses of vitamin D supplementation. Am J Clin Nutr 2016. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.129478.
- [296] Van Gaal LF, Mertens IL, De Block CE. Mechanisms linking obesity with cardiovascular disease. Nature 2006;444:875–80. doi:10.1038/nature05487.
- [297] Bouillon R, Carmeliet G, Verlinden L, van Etten E, Verstuyf A, Luderer HF, et al. Vitamin D and Human Health: Lessons from Vitamin D Receptor Null Mice. Endocr Rev 2008;29:726–76. doi:10.1210/er.2008-0004.
- [298] Tomaschitz A, Ritz E, Pieske B, Fahrleitner-Pammer A, Kienreich K, Horina JH, et al. Aldosterone and parathyroid hormone: a precarious couple for cardiovascular disease. Cardiovasc Res 2012;94:10–9. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvs092.
- [299] Al Mheid I, Patel R, Murrow J, Morris A, Rahman A, Fike L, et al. Vitamin D Status Is Associated With Arterial Stiffness and Vascular Dysfunction in Healthy Humans. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011;58:186–92. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.02.051.

- [300] Kestenbaum B, Katz R, de Boer I, Hoofnagle A, Sarnak MJ, Shlipak MG, et al. Vitamin D, Parathyroid Hormone, and Cardiovascular Events Among Older Adults. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011;58:1433–41. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.03.069.
- [301] Arunabh S, Pollack S, Yeh J, Aloia JF. Body Fat Content and 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Levels in Healthy Women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:157–61. doi:10.1210/jc.2002-020978.
- [302] Parikh SJ, Edelman M, Uwaifo GI, Freedman RJ, Semega-Janneh M, Reynolds J, et al. The Relationship between Obesity and Serum 1,25-Dihydroxy Vitamin D Concentrations in Healthy Adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:1196–9. doi:10.1210/jc.2003-031398.
- [303] Snijder MB, van Dam RM, Visser M, Deeg DJH, Dekker JM, Bouter LM, et al. Adiposity in Relation to Vitamin D Status and Parathyroid Hormone Levels: A Population-Based Study in Older Men and Women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005;90:4119–23. doi:10.1210/jc.2005-0216.
- [304] Rajakumar K, de las Heras J, Chen TC, Lee S, Holick MF, Arslanian SA. Vitamin D status, adiposity, and lipids in black American and Caucasian children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96:1560–7. doi:10.1210/jc.2010-2388.
- [305] Maetani M, Maskarinec G, Franke AA, Cooney R V. Association of leptin, 25hydroxyvitamin D, and parathyroid hormone in women. Nutr Cancer 2009;61:225–31. doi:10.1080/01635580802455149.
- [306] Grethen E, Hill KM, Jones R, Cacucci BM, Gupta CE, Acton A, et al. Serum leptin, parathyroid hormone, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, fibroblast growth factor 23, bone alkaline phosphatase, and sclerostin relationships in obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97:1655–62. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-2280.
- [307] Tsuji K, Maeda T, Kawane T, Matsunuma A, Horiuchi N. Leptin stimulates fibroblast growth factor 23 expression in bone and suppresses renal 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 synthesis in leptin-deficient mice. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25:1711–23. doi:10.1002/jbmr.65.
- [308] Ruhl CE, Harris TB, Ding J, Goodpaster BH, Kanaya AM, Kritchevsky SB, et al. Body mass index and serum leptin concentration independently estimate percentage body fat in older adults. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;85:1121–6.

- [309] Shea MK, Booth SL, Massaro JM, Jacques PF, D'Agostino RB, Dawson-Hughes B, et al. Vitamin K and vitamin D status: associations with inflammatory markers in the Framingham Offspring Study. Am J Epidemiol 2008;167:313–20. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm306.
- [310] Michos ED, Streeten EA, Ryan KA, Rampersaud E, Peyser PA, Bielak LF, et al. Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Levels Are Not Associated with Subclinical Vascular Disease or C-Reactive Protein in the Old Order Amish. Calcif Tissue Int 2009;84:195–202. doi:10.1007/s00223-008-9209-3.
- [311] Amer M, Qayyum R. Relation between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and C-reactive protein in asymptomatic adults (from the continuous National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2001 to 2006). Am J Cardiol 2012;109:226–30. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2011.08.032.
- [312] Levin GP, Robinson-Cohen C, de Boer IH, Houston DK, Lohman K, Liu Y, et al. Genetic variants and associations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations with major clinical outcomes. JAMA 2012;308:1898–905. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.17304.
- [313] Avenell A, Cook JA, MacLennan GS, McPherson GC. Vitamin D supplementation and type 2 diabetes: a substudy of a randomised placebo-controlled trial in older people (RECORD trial, ISRCTN 51647438). Age Ageing 2009;38:606–9. doi:10.1093/ageing/afp109.
- [314] Trivedi DP, Doll R, Khaw KT. Effect of four monthly oral vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) supplementation on fractures and mortality in men and women living in the community: randomised double blind controlled trial. BMJ 2003;326:469. doi:10.1136/bmj.326.7387.469.
- [315] Mitchell DM, Leder BZ, Cagliero E, Mendoza N, Henao MP, Hayden DL, et al. Insulin secretion and sensitivity in healthy adults with low vitamin D are not affected by highdose ergocalciferol administration: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2015;102:385–92. doi:10.3945/ajcn.115.111682.
- [316] LaCroix a. Z, Kotchen J, Anderson G, Brzyski R, Cauley J a., Cummings SR, et al. Calcium Plus Vitamin D Supplementation and Mortality in Postmenopausal Women: The Women's Health Initiative Calcium-Vitamin D Randomized Controlled Trial. Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci 2009;64A:559–67. doi:10.1093/gerona/glp006.

- [317] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Diabetes Statistics Report: estimated of diabetes and its burden in the United States, 2014. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2014.
- [318] McAuley KA, Williams SM, Mann JI, Walker RJ, Lewis-Barned NJ, Temple LA, et al. Diagnosing Insulin Resistance in the General Population. Diabetes Care 2001;24.
- [319] Gagnon C, Daly RM, Carpentier A, Lu ZX, Shore-Lorenti C, Sikaris K, et al. Effects of Combined Calcium and Vitamin D Supplementation on Insulin Secretion, Insulin Sensitivity and β-Cell Function in Multi-Ethnic Vitamin D-Deficient Adults at Risk for Type 2 Diabetes: A Pilot Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial. PLoS One 2014;9:e109607. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109607.
- [320] Al-khalidi B, Kimball SM, Rotondi MA, Ardern CI. Standardized serum 25hydroxyvitamin D concentrations are inversely associated with cardiometabolic disease in U.S. adults: a cross-sectional analysis of NHANES, 2001–2010. Nutr J 2017;16:16. doi:10.1186/s12937-017-0237-6.
- [321] Forouhi NG, Luan J, Cooper A, Boucher BJ, Wareham NJ. Baseline Serum 25-Hydroxy Vitamin D Is Predictive of Future Glycemic Status and Insulin Resistance: The Medical Research Council Ely Prospective Study 1990-2000. Diabetes 2008;57:2619–25. doi:10.2337/db08-0593.
- [322] Liu J-M, Rosen CJ, Ducy P, Kousteni S, Karsenty G. Regulation of Glucose Handling by the Skeleton: Insights From Mouse and Human Studies. Diabetes 2016;65.
- [323] Busse B, Bale HA, Zimmermann EA, Panganiban B, Barth HD, Carriero A, et al. Vitamin D Deficiency Induces Early Signs of Aging in Human Bone, Increasing the Risk of Fracture. Sci Transl Med 2013;5.
- [324] Sellmeyer DE, Civitelli R, Hofbauer LC, Khosla S, Lecka-Czernik B, Schwartz A V. Skeletal Metabolism, Fracture Risk, and Fracture Outcomes in Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes 2016;65:1757–66. doi:10.2337/db16-0063.
- [325] Ghodsi M, Larijani B, Keshtkar AA, Nasli-Esfahani E, Alatab S, Mohajeri-Tehrani MR. Mechanisms involved in altered bone metabolism in diabetes: a narrative review. J Diabetes Metab Disord 2016;15:52. doi:10.1186/s40200-016-0275-1.
- [326] Garbossa SG, Folli F. Vitamin D, sub-inflammation and insulin resistance. A window on a potential role for the interaction between bone and glucose metabolism. Rev Endocr

Metab Disord 2017. doi:10.1007/s11154-017-9423-2.

- [327] American Diabetes Association. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes. Diabetes Care 2015;38:S8–16. doi:10.2337/dc15-S005.
- [328] Kleinbaum DG. Logistic Regression: A Self-learning Text, Third Edition (Statistics in the Health Sciences) n.d.
- [329] Hosmer DW, Lemesbow S. Goodness of fit tests for the multiple logistic regression model. Commun Stat - Theory Methods 1980;9:1043–69. doi:10.1080/03610928008827941.
- [330] Pepe MS, Feng Z, Huang Y, Longton G, Prentice R, Thompson IM, et al. Integrating the predictiveness of a marker with its performance as a classifier. Am J Epidemiol 2008;167:362–8. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm305.
- [331] Vickers AJ. Decision analysis for the evaluation of diagnostic tests, prediction models and molecular markers. Am Stat 2008;62:314–20. doi:10.1198/000313008X370302.Decision.
- [332] Nargesi AA, Heidari B, Esteghamati S, Hafezi-Nejad N, Sheikhbahaei S, Pajouhi A, et al. Contribution of vitamin D deficiency to the risk of coronary heart disease in subjects with essential hypertension. Atherosclerosis 2016;244:165–71. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.11.020.
- [333] ó Hartaigh B, Thomas GN, Bosch JA, Hemming K, Pilz S, Loerbroks A, et al. Evaluation of 9 biomarkers for predicting 10-year cardiovascular risk in patients undergoing coronary angiography: Findings from the LUdwigshafen RIsk and Cardiovascular Health (LURIC) study. Int J Cardiol 2013;168:2609–15. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2013.03.043.
- [334] Gerling ME, James MT, Wilton SB, Naugler C, Southern DA, Galbraith PD, et al. Serum Total 25-OH Vitamin D Adds Little Prognostic Value in Patients Undergoing Coronary Catheterization. J Am Heart Assoc 2016;5.
- [335] Vickers AJ, Pepe M. Does the Net Reclassification Improvement Help Us Evaluate Models and Markers? Ann Intern Med 2014;160:136–7. doi:10.7326/M13-2841.
- [336] Steyerberg EW, Vickers AJ. Decision curve analysis: a discussion. Med Decis Making 2008;28:146–9. doi:10.1177/0272989X07312725.
- [337] Bischoff-ferrari H, Giovannucci E, Willett WC, Dietrich T, Dawson-hughes B. Estimation of optimal serum concentrations of 25-OH Vit. D for multiple health outcomes.pdf. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;84:18–28.

- [338] Heaney RP, French CB, Nguyen S, Ferreira M, Baggerly LL, Brunel L, et al. A Novel Approach Localizes the Association of Vitamin D Status With Insulin Resistance to One Region of the 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Continuum. Adv Nutr An Int Rev J 2013;4:303–10. doi:10.3945/an.113.003731.
- [339] Sorkin JD, Vasaitis TS, Streeten E, Ryan AS, Goldberg AP. Evidence for Threshold Effects of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D on Glucose Tolerance and Insulin Resistance in Black and White Obese Postmenopausal Women. J Nutr 2014;144:734–42. doi:10.3945/jn.114.190660.
- [340] Sohl E, de Jongh RT, Heymans MW, van Schoor NM, Lips P. Thresholds for Serum 25(OH)D Concentrations With Respect to Different Outcomes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015;100:2480–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2015-1353.
- [341] Mowé M, Haug E, Bøhmer T. Low serum calcidiol concentration in older adults with reduced muscular function. J Am Geriatr Soc 1999;47:220–6.
- [342] LeBoff MS, Hawkes WG, Glowacki J, Yu-Yahiro J, Hurwitz S, Magaziner J. Vitamin Ddeficiency and post-fracture changes in lower extremity function and falls in women with hip fractures. Osteoporos Int 2008;19:1283–90. doi:10.1007/s00198-008-0582-6.
- [343] Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Staehelin HB, Orav JE, Stuck AE, Theiler R, et al. Fall prevention with supplemental and active forms of vitamin D: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2009;339:b3692.
- [344] Agbaht K, Mercan Y, Kutlu S, Alpdemir MF, Sezgin T. Obesity with and without metabolic syndrome: Do vitamin D and thyroid autoimmunity have a role? Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2014;106:27–34. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2014.08.001.
- [345] Lips P, Eekhoff M, van Schoor N, Oosterwerff M, de Jongh R, Krul-Poel Y, et al. Vitamin D and type 2 diabetes. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2016. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2016.11.021.
- [346] Monzillo LU, Hamdy O. Evaluation of insulin sensitivity in clinical practice and in research settings. Nutr Rev 2003;61:397–412.
- [347] Primeau V, Coderre L, Karelis AD, Brochu M, Lavoie M-E, Messier V, et al. Characterizing the profile of obese patients who are metabolically healthy. Int J Obes 2011;35:971–81. doi:10.1038/ijo.2010.216.
- [348] Meigs JB, Wilson PWF, Fox CS, Vasan RS, Nathan DM, Sullivan LM, et al. Body Mass

Index, Metabolic Syndrome, and Risk of Type 2 Diabetes or Cardiovascular Disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2006;91:2906–12. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-0594.

- [349] Calori G, Lattuada G, Piemonti L, Garancini MP, Ragogna F, Villa M, et al. Prevalence, metabolic features, and prognosis of metabolically healthy obese Italian individuals: the Cremona Study. Diabetes Care 2011;34:210–5. doi:10.2337/dc10-0665.
- [350] Hamer M, Stamatakis E. Metabolically Healthy Obesity and Risk of All-Cause and Cardiovascular Disease Mortality. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97:2482–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-3475.
- [351] Durward CM, Hartman TJ, Nickols-Richardson SM. All-cause mortality risk of metabolically healthy obese individuals in NHANES III. J Obes 2012;2012:460321. doi:10.1155/2012/460321.
- [352] Ortega FB, Lee D-C, Katzmarzyk PT, Ruiz JR, Sui X, Church TS, et al. The intriguing metabolically healthy but obese phenotype: cardiovascular prognosis and role of fitness. Eur Heart J 2013;34:389–97. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehs174.
- [353] Sung K-C, Ryu S, Cheong ES, Kim BS, Kim BJ, Kim Y-B, et al. All-Cause and Cardiovascular Mortality Among Koreans. Am J Prev Med 2015;49:62–71. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2015.02.010.
- [354] Guo F, Garvey WT. Cardiometabolic disease risk in metabolically healthy and unhealthy obesity: Stability of metabolic health status in adults. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2016;24:516–25. doi:10.1002/oby.21344.
- [355] van der A DL, Nooyens ACJ, van Duijnhoven FJB, Verschuren MMW, Boer JMA. Allcause mortality risk of metabolically healthy abdominal obese individuals: the EPIC-MORGEN study. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2014;22:557–64. doi:10.1002/oby.20480.
- [356] Schottker B, Jorde R, Peasey a., Thorand B, Jansen EHJM, Groot LD, et al. Vitamin D and mortality: meta-analysis of individual participant data from a large consortium of cohort studies from Europe and the United States. Bmj 2014;348:g3656–g3656. doi:10.1136/bmj.g3656.
- [357] Sempos CT, Durazo-Arvizu R a., Dawson-Hughes B, Yetley E a., Looker AC, Schleicher RL, et al. Is there a reverse J-shaped association between 25-hydroxyvitamin D and allcause mortality? Results from the U.S. nationally representative NHANES. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013;98:3001–9. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-1333.

- [358] Sempos CT, Durazo-Arvizu RA, Dawson-Hughes B, Yetley EA, Looker AC, Schleicher RL, et al. Is There a Reverse J-Shaped Association Between 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and All-Cause Mortality? Results from the U.S. Nationally Representative NHANES. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2013;98:3001–9. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-1333.
- [359] National Center for Health Statistics. Plan and operation of the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-94. Series 1: programs and collection procedures.
   Vital Health Stat 1 1994:1–407.
- [360] U.S. National Center for Health Statistics. NCHS Surveys. 2011 Linked Mortality Files. Public-Use Data Dictionary 2016. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data-linkage/mortality.htm (accessed September 3, 2017).
- [361] Gunter EW, Lewis BG, Koncikowski SM. Laboratory Procedures Used for the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III), 1988-1994. 1996.
- [362] Selvin E, Manzi J, Stevens LA, Van Lente F, Lacher DA, Levey AS, et al. Calibration of Serum Creatinine in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (NHANES) 1988-1994, 1999-2004. Am J Kidney Dis 2007;50:918–26. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2007.08.020.
- [363] Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med 2009;150:604–12.
- [364] Visser M, Bouter LM, McQuillan GM, Wener MH, Harris TB. Elevated C-reactive protein levels in overweight and obese adults. JAMA 1999;282:2131–5.
- [365] US Department Health and Human Services. Third National Health and Nutrition
  Examination Survey, 1988–1994, NHANES III Healthy Eating Index Data File (Series 11, No. 6A). 2000.
- [366] Austin PC, Lee DS, Fine JP. Introduction to the Analysis of Survival Data in the Presence of Competing Risks. Circulation 2016;133.
- [367] Kohl M, Plischke M, Leffondré K, Heinze G. PSHREG: a SAS macro for proportional and nonproportional subdistribution hazards regression. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2015;118:218–33. doi:10.1016/j.cmpb.2014.11.009.
- [368] Harrell FE. Regression Modeling Strategies : With Applications to Linear Models, Logistic Regression, and Survival Analysis. New York: Springer-Verlag: Springer New York; 2001.

- [369] Li R, Hertzmark E, Louie M, Chen L SD. The SAS LGTPHCURV9Macro. 2011. https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/donna-spiegelman/software/lgtphcurv9/ (accessed September 3, 2017).
- [370] World Health Organization. Waist Circumference and Waist-Hip Ratio: Report of a WHO Expert Consultation. 2008.
- [371] Doustmohamadian S, Serahati S, Barzin M, Keihani S, Azizi F, Hosseinpanah F. Risk of all-cause mortality in abdominal obesity phenotypes: Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2017;27:241–8. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2016.11.123.
- [372] Keihani S, Hosseinpanah F, Barzin M, Serahati S, Doustmohamadian S, Azizi F. Abdominal obesity phenotypes and risk of cardiovascular disease in a decade of followup: the Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study. Atherosclerosis 2015;238:256–63. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.12.008.
- [373] Guo F, Moellering DR, Garvey WT. The progression of cardiometabolic disease: Validation of a new cardiometabolic disease staging system applicable to obesity. Obesity 2014;22:110–8. doi:10.1002/oby.20585.
- [374] Lau B, Cole SR, Gange SJ. Competing Risk Regression Models for Epidemiologic Data. Am J Epidemiol 2009;170:244–56. doi:10.1093/aje/kwp107.
- [375] Mirhosseini N, Vatanparast H, Mazidi M, Kimball SM. The effect of improved serum 25hydroxyvitamin D status on glycemic control in diabetic patients: A meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2017. doi:10.1210/jc.2017-01024.
- [376] Grübler MR, Gaksch M, Kienreich K, Verheyen N, Schmid J, Ó Hartaigh B, et al. Effects of vitamin D supplementation on glycated haemoglobin and fasting glucose levels in hypertensive patients: a randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Obes Metab 2016;18:1006– 12. doi:10.1111/dom.12709.
- [377] Veugelers P, Pham T-M, Ekwaru J. Optimal Vitamin D Supplementation Doses that Minimize the Risk for Both Low and High Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentrations in the General Population. Nutrients 2015;7:10189–208. doi:10.3390/nu7125527.
- [378] Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, Cushman M, Das SR, Deo R, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2017 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2017;135:e146–603. doi:10.1161/CIR.000000000000485.
- [379] Gaksch M, Jorde R, Grimnes G, Joakimsen R, Schirmer H, Wilsgaard T, et al. Vitamin D

and mortality: Individual participant data meta-analysis of standardized 25hydroxyvitamin D in 26916 individuals from a European consortium. PLoS One 2017;12:e0170791. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0170791.

- [380] Al-khalidi B, Kimball SM, Kuk JL, Ardern CI. Metabolically healthy obesity, vitamin D, and all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality risk in NHANES III. Clin Nutr 2018;0. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2018.02.025.
- [381] Krauss A. Why all randomised controlled trials produce biased results. Ann Med 2018:1– 11. doi:10.1080/07853890.2018.1453233.
- [382] Beiser a, D'Agostino RB, Seshadri S, Sullivan LM, Wolf P a. Computing estimates of incidence, including lifetime risk: Alzheimer's disease in the Framingham Study. The Practical Incidence Estimators (PIE) macro. Stat Med 2000;19:1495–522.
- [383] Ginde AA, Scragg R, Schwartz RS, Camargo CA. Prospective Study of Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Level, Cardiovascular Disease Mortality, and All-Cause Mortality in Older U.S. Adults. J Am Geriatr Soc 2009;57:1595–603. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02359.x.
- [384] Chowdhury R, Kunutsor S, Vitezova A, Oliver-Williams C, Chowdhury S, Kiefte-de-Jong JC, et al. Vitamin D and risk of cause specific death: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational cohort and randomised intervention studies. BMJ 2014;348:g1903. doi:10.1136/bmj.g1903.
- [385] Lloyd-Jones DM. Cardiovascular Risk Prediction: Basic Concepts, Current Status, and Future Directions. Circulation 2010;121:1768–77. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.849166.
- [386] Durup D, Jørgensen HL, Christensen J, Tjønneland A, Olsen A, Halkjær J, et al. A Reverse J-Shaped Association Between Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Cardiovascular Disease Mortality: The CopD Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2015;100:2339–46. doi:10.1210/jc.2014-4551.
- [387] Schöttker B, Brenner H. Vitamin D as a Resilience Factor, Helpful for Survival of Potentially Fatal Conditions: A Hypothesis Emerging from Recent Findings of the ESTHER Cohort Study and the CHANCES Consortium. Nutrients 2015;7:3264–78. doi:10.3390/nu7053264.
- [388] Jorde R. RCTS are the only appropriate way to demonstrate the role of vitamin D in

health. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2017. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2017.05.004.

- [389] Jorde R, Sneve M, Hutchinson M, Emaus N, Figenschau Y, Grimnes G. Tracking of Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Levels During 14 Years in a Population-based Study and During 12 Months in an Intervention Study. Am J Epidemiol 2010;171:903–8. doi:10.1093/aje/kwq005.
- [390] Mirfakhraee S, Ayers CR, McGuire DK, Maalouf NM. Longitudinal changes in serum 25hydroxyvitamin D in the Dallas Heart Study. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2017;87:242–8. doi:10.1111/cen.13374.
- [391] Chun RF, Peercy BE, Orwoll ES, Nielson CM, Adams JS, Hewison M. Vitamin D and DBP: The free hormone hypothesis revisited. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2014;144:132– 7. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2013.09.012.
- [392] Dhingra R, Vasan RS. Biomarkers in cardiovascular disease: Statistical assessment and section on key novel heart failure biomarkers. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2017;27:123–33. doi:10.1016/j.tcm.2016.07.005.
- [393] van der A DL, Nooyens ACJ, van Duijnhoven FJB, Verschuren MMW, Boer JMA. Allcause mortality risk of metabolically healthy abdominal obese individuals: The EPIC-MORGEN study. Obesity 2014;22:557–64. doi:10.1002/oby.20480.
- [394] Kramer CK, Zinman B, Retnakaran R. Are Metabolically Healthy Overweight and Obesity Benign Conditions? Ann Intern Med 2013;159:758. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-159-11-201312030-00008.
- [395] Lloyd-Jones DM. Prediction of Lifetime Risk for Cardiovascular Disease by Risk Factor Burden at 50 Years of Age. Circulation 2006;113:791–8. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.548206.
- [396] Al-khalidi B, Kimball SM, Kuk JL, Ardern CI. Metabolically healthy obesity, vitamin D, and all-cause and cardiometabolic mortality risk in NHANES III. Clin Nutr 2018. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2018.02.025.
- [397] Wilkins JT, Karmali KN, Huffman MD, Allen NB, Ning H, Berry JD, et al. Data Resource Profile: The Cardiovascular Disease Lifetime Risk Pooling Project. Int J Epidemiol 2015;44:1557–64. doi:10.1093/ije/dyv150.
- [398] Kabat GC, Wu WY-Y, Bea JW, Chen C, Qi L, Stefanick ML, et al. Metabolic phenotypes of obesity: frequency, correlates and change over time in a cohort of postmenopausal

women. Int J Obes 2017;41:170–7. doi:10.1038/ijo.2016.179.

- [399] Mozaffari-Khosravi H, Loloei S, Mirjalili M-R, Barzegar K. The effect of vitamin D supplementation on blood pressure in patients with elevated blood pressure and vitamin D deficiency. Blood Press Monit 2014;20:1. doi:10.1097/MBP.000000000000091.
- [400] Pradhan AD, Manson JE. Update on the Vitamin D and OmegA-3 trial (VITAL). J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2016;155:252–6. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.04.006.
- [401] US National Library of Science. ClinicalTrials.gov n.d. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01463813 (accessed April 23, 2018).
- [402] Neale RE, Armstrong BK, Baxter C, Duarte Romero B, Ebeling P, English DR, et al. The D-Health Trial: A randomized trial of vitamin D for prevention of mortality and cancer. Contemp Clin Trials 2016;48:83–90. doi:10.1016/j.cct.2016.04.005.
- [403] US National Library of Science. ClinicalTrials.gov n.d.
  https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01745263 (accessed April 23, 2018).
- [404] ISRCTN registry. Vitamin D and Longevity (VIDAL) Trial: Randomised Feasibility Study n.d. http://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN46328341 (accessed April 23, 2018).
- [405] Thompson B, Towler DA. Arterial calcification and bone physiology: role of the bonevascular axis. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2012;8:529–43. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2012.36.
- [406] Warburton DER, Nicol CW, Gatto SN, Bredin SSD. Cardiovascular disease and osteoporosis: balancing risk management. Vasc Health Risk Manag 2007;3:673–89.
- [407] Veronese N, Stubbs B, Crepaldi G, Solmi M, Cooper C, Harvey NC, et al. Relationship Between Low Bone Mineral Density and Fractures With Incident Cardiovascular Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Bone Miner Res 2017;32:1126–35. doi:10.1002/jbmr.3089.
- [408] Zittermann A. The Biphasic Effect of Vitamin D on the Musculoskeletal and Cardiovascular System. Int J Endocrinol 2017;2017:3206240. doi:10.1155/2017/3206240.

## Appendix A: Serum 25(OH)D thresholds in relation to normal glucose and insulin homeostasis, Canadian Health Measures Survey

	Serum 25(OH)D (nmol/L)	AUC (95% C.I.)	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)
Men (N=1457)				
Overall	60.7	0.57 (0.54-0.60)	55	56
20-39 yrs	59.2	0.57 (0.51-0.63)	65	50
40-59 yrs	60.5	0.61 (0.55-0.66)	58	56
$\geq$ 60 yrs	72	0.57 (0.52-0.63)	66	48
Whites	66.5	0.58 (0.54-0.62)	63	50
Non-Whites	48.2	0.54 (0.45-0.63)	54	57
Women (N=1634)				
Overall	63.9	0.59 (0.55-0.62)	56	56
20-39 yrs	62.8	0.60 (0.54-0.65)	60	55
40-59 yrs	62.9	0.61 (0.56-0.66)	61	57
$\geq$ 60 yrs	67.6	0.58 (0.53-0.64)	54	61
Whites	67.1	0.60 (0.57-0.64)	60	55
Non-Whites	n/a*	0.47 (0.39-0.55)	n/a	n/a

**Table 1:** Serum 25(OH)D thresholds overall and by age and race/ethnic background, CanadianHealth Measures Survey (cycles 1 & 2 combined)

Abbreviations: AUC, Area Under Curve.

Sensitivity, proportion of true positive cases [true positive/(true positive + false negative)].

Specificity, proportion of true negative cases [true negative/(true negative + false positive)].

\*If AUC <0.50, cutoffs cannot be estimated.